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All brand names or trademarks appearing in thisae@re the property of their respective holderselbr display by us of other parties’
trademarks, trade dress, or products in this repsmot intended to, and does not, imply a relahip with, or endorsements or sponsorshi
us by the trademark or trade dress owners. Unlessbntext requires otherwise, references in thrt to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our” refer to Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. ands wholly-owned subsidiary, ITI, Inc.

Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused oniitevkry and clinical development of innovative adirmolecule drugs that address
underserved medical needs in neuropsychiatric ancofogical disorders by targeting intracellulayrgiling mechanisms within the central
nervous system, or CNS. We are developing our dead candidate, ITI-007, for the treatment of soplzrenia, behavioral disturbances in
dementia, bipolar disorder, depression and otherapsychiatric and neurological disorders. ITI-08t Phase 3 clinical development as a
first-in-class treatment for schizophrenia. Curneeidications available for the treatment of schimepia do not adequately address the broad
array of symptoms associated with this CNS disordse of these current medications also is limitgdheir substantial side effects. ITI-007 is
designed to be effective across a wider rangempsyms, treating both the acute and residual phaEfssshizophrenia, with improved safety
and tolerability.

ITI-007 exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in a ramdiaed, double-blind, placebo and active controfdsse 2 clinical trial in patients with
an acutely exacerbated episode of schizophren@etember 2013, we announced the clinical restdta this Phase 2 trial. In this Phase 2
trial, 335 patients were randomized to receiveaffeur treatments: 60 mg of ITI-007, 120 mg of 007, 4 mg of risperidone (active control)
or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio, orally once daily 28 days. The primary endpoint for this clinia@itwas change from baseline to Day 28 on
Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, or PANSS]| sobre. In this study, ITI-007 met the trial'®gspecified primary endpoint, improving
symptoms associated with schizophrenia as measyradstatistically significant and clinically meagful decrease in the PANSS total score.
The trial also met key secondary outcome measeteted to efficacy on PANSS subscales and safatglitidnal data from the Phase 2 trial
set forth below in the section entitled “—Our Ctiai Programs—ITI-007 Program—ITI-007 for the treatrhof exacerbated and residual
schizophrenia—Phase 2 Clinical Trial (ITI-007-005).

We are proceeding with Phase 3 development of 0M4@r the treatment of schizophrenia. We planaiedzict two randomized, double-
blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trigi$Td-007 in patients with acutely exacerbated gophrenia, with over 400 patients in each
trial. We initiated the first Phase 3 clinical tria schizophrenia in the fourth quarter of 2014 asubject to finalizing the trial protocols and
arrangements with clinical trial sites, we intendrtitiate a second Phase 3 clinical trial in tinstthalf of 2015. In the first Phase 3 trial, we a
randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60ongOmg) or placebo over a 4-week treatment duraiad the primary outcome measure i
change from baseline to Day 28 on the PANSS totaies We currently expect that the second Phasel 3vll be conducted for a 6-week
treatment duration. Subject to timely enrollmeng, anticipate that the results of the first Phaskngcal trial of ITI-007 in patients with
schizophrenia could be available as early as thegtauarter of 2015. Subject to further discussiaith the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, we also plan to initiatepseate additional trials in bipolar disorder in 80We have not yet discussed our plans to
develop ITI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disaravith the FDA. We expect that the planned trialbipolar disorder will overlap in time
with the clinical conduct of the planned trialssichizophrenia. In addition to our Phase 3 clinidals, we will need to complete other clinical
and non-clinical trials and manufacturing and poermercialization activities necessary to suppatghbmission of a planned New Drug
Application, or NDA, for ITI-007 in schizophreniethich we currently expect could occur at the endQi6 or the beginning of 2017.
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In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2014, we annced the topline data from ITI-007-200, a Phageclihical trial designed to evaluate
the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics af ldoses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjectd &mpatients with dementia, including
Alzheimer’s disease. The completion of this studyrkas an important milestone in our strategy to tgyvew doses of ITI-007 for the
treatment of behavioral disturbances associatdu agmentia and related disorders. The ITI-007-2@0results to date indicate that ITI-007 is
safe and well-tolerated across a range of low ddseslinear- and dose-related pharmacokineticsraptbves cognition in the elderly. The
most frequent adverse event was mild sedationeatitther doses. We believe these results furthgtipo ITI-007 as a development candidate
for the treatment of behavioral disturbances ifepd$ with dementia and other neuropsychiatric re@utological conditions. We plan to initiz
additional clinical programs evaluating ITI-007gatients with behavioral disturbances associatéld @gmentia and related disorders,
including Alzheimer’s disease, in 2015.

We are currently conducting an open-label posigarission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 exaing brain receptor occupancy
and assessing occupancy of striatal D2 receptothid study, patients with stable schizophrenilhlve treated with I1TI- 007 for 14 days. We
expect topline data from this study in 2015. Wadwe this study will further characterize ITI-00@daprovide additional insight into the
molecule’s unique mechanism and clinical profile.

We are also pursuing clinical development of ITIFGOr the treatment of additional CNS diseasesdisarders. At the lowest doses, ITI-
007 has been demonstrated to act primarily asenp6tHT2A serotonin receptor antagonist. As theeds increased, additional benefits are
derived from the engagement of additional drugdesgncluding modest dopamine receptor modulatiwthmodest inhibition of serotonin
transporters. We believe that combined interactairibese receptors may provide additional benefitsse and beyond selective 5-HT2A
antagonism for treating agitation, aggression d@elsdisturbances in diseases that include demexitiheimer’s disease, Huntingtandiseas
and autism spectrum disorders, while avoiding mzfrtye side effects associated with more robustadope receptor antagonism. As the dose
of ITI-007 is further increased, leading to moderddpamine receptor modulation, inhibition of senin transporters, and indirect glutamate
modulation, these actions complement the completgkhde of 5-HT2A serotonin receptors. At a dosé®fg, ITI-007 has been shown
effective in treating the symptoms associated withizophrenia, and we believe this higher doseeavith be useful for the treatment of bipc
disorder, major depressive disorder and other psyahiatric diseases.

Given the potential utility for ITI-007 and follown compounds to treat these additional indicatiamsimay investigate, either on our
own or with a partner, agitation, aggression apdsidisturbances in additional diseases that iechutism spectrum disorders; major
depressive disorder; intermittent explosive disgrden-motor symptoms and motor complications aissed with Parkinson’s disease; and
post-traumatic stress disorder. We hold exclusixe]dwide commercialization rights to ITI-007 andaanily of compounds from Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company pursuant to an exclusive fieen

We have a second major program called ITI-002 laatyielded a portfolio of compounds that selebfiwghibits the enzyme
phosphodiesterase type 1, or PDEL. PDE1 helpsateghiain activity related to cognition, memorygasses and movement/coordination. On
February 25, 2011, we (through our wholly ownedrapeg subsidiary, ITl) and Takeda PharmaceutieGah@any Limited, or Takeda, entered
into a license and collaboration agreement, offdieda License Agreement, under which we agreedltaborate to research, develop and
commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 atiter selected compounds that selectively inhiDiEP for use in the prevention and
treatment of human diseases. On October 31, 204 éntered into an agreement with Takeda termin#ied akeda License Agreement, or
Termination Agreement, pursuant to which all rigiitanted under the Takeda License Agreement wareesl to us. Takeda will complete
certain ongoing activities relating to non-clinisalidies and will transfer product inventory andemnals to us but will not have any other
ongoing involvement or funding obligations in cootien with the development program. ITI-214 is finet compound in its class to
successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trids.intend to continue the development of P4 for the treatment of CNS and other disorc
Over approximately the next
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12 months, we will refine our strategy for the PORKibitor program. By regaining unrestricted acces|TI-214, backups and the proprietary
chemistry, we can now integrate the efforts ofiaternal PDE1 program to include the later stagefpl. We do not anticipate a significant
increase in our operating expenses related to D& development programs over the next twelve mor@iser compounds in the PDE1
portfolio are also being advanced for the treatnoémarious indications, including non-CNS therajieareas.

Our pipeline also includes pre-clinical programattare focused on advancing drugs for the treatwfertgnitive dysfunction, in both
schizophrenia and Alzheimer’s disease, and foradisenodification and the treatment of neurodegérmerdisorders, including Alzheimer’s
disease.

We have assembled a management team with sigrtifidinstry experience to lead the discovery ancetbgpment of our product
candidates. We complement our management teamavgitbup of scientific and clinical advisors thatlirdes recognized experts in the fields
of schizophrenia and other CNS disorders, includhogel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, one of ouiocorders.

We were originally incorporated in the State of &ere in August 2012 under the name “Oneida RessuZorp.” Prior to a reverse
merger that occurred on August 29, 2013, or theglieiOneida Resources Corp. was a “shell” compagigtered under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, wittspecific business plan or purpose until it begagrajing the business of ITI, Inc., or ITI,
through the Merger transaction on August 29, 20LBwas incorporated in Delaware in May 2001 tods@rimarily on the development of
novel drugs for the treatment of neuropsychiatnid aeurologic diseases and other disorders of M®. Effective upon the Merger, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company merged with angl lifit, and ITI continues as the operating subsid@rthe Company. As used herein, the
words the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer the current Delaware corporation operating thenass of ITl as a wholly-owned
subsidiary, which business continues as the busiofethe Company.

Our corporate headquarters and laboratory areddct430 East 29th Street, New York, New York BH)@hd our telephone number is
(212) 923-3344. We also have an office in Towsoarpand. We maintain a website at www.intracelltlarapies.com, to which we regularly
post copies of our press releases as well as additinformation about us. Our filings with the S&@l be available free of charge through the
website as soon as reasonably practicable aftegledéctronically filed with or furnished to the SBnformation contained in our website d
not constitute a part of this report or our othkmds with the SEC.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to discover and develop novel smallaoole therapeutics for the treatment of CNS diseaserder to improve the lives of
people suffering from such illnesses. Using our kegierstanding of intracellular signaling, we seekccomplish our goal, using our in-house
expert drug discovery and clinical development tgamtwo ways:

* we seek to have the capability to develop-finstlass medications with novel mechanisms thaetthe potential to treat CNS
diseases for which there are no previously marketads; anc

* we seek to develop drugs that either can diffeagathemselves in competitive markets by addresspgcts of CNS disease wh
are not treated by currently marketed drugs orbeaaffective with fewer side effec

The key elements of our strategy are to:

» complete the development of ITI-007 for itsdeéadication, treatment of schizophrenia, and fidiaonal neuropsychiatric
indications, such as bipolar disorder and residyaiptoms in schizophreni

» expand the commercial potential of ITI-007 hyestigating its usefulness in neurological arsash as behavioral disturbances in
dementia, including Alzheim’s disease and autism spectrum disot
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and in additional neuropsychiatric indications,tsas sleep disorders associated with neuropsyichéatd neurological disorders
and major depressive disord

» continue to develop PDE inhibitor compounds, suehl#-214, for the treatment of CNS and other disorcdzms!

» advance earlier stage product candidates in oetipg

Our Drug Discovery Platform and Capabilities

Based on the pioneering efforts of ITI co-founded &obel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, we haveldped a detailed understanding of
intracellular signaling pathways and intracelltkngets. We have used that knowledge to develograkstate of the art technology platforms,
including one called CNSProfil@ . This technology monitors the phosphoprotein cleargicited by major psychotropic drug classes and
subclasses, and generates a unique molecularwigriat drug compounds. By monitoring how the lewafl these phosphoproteins change
vivo, we identify intracellular signaling pathways thgh which several major drug classes operate. Aldttgwhat we believe to be state of
the art drug discovery efforts, we have used, aag continue to use, this information as a tooldtidate our selection of preclinical candidate
molecules.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204 8)curred $21.2 million and $23.0 million in raseh and development expenses
respectively.

Given the nature of our research and developmehbasiness activities, we do not expect that ccanpk with federal, state and local
environmental laws will result in material costshawve a significant negative effect on our opereio

Disease and Market Overview

Our programs for small molecule therapeutics asgted to address various CNS diseases that wevbedre underserved or unmet by
currently available therapies and that represegelpotential commercial market opportunities fer Background information on the CNS
diseases and related commercial markets that magdiressed by our programs is set forth below.

Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a disabling and chronic mentaégk that is characterized by multiple symptomsduan acute phase of the disorder
that can include so-called “positive” symptoms,sas hearing voices, grandiose beliefs and sugsioEss or paranoia. These symptoms can
be accompanied by additional, harder to treat sgmpt such as social withdrawal, blunted emotioespponse and speech deficits, collectively
referred to as “negative” symptoms, difficulty centrating and disorganized thoughts, or cognitmpdirment, depression and insomnia. Suc
residual symptoms often persist even after theeggositive symptoms subside, and contribute subialigrto the social and employment
disability associated with schizophrenia. Currentipsychotic medications provide some relief fax Hymptoms associated with the acute
of the disorder, but they do not effectively trdad residual phase symptoms associated with chsahizophrenia. Currently available
medications used to treat acute schizophreniararedl in their use due to side effects that catuitle movement disorders, weight gain,
metabolic disturbances, and cardiovascular diserdedeed, the side effects associated with cuemetipsychotic medications often make st
of the residual phase symptoms, such as negatimpteyns and social function, worse. There is an unmezlical need for new therapies that
have improved side effect and efficacy profiles.

According to the National Institute of Mental Hémlover 1% of the world’s population suffers froohizophrenia, and more than
2.5 million Americans suffer from the illness inyagiven year. Worldwide sales of antipsychotic druged to treat schizophrenia exceedec
billion in 2013. These drugs have been increasingly
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used by physicians to address a range of disond@ddition to schizophrenia, including bipolaratider and a variety of psychoses and relate
conditions in elderly patients. Despite their comeigd success, current antipsychotic drugs havstanbial limitations, including inadequate
efficacy and severe side effects.

The first-generation, or typical, antipsychoticatttvere introduced in the late-1950s block dopamaéceptors. While typical
antipsychotics are effective against positive syons of schizophrenia in many patients, these doftgs induce disabling motor disturbances.
and they fail to address or worsen most of the tivggaymptoms and cognitive disturbances associatédschizophrenia.

Most schizophrenia patients in the United Statesraated today with second-generation, or atypagipsychaotics, which induce fewer
motor disturbances than typical antipsychotics,dbilltfail to address most of the negative sympgarhschizophrenia and other symptoms
associated with social function impairment. Mantigras with schizophrenia have deficits in sociaidtion. Social function is the ability to
recognize, understand, process and use externat@gelve problems, maintain work performance, @rdiuct interpersonal relationships.
Deficits in social function often remain after pos symptoms, such as hallucinations and delusioage resolved in these patients. In
addition, currently prescribed treatments do nfeatively address or may exacerbate cognitive distaces associated with schizophrenia. It i
believed that the efficacy of atypical antipsychstis due to their interactions with dopamine afdiT2A receptors. The side effects induce«
the atypical agents may include weight gain, na@uiin dependent (type 1) diabetes, cardiovascsilde effects, sleep disturbances, and moto
disturbances. We believe that these side effecterglly arise either from non-essential receptmractions or from excessive dopamine
blockade.

The limitations of currently available antipsyclustresult in poor patient compliance. A landmaddgtfunded by the National Institute
of Mental Health, the Clinical Antipsychotic Triat$ Intervention Effectiveness, also referred t&CaSTIE, which was published in The New
England Journal of Medicine in September 2005, dotimat 74% of patients taking typical or atypicatipsychotics discontinued treatment
within 18 months because of side effects or lac&ffifacy. We believe there is a large undersemedical need for new therapies that have
improved side effect and efficacy profiles.

Behavioral Disturbances in Dementia, Including Algimer's Disease

It has been estimated that 44.4 million people swidle were living with dementia in 2013, includiager 5.2 million patients with
Alzheimer’s disease in the United States. This nemidexpected to increase to 75.6 million by 2880 to increase to 135.5 million by 2050.
While the diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer’s disesand other dementias mostly focus on the retaigditive deficits, it is often the behavioral
and psychiatric symptoms that are most troublesiomearegivers and lead to poor quality of life fratients. Several behavioral symptoms ar
quite prevalent in patients with dementia, inclgdpatients with Alzheimer's disease. Rates of degiom in Alzheimer’s disease are estimated
to be up to 87%, although most estimates are bet&@& and 50%. Agitation and aggression are préseqproximately 60% of patients.
Sleep disturbances, particularly as an increagetiibod of day-night reversal, are present inawpgproximately 60% of patients. In view of
the potential multiple effects of ITI-007 on aggies, agitation, sleep disorders and depressiahjtarsafety profile to date, we believe that
ITI-007 may provide a novel therapy for treating tiehavioral disturbances accompanying dementilyding Alzheimer’s disease.

The FDA has not approved any drug to treat theiehal symptoms of dementia, including Alzheimetlisease. As symptoms progress
and become more severe, physicians often resoff-tabel use of antipsychotic medications in thpaients. Current antipsychotic drugs are
associated with a number of side effects, whichbmaproblematic for elderly patients with demenitisaddition, antipsychotic drugs may
exacerbate the cognitive disturbances associatixddementia. We believe there is a large unmet caédieed for a safe and effective therapy
to treat the behavioral symptoms in patients wéhmdntia, including Alzheimer’s disease.
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Bipolar Disorder

Bipolar disorder, commonly referred to as manicrdspive iliness, is characterized by extreme shiftaood. Individuals with bipolar
disorder may experience intense feelings of oveitement, irritability, and impulsivity with grandse beliefs and racing thoughts, referred to
as a manic episode. Symptoms of depression maydedkeling tired, hopeless and sad, with diffigalbncentrating and thoughts of suicide.
Some people experience both types of symptomsisdame “mixed” episode. Severe symptoms of bighitrder can be associated with
hallucinations or delusions, otherwise referredggsychosis.

Bipolar disorder affects 4.4% of the adult Unitedt&s population, or approximately 13 million aduivith a worldwide prevalence of
2.4%. In 2012, therapeutics used to treat bipdkorder had global sales of approximately $6 Hhillio

Bipolar disorder is often treated with antipsychatiedications alone or in combination with mood#izers. The side effects and safety
risks associated with antipsychotic drugs in pasievith bipolar disorder are similar to those exgeeced by patients with schizophrenia.
Moreover, a large national research program comduitom 1998 to 2005 called the Systematic TreatrBahancement Program for Bipolar
Disorder, or STEP-BD, followed 4,360 patients witholar disorder long term and showed that abolitdigatients who were treated for
bipolar disorder still experienced lingering andugent symptoms, indicating a clear need for imptbtreatments.

Alzheimers Disease

Alzheimer’s disease is a progressive neurodegenerdisorder that slowly destroys memory and thgkskills, and eventually even the
ability to carry out simple tasks. Its symptomdiiie cognitive dysfunction, memory abnormalitiemgressive impairment in activities of
daily living, and a host of behavioral and neurapeggtric symptoms. Alzheimer’s disease primarilfeafs older people and, in most cases,
symptoms first appear after age 60. Alzheimer'sakie gets worse over time and is fatal.

The market for Alzheimer’s disease therapeuticsiegorized into two segments: acetylcholinestdrdsbitors and NMDA receptor
antagonists, which include Aricept Namend® , Exelon® and Ebixa® . Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, which account46% of the total
worldwide market, had total sales of $4.9 billion2013. In 2013, global sales of CNS therapeuticsiémentia and Alzheimer’s disease
reached $5.1 billion.

According to the Alzheimer's Association, 5.2 nati people in the United States are living with Airher’s disease, and it is currently
the fifth leading cause of death for people agarid older. It has been estimated that 44.4 milieople worldwide were living with dementia
in 2013. This number is expected to increase t6 ibllion by 2030 and to increase to 135.5 milllmn2050. While the diagnostic criteria for
Alzheimer’s disease mostly focus on the relatechitag deficits, it is often the behavioral and pkiatric symptoms that are most troublesom:e
for caregivers and lead to poor quality of life ftients. These symptoms include agitation, aggredehaviors, depression, sleep disorders,
and psychosis. Studies have suggested that apmatetin60% of patients with Alzheimer’s disease eigee agitation/aggression, up to 87%
of patients experience depression, approximately 6Dpatients experience sleep disturbances, piatlg as an increased likelihood of day-
night reversal, and approximately 20% to 51% ofh&imer’s disease patients may develop psychosismaé point in the disease process,
commonly consisting of hallucinations and delusidrtse diagnosis of Alzheimer’s disease psychosissociated with more rapid cognitive
and functional decline and institutionalizatione& disturbances increase the likelihood of datmigversion, increased agitation and
increased caregiver stress that strongly influedeessions for nursing home placement.

The FDA has not approved any drug to treat theiehal symptoms of Alzheimer’s disease. As symptgargress and become more
severe, physicians often resort to off-label usantipsychotic medications in these
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patients. Current antipsychotic drugs are assatiatth a number of side effects, which can be pptatic for elderly patients with
Alzheimer’s disease. In addition, antipsychoticgirunay exacerbate the cognitive disturbances adedoith Alzheimer’s disease. Current
antipsychotic drugs also have a boxed warning $erin elderly patients with dementia-related psgehdue to increased mortality and
morbidity. There is a large unmet medical needifeafe and effective therapy to treat the behavyraptoms in patients with Alzheimer’s
disease.

Parkinsor’s Disease

Parkinson’s disease is a chronic and progressivedegenerative disorder that involves malfunctiod death of neurons in a region of
the brain that controls movement. This neurodegsiter creates a shortage of an important brairadiigg chemical, or neurotransmitter,
known as dopamine, thereby rendering patients ertaldirect or control their movements in a normahner. Parkinson’s disease is
characterized by well-known motor symptoms, inahgdiremors, limb stiffness, slowness of movemeans, difficulties with posture and
balance, as well as by non-motor symptoms, whicluite sleep disturbances, mood disorders, cogriitipairment and psychosis. Parkinson’
disease progresses slowly in most people and tleigeof symptoms tends to worsen over time.

Parkinson’s disease is the second most common degeoerative disorder after Alzheimer's diseaseofding to the National
Parkinson Foundation, about 1 million people intheted States and from approximately 4 to 6 milleople worldwide suffer from this
disease. Parkinson’s disease is more common inlgewpr 60 years of age, and the prevalence offibease is expected to increase
significantly as the average age of the populatioreases. Parkinson’s disease patients are corgrtreated with dopamine replacement
therapies, such as levodopa, commonly referred toROPA, which is metabolized to dopamine, andatojme agonists, which are molecules
that mimic the action of dopamine. Sales of thentipe such as L-DOPA and dopamine agonists useedbthe motor symptoms of the
disease reached $2.3 billion in 2013.

Non-motor symptoms can be particularly distressing even more troublesome to patients with Parkissdisease than the primary
motor disturbances. Non-motor symptoms substaptiaihtribute to the burden of Parkinson’s diseambdeeply affect the quality of life of
patients and their caregivers. Non-motor symptohtzaskinson’s disease are associated with increeasedjiver stress and burden, nursing
home placement, and increased morbidity and mtytali

Treatment of non-motor symptoms associated witkiRson's disease poses a challenge to physiciamse@ dopamine replacement
drugs used to treat the motor symptoms of Parkisstisease do not help, and sometimes worsen,ahanotor symptoms. No drugs are
currently approved by the FDA for treating the lsro®n-motor symptoms associated with Parkinsorssatie, and this remains a large unmet
medical need.

Depressior

Major depressive disorder, or MDD, is a brain disrthat can be associated with symptoms of sadhepslessness, helplessness,
feelings of guilt, irritability, loss of interest iformerly pleasurable activities, cognitive impaént, disturbed sleep patterns, and suicide ida
or behavior. Different people may experience défgrsymptoms, but everyone with major depressigeggnces symptoms that are severe
enough to interfere with everyday functioning, sastthe ability to concentrate at work or schootja interactions, eating and sleeping.
Sometimes the depressive episode can be so seieeecompanied by psychosis (hallucinations adsions). According to the National
Institute of Mental Health, approximately 3% ofrtagers and approximately 7% of adults experiencéMBch year. Worldwide sales of
antidepressant drugs reached $9.3 billion in 2Th&. antidepressant market is primarily composegktctive serotonin reuptake inhibitors
such as Lexapr8 (marketed by Forest Laboratories and Lundbeck)safettive norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, oR8\ such as
Cymbalta® (marketed by Eli Lilly). Antipsychotics such as 8guel® (marketed by Astrazeneca) and Abilfffymarketed jointly by Bristol-
Myers Squibb and Otsuka Pharmaceutical)
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are also used as adjunctive treatments with amédspnt treatment. The National Institute of Mehiglth-funded Sequenced Treatment
Alternatives to Relieve Depression, or STAR*D, ststiowed that only one-third of treated patienisegience complete remission of
depressive symptoms. Nearly two-thirds of patievege considered treatment-resistant.

Our Clinical Programs

Our pipeline includes two product candidates inichl development and two product candidates irmaded pre-clinical testing. We
believe that our product candidates offer innoweatherapeutic approaches and may provide signifemdvantages relative to current therapies
The following table summarizes our product candidatnd programs:

ITI Therapeutic Pipeline

1
=5
et
i
i
L
1
At
i
1

Schizophrenia

Behavioral Disturbances Assoclated with Dementia, including AD

Bipolar Disorders®

Slepp Maintonancas insomnia & Sleep Disturbances Associatod with Newro-Prychiatric DMsorders
Other Neuro-Fsychiatric Conditions including MDD and Autism™

LAl Program

IC200131 Program: Mood + other disorders

PDE1 Program: IT-214 for CNS and non-CN5S indications

IT-007 Programs

PDE2 and PDEY Programs

PDE inhibitor Programs

* Wa have not coanducted separate Phase 1 dbnical irials of 1T8-007 dedicated to these Indications. We plan to use data from our completed
Phase 1 trials of ITHOO? n heafthy wolunteers to sdvance the product condidate into Phase 2 and other trials for thess indications

ITI-007 Program

Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, possesses amésins of action that we believe have the potetdigleld a first-in-class
antipsychotic therapy. ITI-007 is in Phase 3 chirials for the treatment of schizophrenia. Im pre-clinical and clinical trials to date, we
have demonstrated that ITI-007 combines potentaeio5-HT2A receptor antagonism, dopamine recephmsphoprotein modulation, or
DPPM, glutamatergic modulation and serotonin rekgiahibition into a single drug candidate for theatment of acute and residual
schizophrenia. At dopamine D2 receptors, ITI-003 b@en demonstrated to have dual properties aact s both a post-synaptic antagonist
and a pre-synaptic partial agonist. 07 has also been demonstrated to stimulate phodation of glutamatergic NMDA NR2B, or GIuN2|
receptors in a mesolimbic specific manner. We kelibat this regional selectivity in brain areasupht to mediate the efficacy of
antipsychotic drugs, together with serotonergiafajhatergic, and dopaminergic interactions, maylr@s antipsychotic
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efficacy for positive, negative, affective and citiye symptoms associated with schizophrenia. ®retsnin reuptake inhibition could allow
for antidepressant activity for the treatment dfisoaffective disorder, co-morbid depression, andfa stand-alone treatment for major
depressive disorder. We believe ITI-007 may alsagedul for the treatment of bipolar disorder atiteo psychiatric and neurodegenerative
disorders, particularly behavioral disturbanceseisged with dementia, autism and other CNS disease

We believe these features of ITI-007 may be ablenfrove the quality of life of patients with schjzhrenia and enhance social function
to allow them to integrate more fully into theinfdies and their workplaces. In addition, ITI-00&yrbe shown to treat disorders at either low-
doses €.g.,sleep, aggression and agitation) or high-doseg.( acute exacerbated and residual schizophrenialavidisorders, and mood
disorders).

Phase 1 studies to support multiple clinical indicas

We conducted a series of Phase 1 safety studids-607 in Europe and the United States during theogddrom 2007 to 2011. All of th
studies conducted to date in the United States bage conducted under an Investigational New Dou¢i\D, filed in 2007 by ITI. Data from
these studies are being used to support the dlidéseelopment of ITI-007 in multiple indicationsicluding schizophrenia, sleep disorders in
neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative diseaseymepressive disorders, bipolar disorders, belnalvibsturbances in dementia and
Alzheimer’s disease, autism, posttraumatic streswrder, or PTSD, and intermittent explosive disoreér IED. We have completed the
following three Phase 1 trials in healthy volungeer

A Phase 1, double-blind placebo controlledglsEirascending dose study in 40 healthy volunteeEurope in 2007. ITI-007 was
generally well tolerated at all doses. Most adversmts, or AEs, were mild to moderate and alltineat related AEs resolved. The
most frequent AE was headac

A Phase 1, placebo controlled multiple ascemdiose study in 25 healthy volunteers in Europmf2®07 to 2008. ITI-007 was
generally well tolerated at all doses. Most AEseveild to moderate and all treatment related ABslked.

A Phase 1, open-label positron emission tonmagraor PET, study to demonstrate receptor occupaadety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics after single oral dose administnatf ITI-007 in 16 healthy male volunteers. Thiady was conducted in the
United States from 2007 to 2009. ITI-007 was walktated, all AEs were of mild or moderate intgnaid all treatment related
AEs resolved. Dose related increases in receptarpancy at dopamine D2 receptors in the striatune wemonstrated after ITI-
007 administration. Brain occupancy at 5-HT2A aedb®nin reuptake transporters also was demondtedter single doses of ITI-
007.

We continued Phase 1 development of ITI-007 inguéisi with schizophrenia in order to advance ITI-B0this target therapeutic
indication. Specifically, we conducted the followiadditional studies:

* A Phase 1b/2, placebo controlled multiple adtendose study in 45 patients with stable schirzepia in the United States during
2009 to 2010. ITI-007 was generally well toleragdcll doses. All AEs were mild to moderate andrathtment related AEs
resolved. The overall percentage of patients ramptteatment related AEs was similar for thosatid with ITI-007 (83.3% to
100%, across dose groups) and placebo (72.7%)mBlarity of the treatment related AEs that occumethe commencement of
the study decreased in terms of frequency andi@rige with repeated administration. We observgphsiconsistent with clinical
efficacy in stable patients with schizophreniahis tstudy.

A Phase 1, randomized study to determine tleeability, safety and pharmacokinetics of I007 using different dosing regimens
11 patients with schizophrenia. This study was cotetl in the United States in 2011. In this study showed that administration
of ITI-007 in a capsule dosage fo
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taken with food reduced the incidence of treatmelastted AEs and all treatment related AEs resol¥éeé. most commonly reported
treatment related AE in this study was somnoleasmmonly known as drowsine

ITI-007 for the treatment of exacerbated and reaidichizophrenia

In multiple clinical trials of ITI-007 in patientsith schizophrenia, the drug candidate has dematestrclinical signals consistent with
reductions in psychosis, depression and insomraduBtions in psychosis are consistent with theri@teto treat acute schizophrenia, wherea
reductions in depression and insomnia are consigtéimthe potential to treat residual phase sagbtiwenia. ITI-007 has been shown to be safe
and well-tolerated across a wide range of dos#seise studies. Further, at doses that have dematatstlinical activity, ITI-007 has caused
fewer adverse effects than those typically assediatith antipsychotic drug treatment, such as ingghmotor function. These adverse side
effects can be a major cause of patient noncomg#iavith current antipsychotic therapies and cad tegoorer social function.

Phase 2 Clinical Trial (IFD07-005)

ITI-007 exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in ITI-08J05, a randomized, double-blind, placebo and aaontrolled Phase 2 clinical trial in
patients with an acutely exacerbated episode dfgghrenia. In December 2013, we announced the&alinesults from this Phase 2 trial. In
this Phase 2 trial, 335 patients were randomizeddeive one of four treatments: 60 mg of ITI-00ZQ mg of ITI-007, 4 mg of risperidone
(active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio.i®uatis received study treatment orally once dailthenmorning for 28 days. Of those
randomized, 311 patients were included in the irtetreat primary analysis. Subject participation ldsapproximately 7 to 8 weeks, includ
a one week screening period, a four week treatmemdd followed by stabilization on standard ofesaand a safety follow up visit
approximately two weeks after stabilization. Thernary endpoint for this clinical trial was changerh baseline to Day 28 on the PANSS tota
score. The PANSS is a well-validated 30-item ratingle that measures the ability of a drug to redwhizophrenia symptom severity. The
PANSS measures positive symptoms, such as delysiosgiciousness, and hallucinations; negative symg such as blunted affect, social
and emotional withdrawal, and stereotyped thinkanyg general psychopathology, such as anxietyiotendepression, and active social
avoidance.

Secondary endpoints in this trial included weeldgessments of the PANSS total score as well aslitscales (Positive Symptom
Subscale, Negative Symptom Subscale, and Gengrath®zathology Subscale) and the Negative SymptartoFébased on a subset of
PANSS questions), individual item response on thR®S, and the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizmph. Safety and tolerability were
also assessed.

In December 2013, we announced that topline refuolts the ITI-007-005 study indicated that ITI-O8&t the trial’'s pre-specified
primary endpoint, improving symptoms associatedh withizophrenia as measured by a statisticallyifsignt and clinically meaningful
decrease in the PANSS total score. The trial alsbkay secondary outcome measures related to @ffma PANSS subscales and safety.

Many patients with schizophrenia have deficitsanial function. Social function is the ability teaognize, understand, process and use
external cues to solve problems, maintain workgrerhnce and conduct interpersonal relationshipficiBein social function often remain
after positive symptoms, such as hallucinationsdeidsions, have resolved in these patients. IfPtiase 2 trial, ITI-007 exhibited a
differentiating response profile across a broadjeasf symptoms that we believe is consistent withrovements in these social functioning
deficits. The study also showed that ITI-007 wadl-tederated at the tested doses. ITI-007 demotesira favorable safety profile in the study
without characteristic antipsychotic drug side effeor any serious adverse events.

ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg demonstrated a stadifisignificant improvement in psychosis (p = G/Dbn the trial's pre-specified
primary endpoint, which was change from baselinéhenPANSS total score, compared to placebo. Tinegpy statistical analysis was pre-
specified and used a Mixed-Effect Model Repeateddvies
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method for handling missing data in the intentrmat, or ITT, study population and a Bonferronigadure to correct for multiple two-sided
comparisons (each dose of ITI-007 compared to plalcd he trial’'s pre-specified sensitivity analysisthe primary endpoint used the analysis
of covariance, or ANCOVA, model and last observatiarried forward, or LOCF, method for handling simig data for the ITT population a
confirmed the positive outcome with statisticaligrsficant improvements compared to placebo ingyds receiving the 60 mg dose of ITI-007
(p = 0.011). ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg also sigaiftly improved the positive symptom subscale (285) and the general psychopathology
subscale (p < 0.05) on the PANSS after 28 daymeafrment using the ANCOVA-LOCF on the ITT populatio

The improvement in the PANSS total score in the m20dose group did not reach statistical signifiea'Wwe believe that it is possible
that sedation, the most frequent side effect inl2@ mg dose group, interfered with the abilityé&gect an efficacy signal at this dose
administered once daily in the morning. ApproxinhaB?2.5% of subjects randomized to 120 mg of ITF@Xperienced sedation/somnolence,
compared to 21% of subjects randomized to rispagdt7% of subjects randomized to 60 mg of ITI-GW] 13% randomized to placebo. We
believe that nighttime administration may be maguprapriate for testing the effectiveness of the ad)dose of ITI-007 in this patient
population. In the trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-00&s effective when administered once daily inrtteening.

Consistent with preliminary indications from thegrnm analysis and with the drug candidate’s phaotwaical profile, ITI-007 at a dose
of 60 mg significantly improved certain items o tiegative symptom and general psychopathologycaldssconsistent with improved social
function. The study was statistically powered amiythe primary endpoint. ITI-007 did significantigprove many secondary endpoints,
although the study was not designed for signifieamic secondary endpoints and was not powered ¢atdshtistical differences in subgroup
analyses.

A high percentage (74%) of randomized subjects detrag trial participation. Only 19% of subjectsatiatinued from study treatment
during the 28 day study treatment period, and aitiadal 7% of subjects completed study treatmenitvere lost to follow up.

In the Phase 2 trial, ITI-007 was well-toleratetieTmost frequent AE was sedation, as describedealtwere were no serious adverse
events related to ITI-007. There were no clinicatlganingful changes in safety measures with ITI-00tably, ITI-007 demonstrated a
favorable metabolic profile with no increase ofdadevels of glucose, insulin, cholesterol or fyagrides over a four week treatment period.
Moreover, in contrast to risperidone, 60 mg of 007 was effective with no difference from placelmoweight change parameters, prolactin
levels, extrapyramidal symptoms (EPS) or akathI3in007 was not associated with EPS as measur@dé@impson-Angus Scale, Barnes
Akathisia Rating Scale, or Abnormal Involuntary Maovent Scale. There was no increase in suicidaliaiear behavior with ITI-007.

Proposed Phase 3 Clinical Trials and Requlatorgsla

We are proceeding with Phase 3 development of 04@r the treatment of schizophrenia. We planaiedzict two randomized, double-
blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial$7d-007 in patients with acutely exacerbated gophrenia, with over 400 patients in each
trial. We initiated the first Phase 3 clinical trim schizophrenia in the fourth quarter of 2014 asubject to finalizing the trial protocols and
arrangements with clinical trial sites, we intendrtitiate a second Phase 3 clinical trial in tinstthalf of 2015. In the first Phase 3 trial, we a
randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60 angd0 mg) or placebo over a 4-week treatment eéaraand the primary outcome measure
is change from baseline to Day 28 on the PANSS sotare. We currently expect that the second PBasal will be conducted for a 6-week
treatment duration. Subject to timely enrolimerg, anticipate that the results of the first Phaskngcal trial of ITI-007 in patients with
schizophrenia could be available as early as thetauarter of 2015. Subject to further discussiaith the FDA, we also plan to initiate
separate additional trials in bipolar disorder @1.2. We have not yet discussed our plans to dev&lefp07 for the treatment of bipolar disor
with the FDA. We expect that the planned trials in
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bipolar disorder will overlap in time with the ci@al conduct of the planned trials in schizophreriawever, the FDA may not agree with our
clinical development plans to conduct well-conedlklinical trials in bipolar disorder that overligptime with our Phase 3 clinical trials in
schizophrenia. In addition to our Phase 3 clinidals, we will need to complete other clinical amzh-clinical trials and manufacturing and pre
commercialization activities necessary to supguetsubmission of a planned NDA for ITI-007 in scmhrenia, which we currently expect
could occur at the end of 2016 or the beginningGdf7. Additional meetings with the FDA may be resfed, as needed, to discuss in greater
detail our plans for schizophrenia and bipolar diso, and other elements of our regulatory strategjuding additional therapeutic
indications, as the program progresses. Our clipieas may change based on any discussions vatRE#, the relative success and cost of
our research, preclinical and clinical developnmmograms, whether we are able to enter into futotiaborations, and any unforeseen delays
or cash needs. If the FDA does not agree with biical development plans for ITI-007, our develogmhof ITI-007 may be delayed and the
costs of our development of ITI-007 could increagleich would have a material adverse effect onbusiness, financial condition and results
of operations.

PET study of ITI007 in patients with stable schizophrenia

We are currently conducting an open-label posiganission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 exang brain receptor occupancy
and assessing occupancy of striatal D2 receptotbid study, patients with stable schizophrenihlva treated with ITI-007 for 14 days. We
expect topline data from this study in 2015. Wadw this study will further characterize ITI-00@daprovide additional insight into the
molecule’s uniqgue mechanism and clinical profile.

ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbas@ssociated with dementia, including Alzheimeisgase

Behavioral disturbances are common in dementiafdrfteimer’s disease. These disturbances are a roajoponent of the burden to
caregivers, and often lead to institutionalizatidithough currently available treatments for patsewith dementia mainly address cognitive
disturbances, behavioral disturbances are consiyenmzore problematic and likely more amenable tegdreatment. Several behavioral
symptoms are quite prevalent in patients with dearagimcluding patients with Alzheimer’s diseasethe fourth quarter of 2014, we
announced the topline data from ITI-007-200, a EH42 clinical trial designed to evaluate the safttlerability and pharmacokinetics of low
doses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects angatients with dementia, including Alzheimer'selase. The ITI-007-200 clinical trial was
conducted in two parts. Part 1 was a randomizedbldeblind, placebo-controlled multiple ascendigel evaluation of ITI-007 in healthy
geriatric subjects. In each of three cohorts it Baapproximately 10 subjects were randomizecteive ITI-007 (N=8) or placebo (N=2)
orally once daily in the morning for seven dayssB®of ITI-007 up to and including 30 mg were eatdd in three cohorts in Part 1. In Part 2,
eight patients with dementia were randomized teikec9 mg ITI-007 (N=5) or placebo (N=3) orally @& day in the evening for seven days.
The primary objectives of the study were to evauhe safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetic§Téf007 in the elderly and in the target
dementia patient population. Secondary measures weluded to explore the effects of ITI-007 onmitign and agitation. The Hopkins
Verbal Learning Test-R (HVLT-R) was used to ass@ggiition in healthy geriatric subjects and denspttients. The results demonstrated
impaired verbal learning and memory (recall andgaition memory) by dementia patients relative ¢éalthy geriatric subjects. Moreover, the
data indicated that healthy geriatric subjectsté@avith 1TI-007 for approximately one week expaded an improvement in verbal learning
and memory relative to placebo-treated subjectmiddgia patients treated with ITI-007 showed enhdmeeognition memory, making fewer
false positive errors (i.e., responding ‘yes’ to+iarget words) than patients treated with plac€iber secondary endpoints in the ITI-007-20(
clinical trial included the assessment of agitatidowever, none of the study participants expeedragitation at baseline or during the study,
and therefore no signals on this behavioral endpmminld be assessed. The completion of this stuahksnan important milestone in our
strategy to develop low doses of ITI-007 for treatment of behavioral disturbances associateddeithentia and related disorders. The ITI-
007-200 trial results to date indicate that ITI-098afe and well-tolerated across a range of logesd, has
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linear- and dose-related pharmacokinetics and inggr@ognition in the elderly. The most frequenteade event was mild sedation at the
higher doses. We believe these results furthetipodiTl-007 as a development candidate for thattreent of behavioral disturbances in
patients with dementia and other neuropsychiatricreeurological conditions. We plan to initiate gidaal clinical programs evaluating ITI-
007 in patients with behavioral disturbances assediwith dementia and related disorders, includitzfpeimer’s disease, in 2015.

ITI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disorder

The pharmacological profile of ITI-007 offers thetential to treat bipolar mania, depression, anxeshsymptoms at doses similar to
those targeted for the treatment of schizophréftiabelieve that ITBO7 may be effective alone or in combination withad stabilizers. Give
that many patients with bipolar disorder also eigrere disturbed sleep and cognitive impairmentlainto that observed in schizophrenia, we
believe that ITI-007 may treat a wide array of syomps in patients with bipolar disorder, includimgprovement of cognition and sleep. We
expect that data from our completed Phase 1 stadigslata from our Phase 2 trial in patients withtely exacerbated schizophrenia will be
used to advance ITI-007 directly into well-contealiclinical trials for the treatment of bipolaralider. In June 2014, we had discussions with
the FDA regarding our plans to initiate our PhasdirBcal program of ITI-007 in schizophrenia. Fdling this meeting with the FDA, we are
proceeding with Phase 3 development of ITI-007Hertreatment of schizophrenia. We initiated thet fPhase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia
in the fourth quarter of 2014 and we intend toiatét a second Phase 3 clinical trial in the fidf bf 2015. Subject to discussions with the
FDA, we intend to initiate separate additionallgria bipolar disorder in 2015. We expect thatplened trials in bipolar disorder will overlap
in time with the clinical conduct of the plannetls in schizophrenia. We have not yet discusseplauns to develop ITI-007 for the treatment
of bipolar disorder with the FDA. Additional meag;may be requested, as needed, to discuss irigdeiail our plans for bipolar disorder :
other elements of our regulatory strategy, inclgdidditional therapeutic indications, as the progpsogresses.

The FDA may not agree with our clinical developmelains to conduct well-controlled clinical triats bipolar disorder that overlap in
time with our Phase 3 clinical trials in schizopfiee Our clinical plans may change based on armgudsons with the FDA. If the FDA does
not agree with our clinical development plans frF007, our development of ITI-007 may be delayad the costs of our development of ITI-
007 would increase, which may have an adversetedfeour business, financial condition and resofitsperations.

ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep disturbancesaiged with neurologic and psychiatric disorders

A Phase 2 double-blind, placebo controlled cross-alinical trial conducted in 19 patients withmpéry insomnia with disturbed sleep
maintenance at low doses of ITI-007 was complat&2D08 in Europe. The primary outcome measure loas\save sleep as determined by
polysomnography. ITI-007 demonstrated a dedated statistically significant increase in slamave sleep. Secondary measures were cons
with improvement of sleep maintenance in patierith primary insomnia, indicated by decreased walifigr sleep onset, increased total s
time, and no increase in latency to sleep onsethdge low doses ITI-007 did not induce sleep ratlter helped maintain sleep once sleep hax
been initiated. In addition, ITI-007 was not asateil with next day cognitive impairment, or “hangg effects. We believe that ITI-007 may
be particularly useful in the treatment of sleespdilers that accompany neuropsychiatric and negiotbsorders, including schizophrenia,
autism spectrum disorder, or ASD, Parkinson’s disend dementia. Previous work has suggesteddieatise 5-HT2A receptor antagonists
increase deep, slow wave sleep in both humansrEnths. We believe, however, that other neurophaatogical mechanisms, in addition to
5-HT2A receptor antagonism, such as engaging someandiog modulation, may be beneficial for the sudcsseatment of sleep maintenar
insomnia, or SMI, in humans. We believe that ITFG8presents a new approach to the treatmenteyh shaintenance insomnia because of its
unique pharmacology and neuropharmacological iotienas beyond selective 5-HT2A receptor antagonisfa.believe that ITI-007 offers a
potentially new approach to the treatment of sie@mntenance disorders, particularly in those dismdhat accompany neuropsychiatric and
neurologic disorders. Many of these disorders acempanied by profound sleep deficits,
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which impair daytime functioning including cognitipexacerbate disease symptoms and increase thef @ase. We are presently exploring
clinical designs to incorporate the examinatioslegp disturbances in one or more of these indigatiThere is no assurance that any such
design would be sufficient for an FDA approval fiois indication.

ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep and behavioiatutbances associated with autism spectrum disorde

Sleep problems are common in patients with ASDamechot adequately treated by currently availafitierventions. Approximately two
thirds of children and adolescents with ASD experéesleep problems, higher than the rate of slesgigms in age-matched developmentally
typical children. Moreover, individuals with ASDfer from behavioral disturbances, including aggres, irritability, anxiety and depression.
With its multiple pathway mechanism of action, wiéve that ITI-007 could address the multi-facdtetavioral symptoms associated with
ASD. 5-HT2A receptor antagonism is predicted taéase slow wave sleep, improve sleep maintenarttesgnice aggression. D2 receptor
modulation is predicted to improve sleep mainteraantd reduce irritability and aggression. Serotoauptake inhibition is predicted to reduce
anxiety and depression. Accordingly, we believe k007 could improve sleep maintenance, redustabioral disturbances and enhance
social interaction in patients with ASD. We belighat our completed Phase 1 studies support advghi€i-007 into Phase 2 trials in this
patient population, and we are presently explotirggfeasibility of such trials.

ITI-007 for the treatment of depression and otheodhdisorders

As a potent 5-HT2A receptor antagonist and seratoguptake inhibitor, we believe that ITI-007 couttbrove symptoms of depression
with fewer side effects than selective serotonimptake inhibitors, or SSRIs. Dopamine modulationy007 may reduce irritability and
aggression that can accompany many mood disoigisuch, ITI-007 may be effective for the treatmefntnood disorders including MDD,
PTSD, and IED. We are presently exploring the tahsi of clinical studies in these indications.

ITI-002 (PDE1) Program

We have a second major program, called our ITIH@@@ram, that has generated a portfolio of compsuhdt have demonstrated the
ability to modulate CNS pathways that are crittoatontrolling cognition and motor behavior throupk inhibition of an important
intracellular enzyme, PDE1. On February 25, 2014 (through our wholly owned operating subsidiafy) entered into a license and
collaboration agreement with Takeda, or the Takddense Agreement, under which we agreed to cotltbdo research, develop and
commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 atiter selected compounds that selectively inhiDiEP for use in the prevention and
treatment of human diseases. Cognitive deficithatieved to underlie much of the significant fuacal impairments observed in patients v
schizophrenia. One of these portfolio compoundk2l4, has advanced into Phase 1 clinical studiiethe first quarter of 2013, we announcec
the completion by Takeda of a single ascending &bsese 1 study in 70 healthy volunteers in theddnBtates under an IND filed by Takeda
in 2012. The results of this randomized, doubledlplacebo-controlled Phase 1 study indicatedlfa?14 was safe and welbtlerated acros
a broad range of single oral doses. Moreover, tildysdemonstrated a favorable pharmacokinetic lgrofi ITI-214 consistent with once-a-day
dosing. We believe that this study representsmfgignt milestone as the first use of a potent higghly specific PDEL1 inhibitor in humans. (
October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreementheikeda terminating the Takeda License AgreemertheoTermination Agreement,
pursuant to which all rights granted under the Hakieicense Agreement were returned to us. Takell@avhplete certain ongoing activities
relating to non-clinical studies and will transfepduct inventory and materials to us but will hate any other ongoing involvement or
funding obligations in connection with the devel@gmhprogram. We intend to continue the developroéfifl-214 for the treatment of CNS
and other disorders. Over approximately the nexnb2ths, we will refine our strategy for the PDBhibitor program. By regaining
unrestricted access to ITI-214, backups and thprfiary chemistry, we can now integrate the effoftour internal PDE1 program to include
the later stage portfolio. We do not anticipate a
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significant increase in our operating expensesedlto our PDE development programs over the meaftve months. Other compounds in the
PDE1 portfolio are also being advanced for thettneat of various indications, including non-CNSrdpeutic areas.

Additional PDE Programs

There are multiple forms and isoforms of PDE wiistidct roles in intracellular signaling. We haveveéloped strong internal expertise in
the design and synthesis of inhibitors specificifalividual PDE isoforms. Based on our understagdaifithe expression and functions of these
isoforms in the CNS, we have identified PDE2 andPRs compelling targets for drug discovery. Weelvel that inhibitors of these PDEs
may be useful in treating neurodegeneration andrn@metic failure in a variety of CNS diseases.

Alzheimers disease—ITI-012 (Casein Kinase 1 Inhibitors) ati@l-009 (gSAP Inhibitors)

We are pursuing early stage drug discovery progtangeting two different pathways thought to beoiwed in the pathogenesis of
Alzheimer’s disease. The first program targetsaiheyme casein kinase 1, or CK1, the misregulatfamhich in Alzheimer’'s disease may
provoke misfolding of a neuronal protein, tau, whias been linked to cellular loss in the brainpaifents with Alzheimer’s disease. We are
currently optimizing our CK1 inhibitors in anticifban of advancing them into preclinical developméiie have a second program targeting
protein Gamma Secretase Activating Protein, or gSA® have demonstrated in preclinical models thiaibiting gSAP lowers the level of a
toxic protein located in the brain called AbetaieBtists in the field of dementia and Alzheimerisaise believe that inhibiting the
accumulation of Abeta may slow the onset of Alzhaimdisease. The discovery of gSAP was made byjnl€bllaboration with Dr. Paul
Greengard, Nobel laureate and ITI co-founder. Tieelmical characterization of this class of molesus ongoing. We believe that these
compounds have the potential to provide novel adisemodifying treatments for Alzheimer's disease r@hated disorders.

Intellectual Property
Our Patent Portfolio

As of March 1, 2015, we owned or controlled appmuadely 70 patent families filed in the United Staded other major markets
worldwide, including approximately 41 issued ooaled U.S. patents, 53 pending U.S. patent appbicatil55 issued foreign patents, and 18(
pending foreign patent applications, directed teah@ompounds, formulations, methods of treatmgyithetic methods, and platform
technologies.

Our ITI-007 program on novel compounds for neurcpstric and neurodegenerative diseases includestsaexclusively in-licensed
from Bristol-Myers Squibb on families of compoundg;luding the ITI-007 lead molecule. We have exteely characterized this lead and
filed additional patent applications on polymorplesmulations, additional indications, derivativeasd additional compounds. The ITI-007 leac
molecule has composition of matter protection tigroA025 and additional Orange Book-listable pradecto 2034. Additionally, we expect to
have data exclusivity in the European Union fotafil years from commercial launch. We also hafalaw-on program, directed to
compounds structurally related to the ITI-007 |daat, having composition of matter protection bey@0a81.

Our program on PDEL1 inhibitors for cognition anghdmine-mediated disorders, such as Parkinson’askséncludes patent protection
for the lead molecule, ITI-214, as well as a widege of filings on other proprietary compounds eudlications. Prior to October 31, 2014,
when we entered into the Termination Agreement Wakeda, certain PDE1 inhibitors were being devetbpnder a joint development
agreement with Takeda. Pursuant to the Termin&gneement, all rights granted under the TakedariseeAgreement were returned to us.
Takeda will complete certain ongoing activitiesatilg to non-clinical studies and will transfer guat inventory and materials to us but will
not have any other ongoing involvement or funding
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obligations in connection with the development paog. We intend to continue the development of IT4#2or the treatment of CNS and other
disorders. We are in the process of refining oatsgy for the PDEL1 inhibitor program. By regainingestricted access to I1TI-214, backups
and the proprietary chemistry, we can now integfageefforts of our internal PDE program to include later stage portfolio. The I'R1t4 leac
molecule has composition of matter protection t28®@vith possible extensions and additional OraBgek-listable protection to 2034.
Additionally, we expect to have data exclusivitytle European Union for up to 11 years from commétaunch. We are also evaluating
potential follow-on compounds for ITI-214 which wdlhave patent protection beyond 2030.

We have also filed patent applications on noveppetary targets and lead compounds for Alzheimaissase, which would provide
compound protection beyond 2028 or beyond 2034enidipg on which compound is ultimately selecteddevelopment.

License Agreemer
The Bristol-Myers Squibb License Agreement

On May 31, 2005 we entered into a worldwide, exglusicense Agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Guamy, or BMS, pursuant to
which we hold a license to certain patents and khow of BMS relating to ITI-007 and other specifieeimpounds. The agreement was
amended on November 3, 2010. The licensed rigbtexslusive, except BMS retains rights in speciiechpounds in the fields of obesity,
diabetes, metabolic syndrome and cardiovasculaades However, BMS has no right to use, devela@gmmmercialize ITI-007 and other
specified compounds in any field of use. We haeerifpht to grant sublicenses of the rights convaye8MS. We are obliged under the lice
to use commercially reasonable efforts to devetap@mmercialize the licensed technology. We ae pfohibited from engaging in the
clinical development or commercialization of speaifcompetitive compounds.

Under the agreement, we made an upfront payme$t.6fmillion to BMS, a milestone payment of $1.2#lion in December 2013, and
a milestone payment of $1.5 million in December£26@illowing the initiation of our first Phase 3mical trial for ITI-007 for patients with
exacerbated schizophrenia. Possible milestone patgmemaining total $12.0 million. Under the agreamwe may be obliged to make other
milestone payments to BMS for each licensed prodfiap to an aggregate of approximately $14.75iomll\We are also obliged to make tie
single digit percentage royalty payments on saldéisensed products. We are obliged to pay to BM&entage of non-royalty payments
made in consideration of any sublicense.

The agreement extends, and royalties are payatbke country-by-country and product-by-product hasigough the later of ten years
after first commercial sale of a licensed producsuch country, expiration of the last licensedpttovering a licensed product, its method of
manufacture or use, or the expiration of other gowveent grants providing market exclusivity, subjectertain rights of the parties to termir
the agreement on the occurrence of certain evemtsermination of the agreement, we may be obligezbnvey to BMS rights in
developments relating to a licensed compound ensied product, including regulatory filings, resbaresults and other intellectual property
rights.

Collaboration Agreement
The Takeda Pharmaceutical License and Collaboratigreement and Termination Agreement

On February 25, 2011, we entered into a licensecatidboration agreement with Takeda Pharmaceu@icatpany Limited under which
we agreed to collaborate to research, develop aminercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 attteo selected compounds that
selectively inhibit PDEL1 for use in the preventand treatment of human diseases. As part of theeaggnt, we assigned to Takeda certain
patents owned by us that claim ITI-214 and graitgikkda an exclusive license to develop and comalereicompounds identified in the
conduct of the research program that satisfy sigelcdriteria. However, we retained rights to alimmounds that do not meet the specified
criteria and we continue to develop PDE1 inhibitmusside the scope of the agreement. Upon execafitre agreement, Takeda made a
nonrefundable payment to us.
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Under the terms of the agreement, we conductedeareh program with an initial term of three ydariglentify and characterize
compounds that meet certain specified criteriaigefit for further development by Takeda. This ezsh program ended in February 2014. W
were responsible for our expenses incurred in timelact of certain research activities specifiethmresearch plan. Takeda agreed to reiml
us for expenses we incurred in conducting additicesearch activities.

On October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreemigmflakeda terminating the Takeda License Agreepmnsuant to which all rights
granted under the Takeda License Agreement wenenest to us. Takeda will complete certain ongoictivaies relating to norelinical studie:
and will transfer product inventory and materialss but will not have any other ongoing involvemanfunding obligations in connection
with the development program. ITI-214 is the feetpound in its class to successfully advancemase 1 clinical trials. We intend to
continue the development of ITI-214 for the treatinef CNS and other disorders. We are in the poésefining our strategy for the PDE1
inhibitor program over the next 12 months. By ragaj unrestricted access to ITI-214, backups aagthprietary chemistry, we can now
integrate the efforts of our internal PDE1 progtanmclude the later stage portfolio. We do noi@péte a significant increase in our opera
expenses related to our PDE development prograsrstioe next twelve months. Other compounds in DE Portfolio are also being
advanced for the treatment of various indicatiamdpuding non-CNS therapeutic areas.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans to develop
our own manufacturing operations in the foreseehlilee. We currently rely on third-party contracanufacturers for all of our required raw
materials, active pharmaceutical ingredient, or,Ad finished product for our preclinical reseaaald clinical trials, including the Phase 3
trials for ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophi@nWe believe that we would be able to contrathwtiher third-party contract manufacturers
to obtain API if our existing sources of APl wer@longer available, but there is no assuranceARatwould be available from other third-
party manufacturers on acceptable terms, on thefttia)me that our business would require, or aV@é.do not have long-term agreements with
our existing third-party contract manufacturers. 818 do not have any current contractual relakigossfor the manufacture of commercial
supplies of any of our product candidates if theyapproved. As ITI-007 and any of our other pradandidates continue to progress toward:s
potential regulatory approval, we intend to entéo iagreements with a third-party contract manuf@ectand one or more back-up
manufacturers for the commercial production of ¢hpsoducts. Development and commercial quantitiegy products that we develop will
need to be manufactured in facilities, and by psees, that comply with the requirements of the FIDA the regulatory agencies of other
jurisdictions in which we are seeking approval. Bderently employ internal resources to manage camufacturing contractor

Sales and Marketing

We currently have no marketing, sales or distrimutiapabilities. In order to commercialize any of product candidates, we must
develop these capabilities internally or throughatmration with third parties. In selected thenatpeareas where we feel that our product
candidates can be commercialized by a specialgs $atce that calls on a limited and focused grfyghysicians, we may plan to participat
the commercialization of our product candidatethnUnited States. In therapeutic areas that requiarge sales force selling to a large and
diverse prescribing population, we may elect to e@rcialize through, or in collaboration with, segic partners. We may choose to
commercialize our products in markets outside efliimited States by establishing one or more sti@tdliances in the future.
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Competition

We face, and will continue to face, intense contipetifrom pharmaceutical and biotechnology compsris well as numerous academic
and research institutions and governmental ageroidl in the United States and abroad. We competsill compete, with existing and new
products being developed by our competitors. Sohtleese competitors are pursuing the developmephafmaceuticals that target the same
diseases and conditions that our research andagaaeht programs target.

Even if we are successful in developing our proaacididates, the resulting products would compdte awariety of established drugs
the areas of our targeted CNS therapeutic indisati®ur potential products for the treatment ofamgphrenia and bipolar disorder would
compete with, among other branded products, Abflifynarketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and (kalPharmaceutical; Fandpt
marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals; SeroquePX®arketed by AstraZeneca; Invegamarketed by Janssen; and Lat@danarketed by
Sunovion. In addition, our product candidatespipraved, will compete with, among other generidgpaychotic products, haloperidol,
risperidone, quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapine.

In addition, the companies described above and ethrapetitors may have a variety of drugs in depeient or awaiting FDA approval
that could reach the market and become establisbiede we have a product to sell. Our competitcaly also develop alternative therapies
could further limit the market for any drugs that may develop. Many of our competitors are usiggrielogies or methods different or sim
to ours to identify and validate drug targets andiscover novel small molecule drugs. Many of campetitors and their collaborators have
significantly greater experience than we do infthlewing:

» identifying and validating target
e screening compounds against targ
» preclinical and clinical trials of potential pharceatical products; an

» obtaining FDA and other regulatory clearanc

In addition, many of our competitors and their abtirators have substantially greater advantageéeifollowing areas:
» capital resource:
» research and development resour
« manufacturing capabilities; ai

» sales and marketin

Smaller companies also may prove to be significantpetitors, particularly through proprietary resbadiscoveries and collaborative
arrangements with large pharmaceutical and estedalibiotechnology companies. Many of our competit@ve products that have been
approved by the FDA or are in advanced developnWetface competition from other companies, académsiitutions, governmental
agencies and other public and private researchagi@ons for collaborative arrangements with pheceutical and biotechnology companies,
in recruiting and retaining highly qualified scigittand management personnel and for licensesld@ianal technologies. Our competitors,
either alone or with their collaborators, may stk developing technologies or drugs that areeneffiective, safer, and more affordable or
more easily administered than ours and may aclgatent protection or commercialize drugs soonar tie Developments by others may
render our product candidates or our technolodisslete. Our failure to compete effectively coudtvé a material adverse effect on our
business.
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Government Regulation
United States—FDA Process

The research, development, testing, manufactuselifey, promotion, advertising, import and expdistribution and marketing, among
other things, of drug products are extensively l&gd by governmental authorities in the Unitedeand other countries. In the United
States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Fedemd,/Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, andrtglementing regulations. Failure to
comply with the applicable U.S. requirements mayjesct us to administrative or judicial sanctions;lsas FDA refusal to approve pending
NDAs, warning letters, fines, civil penalties, puatl recalls, product seizures, total or partiapsusion of production or distributio
injunctions and/or criminal prosecution.

Drug Approval ProcesNone of our drug product candidates may be markietédte United States until the drug has received F
approval. Such approval can take many years tdroatal may be rejected by the FDA at a numbereysstThe steps required before a drug
may be marketed in the United States generallydethe following:

» completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratbegts, animal studies, and formulation studiezcitordance with the FDA’s Good
Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulatio

» submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitadting, which must become effective before hunimical trials may begin

» performance of adequate and well-controlled &linical trials to establish the safety andaafly of the drug for each proposed
indication;

e submission to the FDA of an NDA after completioratifclinical trials;

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approwabection of the manufacturing facility or fadiis at which the API and finished
drug product are produced and tested to assesdiaaogwith cGMPs

» satisfactory completion of FDA inspections bifical trial sites to assure that data supporthngsafety and effectiveness of produc
candidates has been generated in compliance witldl Gonical Practices; ar

* FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the Unigtdtes

The development and approval process requiresanti@ttime, effort and financial resources, andoaenot be certain that any
approvals for our product candidates will be grdrie a timely basis, if at all.

Pre<linical tests include laboratory evaluation of gwot chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as wedl@nimal studies. The conduct of
pre-clinical tests and formulation of the compoufaistesting must comply with federal regulatiomsl aequirements. The results of the pre-
clinical tests, together with manufacturing infotina and analytical data, are submitted to the Fi3Aart of an IND, which must become
effective before human clinical trials may begim IND will automatically become effective 30 dayteareceipt by the FDA, unless before
that time the FDA raises concerns or questions tatheuconduct of the trial, such as whether hunesearch subjects will be exposed to an
unreasonable health risk. In such a case, the MIDsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding EBAcerns or questions before clinical
trials can proceed. We cannot be sure that subonigdian IND will result in the FDA allowing cling trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve administration of the inu@gational drug to human subjects under the supemviof qualified investigators. Clinic
trials are conducted under protocols detailingabjectives of the study, the parameters to be irsgtbnitoring safety and the effectiveness
criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must beigenl to the FDA as part of a separate submissidhe IND. Further, an Institutional Review
Board, or IRB, for each medical center proposingdonduct the clinical trial must review and apprtive study protocol and
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informed consent information for study subjectsday clinical trial before it commences at thatteenand the IRB must monitor the study
until it is completed. There are also requiremeguatgerning reporting of on-going clinical trials aclchical trial results to public registries.
Study subjects must sign an informed consent faefark participating in a clinical trial.

Clinical trials necessary for product approval tgilly are conducted in three sequential phaseshlbythases may overlap.

» Phase 1 usually involves the initial introdoatiof the investigational drug into a limited paogtidn, typically healthy humans, to
evaluate its shotierm safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharkiaetics and pharmacologic actions, and, if possitd gain a
early indication of its effectivenes

* Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limitedi@at population to (i) evaluate dosage toleramue @ppropriate dosage; (i) identify
possible adverse effects and safety risks; andefigluate preliminarily the efficacy of the druay Epecific targeted indications.
Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conductgdhe sponsor to obtain information prior to begmgnlarger and more expensive
Phase 3 clinical trials

» Phase 3 trials, commonly referred to as pivstiadlies, are undertaken in an expanded patiendgign at multiple, geographically
dispersed clinical trial centers to further evaduelinical efficacy and test further for safetydsing the drug in its final forn

There can be no assurance that Phase 1, Phasthase 3 testing will be completed successfullyiwitimy specified period of time, if at
all. Furthermore, we, the FDA or an IRB may suspeélimical trials at any time on various groundgliding a finding that the subjects or
patients are being exposed to an unacceptablehtresit Moreover, the FDA may approve an NDA fgeraduct candidate, but require that the
sponsor conduct additional clinical trials to funttassess the drug after NDA approval under agmstoval commitment. Post-approval trials
are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical rial

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgiaen an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certaoints. These points may be
prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phasand before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at iotinees may be requested. These
meetings can provide an opportunity for the spotsahare information about the data gathered t®, diar the FDA to provide advice, and for
the sponsor and the FDA to reach an agreementeometkt phase of development. Sponsors typicallythesend of Phase 2 meeting to discuss
their Phase 2 clinical results and present theinpfor the pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial thatytielieve will support approval of the new drug.
A sponsor may request a Special Protocol AssessimeSPA, to reach an agreement with the FDA thafprotocol design, clinical endpoints,
and statistical analyses are acceptable to supggutatory approval of the product candidate withpect to effectiveness in the indication
studied. If such an agreement is reached, it willbcumented and made part of the administrativ@rde and it will be binding on the FDA
except in limited circumstances, such as if the Rextifies a substantial scientific issue essétdiaetermining the safety or effectiveness of
the product after clinical studies begin, or if #mnsor fails to follow the protocol that was agteipon with the FDA. There is no guarantee
that a study will ultimately be adequate to supporapproval even if the study is subject to an SPA

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatymplete additional animal safety studies and ralsst develop additional information
about the chemistry and physical characteristidh®frug and finalize a process for manufactutfiregproduct in accordance with cGMP
requirements. The manufacturing process must babtaypf consistently producing quality batcheshef drug candidate and the manufacturer
must develop methods for testing the quality, puaitd potency of the final drugs. Additionally, appriate packaging must be selected and
tested and stability studies must be conducte@moahstrate that the drug candidate does not undergeceptable deterioration over its shelf
life.
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Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of pre-clinical studiesl @f clinical studies, together with
other detailed information, including information the manufacture and composition of the drugsalenitted to the FDA in the form of an
NDA requesting approval to market the product foe or more indications. An NDA must be accompambiga significant user fee, which
waived for the first NDA submitted by a qualifyisgnall business.

The testing and approval process requires subataintie, effort and financial resources. The FDA vaview the NDA and may deem it
to be inadequate to support approval, and we cammetire that any approval will be granted on @lgrbasis, if at all. The FDA may also re
the application to the appropriate advisory comemnittypically a panel of clinicians, for reviewadwation and a recommendation as to whethe
the application should be approved. The FDA ishmotnd by the recommendations of the advisory cotemibut it typically follows such
recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA inspects the fgcibr the facilities at which the drug and/or d@stive pharmaceutical ingredient is
manufactured and will not approve the product uthe manufacturing is in compliance with cGMPsh# FDA evaluates the NDA and the
manufacturing facilities are deemed acceptablel-ih& may issue an approval letter, or in some caseemplete Response Letter. The
approval letter authorizes commercial marketinthefdrug for specific indications. As a conditidiNDA approval, the FDA may require
post-marketing testing and surveillance to mortierdrug’s safety or efficacy, or impose other dtods. A Complete Response Letter
indicates that the review cycle of the applicaimnomplete and the application is not ready f@rapal. A Complete Response Letter may
require additional clinical data and/or additiookhical trial(s), and/or other significant, exparesand time-consuming requirements related tc
clinical trials, pre-clinical studies or manufadéhg. Even if such additional information is submitf the FDA may ultimately decide that the
NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. ®&bm clinical trials is not always conclusive ahéd FDA may interpret data differently th
we or our collaborators interpret data. Alterndiivéhe FDA could also approve the NDA with a RBkaluation and Mitigation Strategy to
mitigate risks of the drug, which could include roadion guides, physician communication plans,lements to assure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registoesther risk minimization tools. Once the FDA emes a drug, the FDA may withdraw
product approval if on-going regulatory requirensesite not met or if safety problems occur afteqtteeluct reaches the market. In addition,
the FDA may require testing, including Phase dicéihtrials, and surveillance programs to moniter safety effects of approved products that
have been commercialized, and the FDA has the ptoyarevent or limit further marketing of a prodibetsed on the results of these post-
marketing programs or other information.

Post-Approval Requirementafter a drug has been approved by the FDA for ¢hke FDA may require that certain post-approval
requirements be satisfied, including the condu@dafitional clinical studies. In addition, certaimanges to an approved product, such as a
new indications, making certain manufacturing ctesn@r making certain additional labeling claints, subject to further FDA review and
approval. Before a company can market productadditional indications, it must obtain additionppaovals from the FDA, typically a new
NDA. Obtaining approval for a new indication gerigreequires that additional clinical studies bandacted. A company cannot be sure-
any additional approval for new indications for gmpduct candidate will be approved on a timelyihas at all.

If post-approval conditions are not satisfied, Bi®A may withdraw its approval of the drug. In adutit holders of an approved NDA are
required to (i) report certain adverse reactionthéoFDA and maintain pharmacovigilance progranysréactively look for these adverse
events; (ii) comply with certain requirements canégg advertising and promotional labeling for theioducts; and (iii) continue to have
quality control and manufacturing procedures canfts cGMPs after approval. The FDA periodicallydasts the sponsor’s records related to
safety reporting and/or manufacturing facilitiedieh includes assessment of on-going compliance e&MPs. Accordingly, manufacturers
must continue to expend time, money and efforh@édrea of production and quality control to mamta&GMP compliance. We intend to use
third-party manufacturers to produce our produttslinical and commercial quantities, and futuredHRspections may identify compliance
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issues at the facilities of our contract manufatsithat may disrupt production or distributionyequire substantial resources to correct. In
addition, discovery of problems with a product afipproval may result in restrictions on a prodaoenufacturer or holder of an approved
NDA, including recall of the product from the marke withdrawal of approval of the NDA for that @yt

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivifgpending upon the timing, duration and specificB[@A approval of the use of our
drugs, some of our U.S. patents may be eligibldifiated patent term extension under the Drug P@oenpetition and Patent Term Restora
Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amesaisy The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a pagsitdration term of up to five
years as compensation for patent term lost dunindyxt development and the FDA regulatory revieacpss. However, patent term restore
cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyotaodal of 14 years from the product’s approvded@he patent term restoration period is
generally one-half the time between the effectiaeedf an IND and the submission date of an NDAs phe time between the submission dats
of an NDA and the approval of that application. Yoihe patent applicable to an approved drug isbddidor the extension and the extension
must be requested prior to expiration of the pafEm¢ USPTO, in consultation with the FDA, revieavgl approves the application for any
patent term extension or restoration. In the futueintend to apply for restorations of patenttéor some of our currently owned or licensed
patents to add patent life beyond their currentratipn date, depending on the expected lengtHimital trials and other factors involved in 1
submission of the relevant NDA.

Data and market exclusivity provisions under theCRDalso can delay the submission or the approvaediin applications. The FDCA
provides a five-year period of non-patent dataesiuity within the United States to the first ajgpglnt to gain approval of an NDA for a new
chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entityhié FDA has not previously approved any other davg containing the same active moiety,
which is the molecule or ion responsible for theaacof the drug substance. During the exclusipigyiod, the FDA may not accept for review
an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, &0&(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for &eotversion of such drug where the
applicant does not own or have a legal right oémexfice to all the data required for approval. H@vean application may be submitted after
four years if it contains a certification of patémealidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also pides three years of marketing exclusivity for
an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existMA if new clinical investigations, other than biaalability studies, conducted or
sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the F& ®ssential to the approval of the applicationgkample, for new indications, dosage
strengths of an existing drug. This three-yearsielty covers only the conditions associated il new clinical investigations and does not
prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(RDAs for drugs containing the original active agdfive-year and thregear exclusivit
will not delay the submission or approval of a NIDA; however, an applicant submitting a full NDAowld be required to conduct, or obtain a
right of reference to all of the pre-clinical stesli adequate and well-controlled clinical trialsessary to demonstrate safety and effectivenes:

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,witbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatsogoverning clinical trials and
commercial sales and distribution of our produdtiether or not we obtain FDA approval for a progdua must obtain approval by the
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign coigstbefore we can commence clinical trials and @ygdrof foreign countries or economic
areas, such as the European Union, before we megetrroducts in those countries or areas. Theoaapprocess and requirements gover
the conduct of clinical trials, product licensimgicing and reimbursement vary greatly from plazplace, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.
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In the European Economic Area, or EEA, which is pdsed of the 27 member states of the EuropeanriJoioMember States, plus
Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein, medicinal pradwan only be commercialized after obtaining akdtng Authorization, or MA. There &
two types of MAs:

*  Community MAs—These are issued by the Eurog@ammission through the Centralized Procedure, basdte opinion of the
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human UseCotMP, of the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, ane valid througho!
the entire territory of the EEA. The Centralized&&dure is mandatory for certain types of produsttsh as biotechnology
medicinal products, orphan medicinal products, medicinal products indicated for the treatment 8, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes, aatoune and viral diseases. The Centralized Proegduwptional for products containi
a new active substance not yet authorized in thé; Ed products that constitute a significant theratic, scientific or technical
innovation; or for products that are in the inté#public health in the European Unic

* National MA—These are issued by the competent authoritidseoftember States of the EEA and only cover theipeetive
territory, and are available for products not fajliwithin the mandatory scope of the CentralizestPdure. Where a product has
already been authorized for marketing in a MemltateSof the EEA, this National MA can be recognirednother Member State
through the Mutual Recognition Procedure. If thedorct has not received a National MA in any Mentbiate at the time of
application, it can be approved simultaneouslydrious Member States through the Decentralizeddeiuwre. Under the
Decentralized Procedure, an identical dossierhsndttied to the competent authorities of each ofMleenber States in which the
MA is sought, one of which is selected by the agapit as the Reference Member State. The competthuray of the Reference
Member State prepares a draft assessment rebeftaummary of the product characteristics, o€ S&hd a draft of the labeling
and package leaflet, which are sent to the othenbéz States (referred to as the Member States @uentefor their approval. If t
Member States Concerned raise no objections, lasadpotential serious risk to public health, te #issessment, SPC, labeling or
packaging proposed by the Reference Member Skegyrbduct is subsequently granted a National Mallithe Member States
(i.e., in the Reference Member State and the Mei8tses Concernec

Under the above described procedures, before gratite MA, the EMA or the competent authoritieshef Member States of the EEA
assess the risk-benefit balance of the produdhemasis of scientific criteria concerning its diyakafety and efficacy. As in the United States
it may be possible in foreign countries to obtajpeaiod of market and/or data exclusivity that vebloave the effect of postponing the entry
the marketplace of a competitor’s generic prodiaat.example, if any of our products receive marigtipproval in the EEA, we expect they
will benefit from eight years of data exclusivitydaten years of marketing exclusivity. An additibnan-cumulative one-year period of
marketing exclusivity is possible if during the aa&ixclusivity period (the first eight years of th&year marketing exclusivity period), we
obtain an authorization for one or more new theméipeéndications that are deemed to bring a sigaiii clinical benefit compared to existing
therapies. The data exclusivity period begins endéte of the product’s first marketing authorizatin the European Union and prevents
generics from relying on the marketing authorizatimlder’s pharmacological, toxicological and alalidata for a period of eight years. After
eight years, a generic product application mayuimrstted and generic companies may rely on the etiguty authorization holder’s data.
However, a generic cannot launch until two yeatesx |éor a total of 10 years after the first mankgtauthorization in the European Union of the
innovator product), or three years later (or altotd 1 years after the first marketing authoriaatin the European Union of the innovator
product) if the marketing authorization holder absamarketing authorization for a new indicatiotwsignificant clinical benefit within the
eight-year data exclusivity period. In Japan, aadpcts may be eligible for eight years of datausigity. There can be no assurance that we
will qualify for such regulatory exclusivity, or &hsuch exclusivity will prevent competitors froeeging approval solely on the basis of their
own studies.

When conducting clinical trials in the European éimiwe must adhere to the provisions of the Eunopérdon Clinical Trials Directive
and the laws and regulations of the European UNiember States implementing them.
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These provisions require, among other things,ttr@prior authorization of an Ethics Committee #melcompetent Member State authority is
obtained before commencing the clinical trial.

Pricing and Reimbursemer

In the United States and internationally, salegrofiucts that we market in the future, and ouritgktib generate revenues on such sales,
are dependent, in significant part, on the avditgtnf adequate coverage and reimbursement frard-fmarty payors, such as state and federal
governments, managed care providers and privabeanse plans. Private insurers, such as healthtem@ince organizations and managed car
providers, have implemented castiting and reimbursement initiatives and likelylwontinue to do so in the future. These inclugtablishing
formularies that govern the drugs and biologics il be offered and the out-of-pocket obligatiamfsmember patients for such products. We
may need to conduct pharmacoeconomic studies tousnate the cost-effectiveness of our productédionulary coverage and
reimbursement. Even with such studies, our produétg be considered less safe, less effective srdest-effective than existing products, anc
third-party payors may not provide coverage anchbeirsement for our product candidates, in whol@ qart.

In addition, particularly in the United States ancreasingly in other countries, we are requiregdrtmvide discounts and pay rebates to
state and federal governments and agencies in cbonevith purchases of our products that are reirsdd by such entities. It is possible that
future legislation in the United States and otlheisglictions could be enacted to potentially impaanbursement rates for the products we are
developing and may develop in the future and cfurddher impact the levels of discounts and rebpted to federal and state government
entities. Any legislation that impacts these aadd impact, in a significant way, our abilitygenerate revenues from sales of products t
successfully developed, we bring to market.

Political, economic and regulatory influences angjacting the health care industry in the Unitealt&t to fundamental changes. There
have been, and we expect there will continue tddagslative and regulatory proposals to changéhtadth care system in ways that could
significantly affect our future business. For exdenthe Patient Protection and Affordable Care Astamended by the Health Care and
Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or celttively, the PPACA, enacted in March 2010, suligthy changes the way health care is
financed by both governmental and private insurnsong other cost containment measures, PPACA listab:

e an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufamures or imports certain branded prescriptiargsl and biologic agent

* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discourgrpm, in which pharmaceutical manufacturers whdwashave their drugs
covered under Part D must offer discounts to diigiieneficiaries during their coverage gap perawdhe donut hole; ar

» anew formula that increases the rebates a manuéachust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Proc

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States sinceRAER was enacted, which, among
other things, potentially reduce Medicare paymémisroviders by up to 2% per fiscal year.

Sales and Marketing

The FDA regulates all advertising and promotionvéttds for products under its jurisdiction priar &nd after approval, including
standards and regulations for direct-to-consumeerdiding, dissemination of off-label informatiandustry-sponsored scientific and
educational activities and promotional activitingdlving the Internet. Drugs may be marketed onlytfie approved indications and in
accordance with the provisions of the approvedllahether, if there are any modifications to thre@l including changes in indications,
labeling, or
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manufacturing processes or facilities, we may bgired to submit and obtain FDA approval of a newsupplemental NDA, which may
require us to collect additional data or condudtitiahal pre-clinical studies and clinical trialzailure to comply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqityblenforcement action by the FDA, corrective adiging, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availabldtie FDA.

Physicians may prescribe legally available drugsuf®s that are not described in the drug’s lagelimd that differ from those tested by
us and approved by the FDA. Such off-label usesanmmon across medical specialties, and oftenatedl@hysician’s belief that the off-label
use is the best treatment for the patient. The EDés not regulate the behavior of physicians iir tf@ice of treatments, but FDA regulations
do impose stringent restrictions on manufacturesshmunications regarding off-label uses. Failuredmply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqityblenforcement action by the FDA, corrective adiging, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availablghe FDA.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon obtaining marketing ati#tation from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govermiragketing authorization, pricing and reimbursememy widely from country to country.

We may also be subject to various federal and tate pertaining to health care “fraud and abuseluding anti-kickback laws and
false claims laws. Anti-kickback laws make it illddor a prescription drug manufacturer to solioffer, receive, or pay any remuneration in
exchange for, or to induce, the referral of businesluding the purchase or prescription of aipaldr drug. Due to the breadth of the statuton
provisions, the absence of guidance in the formegélations, and very few court decisions addrgssidustry practices, it is possible that our
practices might be challenged under anti-kickbac&imilar laws. False claims laws prohibit anyoreni knowingly and willingly presenting,
or causing to be presented, for payment to thimtyg@ayors (including Medicare and Medicaid) claimsrfeimbursed drugs or services that
false or fraudulent, claims for items or servicesprovided as claimed, or claims for medically eoessary items or services. Our activities
relating to the sale and marketing of our produtdy be subject to scrutiny under these laws.

Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punighallcriminal and/or civil sanctions, includingdmand civil monetary penalties, the
possibility of exclusion from federal health caregrams (including Medicare and Medicaid) and cosmintegrity agreements, which impc
among other things, rigorous operational and moinigorequirements on companies. Similar sanctionsenalties also may be imposed upor
executive officers and employees, including crirhBanctions against executive officers under thealed “responsible corporate officer”
doctrine, even in situations where the executifie@f did not intend to violate the law and waswaee of any wrongdoing. Given the penal
that may be imposed on companies and individualsrivicted, allegations of such violations oftesulein settlements even if the company or
individual being investigated admits no wrongdoigttlements often include significant civil sangs, including fines and civil monetary
penalties, and corporate integrity agreementsielfgovernment was to allege or convict us or oecetive officers of violating these laws, our
business could be harmed. In addition, privateviddials have the ability to bring similar actio@ur activities could be subject to challenge
for the reasons discussed above and due to thd boope of these laws and the increasing attebgorg given to them by law enforcement
authorities. Further, there are an increasing nurabstate laws that require manufacturers to nrakerts to states on pricing and marketing
information. Many of these laws contain ambiguitasso what is required to comply with the lawsvéai the lack of clarity in laws and their
implementation, our reporting actions could be sabjo the penalty provisions of the pertinentestaithorities.

Description of the Merger and Private Placement ilAugust 2013

Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dateplist 23, 2013, or the Merger Agreement, by andngn@neida Resources Corp.,
which we refer to as the Company, we, our andTis;ihc., a Delaware
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corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Camy or Merger Sub; and Intra-Cellular Therapies,,la Delaware corporation, which we
refer to as ITIl; Merger Sub merged with and intg ¥ith ITI remaining as the surviving entity andvlolly-owned operating subsidiary of the
Company. This transaction is referred to througltbistreport as the “Merger.” The Merger was efferon August 29, 2013, upon the filing
of a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary citstof the State of Delaware. As part of the Mertjdrchanged its name to ITI, Inc.

Immediately following the Merger, a newly organiaelolly-owned subsidiary of the Company named ‘dr@tellular Therapies, Inc.tr
Name Change Merger Sub, merged with and into thepaay, leaving the Company as the surviving copmmaWe refer to this transactic
as the “Name Change Merger.” In connection withNlaene Change Merger, we relinquished our corparatee “Oneida Resources Corp.”
and assumed in its place the name “Intra-Celluterapies, Inc.” The Name Change Merger and namegehlaecame effective on August 29,
2013, upon the filing of a Certificate of Ownershipd Merger with the Secretary of State of theeStdDelaware.

At the effective time of the Merger, or the EffeetiTime, the legal existence of Merger Sub ceasddeach share of ITI common stock
and each share of ITI preferred stock that waesund outstanding immediately prior to the Effexflime was automatically exchanged for
0.5 shares of our common stock, which we refesttha Exchange. We issued an aggregate of 22,134l&tes of our common stock upon
such exchange of the outstanding shares of ITI comstock and preferred stock. In addition, at tffedfive Time, we assumed ITI's 2003
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, or the 2003t dicentive Plan, and all options to purchaseddinmon stock then outstanding under the
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, and such options becaxeecisable for an aggregate of 1,462,380 shdresr&common stock, subject to the
vesting and other terms of such options. The vgsifrsuch options was not accelerated as a rektiiedvierger. At the Effective Time, we a
assumed the outstanding warrant to purchase IThoamstock, and such warrant became exercisable8@2 shares of our common stock.

Immediately following the Effective Time, pursudatthe terms of a Redemption Agreement dated Aug@is?013, or the Redemption
Agreement, by and among the Company and its theneqtisole stockholder, we completed the closing rddemption of 5,000,000 shares of
our common stock, or the Redemption, from our tbement sole stockholder in consideration of $60,(us professional costs related to the
transaction that were approximately $20,000. TBO® 000 shares constituted all of the issued atstanding shares of our capital stock, on &
fully-diluted basis, immediately prior to the Merge

Upon completion of the Merger and the Redemptibe former stockholders of ITI held 100% of the tansling shares of our capital
stock. Unless otherwise indicated in this repdttsizare and per share figures reflect the exchafigach share of ITI common stock and eact
share of ITI preferred stock then outstanding f&rghares of our common stock at the Effective Time

As a condition to the Merger, we entered into atemnity Agreement with our former sole officer aticector, or the Indemnity
Agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to indermsfyh former officer and director for actions takgrhim in his official capacities relating
to the consideration, approval and consummaticheMerger and certain related transactions.

The Merger was accounted for as a capital trarwadtipon the effectiveness of the Merger, the Camijsabusiness became the
operation of ITI and its business. Immediatelydwling the Effective Time, our board of directordjigh immediately prior to the Effective
Time consisted of Samir N. Masri as our sole doeappointed Sharon Mates, Ph.D., who was Chairfgasident and Chief Executive
Officer of ITI, as our Chairman, President and Chieecutive Officer, to serve on our board of dices with Mr. Masri. At the Effective Tim
Mr. Masri resigned from all of his positions asddficer of the Company. In addition, immediatelyiéaving the Effective Time, our board of
directors appointed Lawrence J. Hineline, who viies\tice President of Finance, Chief Financial @Gffiand Secretary of ITl, as our Vice
President of Finance, Chief
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Financial Officer and Secretary; Allen A. FienbePip.D., who was the Vice President of Business gweent of ITI, as our Vice President
Business Development; Lawrence P. Wennogle, Piiib,was the Vice President, Drug Discovery of Bd,our Vice President, Drug
Discovery; and Kimberly E. Vanover, Ph.D., who wias Vice President, Clinical Development of ITl,as Vice President, Clinical
Development. On September 9, 2013, which was #heeath day following the date that we filed witle tBEC and transmitted to our sole
stockholder prior to the Merger, a Schedule 14¢dorting a change in the majority of our direct@hkristopher Alafi, Ph.D., Richard Lerner,
M.D., Joel S. Marcus and Sir Michael Rawlins, M.BRCP, FMedSci, were appointed to our board ofctiins to serve on our board of
directors with Dr. Mates, and Mr. Mastri resigneahfrour board of directors as of such date. EadbroMates, Dr. Alafi, Dr. Lerner,

Mr. Marcus, and Sir Michael were directors of Ifrimediately prior to the Merger. In addition, in dary 2014, Rory B. Riggs and Robert L.
Van Nostrand joined our board of directors. Sir Iiel resigned from our board of directors in Noven2014.

Prior to the Merger, ITI sold to accredited investapproximately $60.0 million of its shares of enon stock, or 18,889,307 shares at a
price of $3.1764 per share, which included $15.aniin principal and $0.8 million in accrued imgst from the conversion of ITI's then
outstanding convertible promissory notes, or Nofés.refer to this transaction as the Private Pla#rand the number of shares stated in the
preceding sentence does not reflect the ExchantpeiMerger. The price per share in the Privated?tgent, as adjusted for the Exchange it
Merger, would be $6.3528 per share of our post-ecgmmon stock. Also, ITI granted the investorthim Private Placement registration
rights requiring ITI or any successor to registarse shares of ITI common stock (which were excedrigr shares of our common stock, al
with the rest of the outstanding shares of ITI tdtock, except for dissenting shares, at thedsffe Time) for public resale, as described in
more detail in the discussion in our Proxy Statenfienthe 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders untegrtain Relationships and Related
Party Transactions — Agreements with StockholddRegistration Rights Agreement” that is incorpodaby reference into Item 13 of this
report. The then existing stockholders of ITI wignesed to become parties to the registration riggteement also became entitled to such
registration rights, subject to specified differesén the agreement between the rights of new fokeand existing stockholders. The existing
Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmeieimeand among ITI and the investors listed timmated as of October 25, 2007, as
amended, was terminated at the Effective Time.Hitieate Placement closed immediately prior to thegf of a Certificate of Merger with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, onuatig9, 2013.

Employees

As of March 1, 2015, we employed 26 employees,f2Bhmm were full-time. To successfully develop alung candidates, we must be
able to attract and retain highly skilled personiéd anticipate hiring additional employees forei@sh and development, clinical and
regulatory affairs and general and administratité/dies over the next few years. In addition, iwgend to use clinical research organizations
and third parties to perform our clinical studiesl ananufacturing.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

As a company with less than $1.0 billion in revedueng our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “egieg growth company” as defined in
the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBSehacted in April 2012. An emerging growth comparay take advantage of reduced
reporting requirements that are otherwise appleabpublic companies. These provisions includé gbe not limited to:

* not being required to comply with the audittiestation requirements of Section 404 of the SabaDxley Act of 2002, or
Sarbane-Oxley Act;

» reduced disclosure obligations regarding exeewtompensation in our periodic reports, proxyestents and registration
statements; an
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» exemptions from the requirements of holdingabinding advisory vote on executive compensatimhstockholder approval of
any golden parachute payments not previously ajsok

We may take advantage of these provisions for diwéoyears after the first sale of our common ggsecurities pursuant to an effective
registration statement under the Securities Act.i@itial registration statement under the Secesithct, providing for the resale of up to
21,961,496 shares of our common stock by the gedliockholders named therein, became effectiveege®ber 18, 2013. However, if certain
events occur prior to the end of such five yeaigagiincluding if we become a “large acceleratéerfi our annual gross revenues exceed $1
billion or we issue more than $1 billion of non-eentible debt in any three year period, we wouldseeto be an emerging growth company
prior to the end of such five year period.

We may choose to take advantage of some but not #ikese reduced burdens. We have taken advaotagetain of the reduced
disclosure obligations, which include reduced eXgewcompensation disclosure in this report, ang elact to take advantage of other redu
burdens in future filings. As a result, the infotioa that we provide to our stockholders may béedént than you might receive from other
public reporting companies in which you hold equrtierests.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies edaydadopting new or revised accounting standantifsuch time as those
standards apply to private companies. However,ave lirrevocably elected not to avail ourselveshif extended transition period for
complying with new or revised accounting standauad, therefore, we will be subject to the same aerevised accounting standards as othe
public companies that are not emerging growth congsa
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Except for the historical information contained &igr, this report contains forwarlboking statements that involve risks and uncetiag
These statements include projections about ourwaaiag and finances, plans and objectives for therg, future operating and economic
performance and other statements regarding futemgomance. These statements are not guarantefesuné performance or events. C
actual results could differ materially from thosealissed in this report. Factors that could causeantribute to these differences include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in the follgngection, as well as those discussed in Partdml7 entitled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” and elsewhere throughout this report.

You should consider carefully the following riskttas, together with all of the other informatiarciuded or incorporated by reference
this report. If any of the following risks, eith@ione or taken together, or other risks not preseknown to us or that we currently believe to
not be significant, develop into actual eventsnther business, financial condition, results of i@bens or prospects could be materially
adversely affected. If that happens, the marketepoif our common stock could decline, and stocldnslthay lose all or part of their
investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

We currently do not have, and may never have, amyducts that generate significant revenues.

We have a limited operating history on which toleate our business and prospects. To date, wer@vgenerated any product reven
from our product candidates currently in developim@fe cannot guarantee that any of our productidates currently in development will
ever become marketable products.

We must demonstrate that our drug candidates waitigfrous standards of safety and efficacy foirtmtended uses before the FDA and
other regulatory authorities in the European Urdad elsewhere will approve them for commercial@atSignificant additional research,
preclinical testing and clinical testing is requitgefore we can file applications with the FDA tiner regulatory authorities for premarket
approval of our drug candidates. In addition, tmpete effectively, our drugs must be easy to adstani cost-effective and economical to
manufacture on a commercial scale. We may not aetday of these objectives. ITI-007, our most adeandrug candidate, has just
commenced its first Phase 3 clinical trial in sopiarenia in the fourth quarter of 2014 and we idteninitiate a second Phase 3 clinical trial in
the first half of 2015. In addition, all rights Witespect to 1TI-214, which has advanced into Phadmical trials that we previously granted to
Takeda were recently returned to us in connectibim thie termination of the Takeda License Agreem@fe intend to continue the
development of ITI-214 for the treatment of CNS atiter disorders, and we are in the process afingfiour strategy for the PDEZ1 inhibitor
program. We cannot be certain that the clinicakdtgyment of these or any other drug candidatesddlipical testing or clinical development
will be successful, that we will receive the regatg approvals required to commercialize them at #my of our other research and drug
discovery programs will yield a drug candidate aii for investigation through clinical trials. Qecommercial revenues from our product
candidates currently in development, if any, wélderived from sales of drugs that will not becansketable for several years, if at all.

There is no guarantee that our planned clinical &fs for ITI-007 in schizophrenia or in other indictons will be successful.

In our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, owd fraduct candidate, ITI-007, has demonstrated onvgat sleep maintenance,
antipsychotic efficacy, and clinical signals cotesig with reduction in negative symptoms associatighl schizophrenia, depression and
anxiety, and other symptoms associated with imgasceial function. ITI-007 exhibited antipsychogificacy in a randomized, double-blind,
placebo and active controlled Phase 2 clinical imigpatients with an acutely exacerbated episddeloizophrenia. Our preclinical studies and
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initial clinical trials demonstrate that ITI-007 iahown evidence of addressing the symptoms of@ghienia without causing cardiovascular
and metabolic abnormalities, or motor impairmeRtgther, ITI-007 was shown effective at a dose théinot cause adverse effects displayed
by existing antipsychotic drugs that tend to leadigh rates of noncompliance by the patients wiastmeed these drugs. We are currently
planning confirmatory latestage clinical trials and recently initiated ousfiPhase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia in therth quarter of 201:

The historical rate of failures for product candétain clinical development and late-stage clintdgals is high. While we plan to conduct
further clinical studies in patients with schizophia and other indications, including two Phaséraal trials of ITI-007 in schizophrenia, one
of which we commenced in the fourth quarter of 2Ghére is no guarantee that we will have the siewel of success in these trials as we t
had in our earlier clinical trials, or be succekatiall.

In addition, although we believe that ITI-007 antidw-on compounds may also have clinical utilityindications other than
schizophrenia, such as behavioral disturbancesrnmedtia, bipolar disorder, IED, non-motor disordessociated with Parkinson’s disease,
obsessive compulsive disorder and anxiety disoraledspost-traumatic stress disorder, we have riestrd ITI-007 in Phase 2 clinical trials in
the patient population for these other indicatiasept for ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical tdakigned to evaluate the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 inlthgageriatric subjects and in patients with denfernhcluding Alzheimer’s disease, for
which we announced topline data in the fourth agrasf 2014.

If we do not successfully complete clinical devefamt of ITI-007, we will be unable to market antl peoducts derived from it and to
generate product revenues. Even if we do succéssfuhplete clinical trials for ITI-007 in patientgsith schizophrenia, those results are not
necessarily predictive of results of future pivdtélls that may be needed before we may submi[@A to the FDA for the initial or other
future indications. Of the vast number of drugdé@velopment, only a small percentage result irsthemission of an NDA to the FDA, and
even less result in the NDA ultimately being apgaby the FDA for commercialization.

We are advancing ITI-007 into Phase 3 clinical tt&for the treatment of schizophrenia. Although virave discussed our clinical
development plans with the FDA, the agency mayrakitely determine that our Phase 3 clinical trial@@ non-clinical studies, even if
successfully completed, are not sufficient for rdgtory approval. If we are required to conduct ad¢idnal clinical trials and nor-clinical
studies, our development of I-007 for schizophrenia will be more time-consumiagd costly than we presently anticipate, which woul
have a material adverse effect on our businessutessof operations and financial condition.

In June 2014, we held our end-of-Phase 2 meetitigtive FDA to discuss our plans for initiating Pé&sclinical trials of ITI-007 in
schizophrenia. Following this meeting, we are pedlieg with our Phase 3 development program, in whie plan to conduct two randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical$ of ITI-007 in patients with acutely exacesdshschizophrenia, with over 400 patients in
each trial. We initiated the first Phase 3 clinig@ll in schizophrenia in the fourth quarter ofla0and, subject to finalizing the trial protocols
and arrangements with clinical trial sites, we téo initiate a second Phase 3 clinical triahia first half of 2015. In the first Phase 3 triag
are randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-000ni§ or 40mg) or placebo over a 4-week treatmerdthur, and the primary outcome
measure is change from baseline to Day 28 on tiéSSAtotal score. We currently expect that the seé&rase 3 trial will be conducted for a
6-week treatment duration. Subject to timely emnelht, we anticipate that the results of the fitsade 3 clinical trial of ITBO7 in patients wit
schizophrenia could be available as early as thetauarter of 2015. Even though we believe thatpdanned Phase 3 clinical trials and non-
clinical studies for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, ifcessful, will be sufficient to support our NDAgtFDA may not agree with one or more
aspects of our clinical trial designs, including tturation of the trials, clinical endpoints, cofgr dose ranges, collection of safety data, or
adequacy of our non-clinical studies. If we subamtNDA and the FDA does not agree with our clinaradl non-clinical designs, our
development of ITI-007 in schizophrenia and otneligations may be delayed, and we may incur aduitioosts and devote additional
resources to address any concerns the FDA
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may have with our trial designs. In addition, weyrba required to conduct additional clinical trialsstudies, which could result in additional
delays and costs. There is no assurance that weansilplete the Phase 3 trials and non-clinicalisgidvithin the timeframes and the costs that
we currently expect, or at all, or in a manner thatcceptable to the FDA. Any delays or unplancests resulting from our Phase 3 clinical
trials of ITI-007 in schizophrenia may have a mialexdverse effect on our business, results ofaifmers and financial condition. Even if we
eventually complete Phase 3 clinical testing, stlamiNDA and receive approval of ITI-007, the FDAyrgrant approval contingent on the
performance of costly additional post-approvalichhtrials. The FDA may also approve ITI-007 fomare limited indication or a narrower
patient population than we originally requested] tre FDA may not approve the labeling that wedwaiis necessary or desirable for the
successful commercialization of ITI-007 or our etpeoduct candidates. Any delay in obtaining, @hitity to obtain, applicable regulatory
approval for ITI-007 would delay or prevent comnialization of ITI-007 and would materially advergénpact our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

If the FDA does not agree with our clinical develont plans to advance 11007 for the treatment of schizophrenia and bipoldisorder
with separate, but overlapping, well-controlled mi¢al trials in both indications, our development 6T1-007 for the treatment of bipolar
disorder may be delayed and the costs of our dgwelent of ITI-007 would increase.

In June 2014, we had discussions with the FDA diggrour plans to initiate our Phase 3 clinicalgreon of ITI-007 in schizophrenia.
Following this meeting with the FDA, we are procegdwith Phase 3 development of ITI-007 for theatneent of schizophrenia by conducting
two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlleé$th3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients withudely exacerbated schizophrenia. Subject
to further discussions with the FDA, we plan tdiate separate additional trials in bipolar disortde2015. We expect that the planned trials in
bipolar disorder will overlap in time with the ci@al conduct of the planned trials in schizophrelfi® have not yet discussed our plans to
develop ITI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disardvith the FDA. The FDA may not agree with ounidal development plans for advancing
ITI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disorder, inding our plans to conduct separate well-contradlédcal trials of ITI-007 for the treatment
bipolar disorder that overlap with our Phase 3ictihtrials of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizopnia. Our clinical plans for ITI-007 for the
treatment of bipolar disorder may change basechgrdecussions with the FDA, the relative succesb@ost of our research, preclinical and
clinical development programs, whether we are thknter into future collaborations, and any undeen delays or cash needs. If the FDA
does not agree with our clinical development pfandTI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disordeur development of ITI-007 in this
indication may take longer and be more costly twarcurrently expect, which would have a materialese effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We expect our net losses to continue for at leastesal years and are unable to predict the extehfuture losses or when we will become
profitable, if ever.

We have experienced significant net losses sincénaaption. As of December 31, 2014, we had anmctated deficit of approximate
$88.3 million. We expect to incur net losses oherext several years as we advance our progratnsieunr significant clinical development
costs. We have not received, and do not expeeicive for at least the next several years, argmass from the commercialization of our
product candidates. Substantially all of our re\enio date were from our license and collaboragneement with Takeda and our agreement
with various U.S. governmental agencies and otheigs, including our research and developmenttgram October 2014, we entered into the
Takeda Termination Agreement, which terminatedlisense and collaboration agreement with Takedesyant to which all rights with
respect to ITI214 that we previously granted to Takeda were meito us. We will not, therefore, receive anyHartmilestone payments frc
Takeda and we cannot be certain that we will enteradditional collaboration agreements. To obtawenues from our product candidates
must succeed, either alone or with others, in agirf, obtaining regulatory approval for, and matifiring and marketing drugs with
significant market potential. We may never sucdedtiese activities, and may never generate revetiat are significant enough to achieve
profitability.
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We will require substantial additional funding, wbh may not be available to us on acceptable terorsat all, and, if not so available, may
require us to delay, limit, reduce or cease our ogténs.

We have consumed substantial amounts of capite¢ ©iar inception. Our cash, cash equivalents arestment securities totaled $129.6
million at December 31, 2014. In addition, we ree€linet proceeds of approximately $121.4 milli@nfrthe public offering of shares of our
common stock in March 2015. While we believe that existing cash, cash equivalents and investremirities, together with interest on ci
balances, will be sufficient to fund our operatsgenses and capital expenditure requirementsghrthe end of 2016, the amount and timing
of our actual expenditures will depend upon numeifagtors, including the ongoing status of our phPhase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in
patients with acute exacerbated schizophrenigyrbeess of refining our strategy for the PDE1 iitbibprogram and the continued
development of ITI-214 for the treatment of CNS atiter disorders, and our other planned clinicdl mon-clinical trials. Furthermore, we
anticipate that we will need to secure additionalding to complete additional clinical and non-idai trials, manufacturing and pre-
commercialization activities needed for potent&gulatory approval and commercialization of ITI-08patients with acute exacerbated
schizophrenia, for further development of ITI-0@7 éther indications, and for development of oureotproduct candidates. If the FDA
requires that we perform additional preclinicaldéés or clinical trials, or we experience delaysthrer setbacks in our clinical trials, our
expenses would further increase beyond what wentlyrexpect and the anticipated timing of any pté NDA would likely be delayed.

We intend to use substantially all of the remainiieg proceeds from our public offering completeéabruary 2014 to fund the
completion of two proposed Phase 3 clinical tral$T1-007 in patients with acute exacerbated sopiwrenia, one of which we initiated in the
fourth quarter of 2014; to fund the initiation dher planned clinical and non-clinical trials, inding manufacturing, needed for anticipated
regulatory approval of ITI-007 in patients with éEexacerbated schizophrenia and other potentififiaal indications; and to fund research
and preclinical development of our other productdidates. We intend to use substantially all ofrteeproceeds from our public offering
completed in March 2015 to fund a clinical trialldf-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbesiin dementia; to fund one or more clinica
trials of ITI-007 in bipolar disorder; to fund olifl-007 long acting injectable development progrdmough pre-clinical and early clinical
development; to fund one or more clinical triald Bf007 for the treatment of depression; and todfuesearch and preclinical development of
our other product candidates and the continuatignamufacturing activities in connection with thevelopment of ITI-007. The remaining
proceeds, if any, will be used to fund new and amgoesearch and development activities, generglocate purposes, including general and
administrative expenses, capital expenditures, imgr&apital and prosecution and maintenance ofraalectual property. Accordingly, we
will continue to require substantial additional italpbeyond the net proceeds from the offeringsawtinue our clinical development and
commercialization activities. Because successfueligpment of our product candidates is uncertamave unable to estimate the actual funds
we will require to complete research and develograad commercialize our products under development.

Our future capital requirements will depend on, aadld increase significantly as a result of, m&agtors, including:
» the progress in, and the costs of, our preclirdtadies and clinical trials and other researchdew@lopment program
» the scope, prioritization and number of our redearcd development progran

» the ability of any future collaborators andtaseach the milestones, and other events or dewedats, triggering payments under
any future collaboration agreements or to othenms&e payments under such agreeme

e our ability to enter into new, and to maintain amxysting, collaboration and license agreeme
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» the extent to which any future collaborators abligated to reimburse us for clinical trial ®shder any future collaboration
agreements

» the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enfoigiand defending patent claims and other intellégit@perty rights
» the costs of securing manufacturing arrangementslifdical or commercial productiol
» the costs of preparing applications for regulagpprovals for our product candidat

» the costs of establishing, or contracting $ades and marketing capabilities if we obtain ratpuly clearances to market our product
candidates; an

» the costs associated with litigatic

Until we can generate significant continuing revesiuve expect to satisfy our future cash needsighirour existing cash, cash
equivalents and investment securities, stratedlatworations, private or public sales of our seitesj debt financings, grant funding, or by
licensing all or a portion of our product candidate technology. Turmoil and volatility in the fimngial markets have adversely affected the
market capitalizations of many biotechnology conmesnand generally made equity and debt financingendifficult to obtain. This, coupled
with other factors, may limit our access to additibfinancing. This could have a material adveffeceon our ability to access sufficient
funding. We cannot be certain that additional fagduvill be available to us on acceptable termstall. If we do obtain additional funding
through equity offerings, the ownership of our é&rig stockholders and purchasers of shares of @mnuon stock in any such offering will be
diluted, and the terms of any financing may advgrafect the rights of our stockholders. In addlitj the issuance of additional shares by u
the possibility of such issuance, may cause thé&etarice of our shares to decline. If funds areawailable, we will be required to delay,
reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more ofesearch or development programs or our commizati@n efforts. We also could be
required to seek funds through arrangements withlmaration partners or otherwise that may requgeo relinquish rights to some of our
technologies or product candidates or otherwiseeaty terms unfavorable to us.

Our management has broad discretion over the us@woif cash and we may not use our cash effectivelitich could adversely affect our
results of operations.

Our management has significant flexibility in agpty our cash resources, including the net proc&eds our public offerings completed
in February 2014 and March 2015, and could usesthe=sources for corporate purposes that do nataserour market value, or in ways with
which our stockholders may not agree. We may useash resources for corporate purposes that dgigldta significant return or any return
at all for our stockholders, which could adversafgct our future growth prospects.

Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, is only partay through the clinical trials we anticipate needirto complete before we may be able to
submit an NDA to the FDA. Clinical trials are longexpensive and unpredictable, and there is a higgkrof failure.

Preclinical testing and clinical trials are longpensive and unpredictable processes that cantdpecsto delays. It may take several y¢
to complete the preclinical testing and clinicavelepment necessary to commercialize a drug, alaysler failure can occur at any stage.
Interim results of clinical trials do not necesbapredict final results, and success in preclihieating and early clinical trials does not ensure
that later clinical trials will be successful. Amber of companies in the pharmaceutical and biokeldgy industries have suffered significant
setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even aftenpsing results in earlier trials.

In connection with clinical trials, we face risksat a product candidate may not prove to be efficac patients may die or suffer other
adverse effects for reasons that may or may notlaged to the product candidate being testediebilts may not confirm the positive results
of our earlier preclinical studies and
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clinical trials; and the results may not meet el of statistical significance required by theA=Br other regulatory agencies. If we do not
successfully complete preclinical and clinical depenent, we will be unable to market and sell paiduerived from our product candidates
and to generate product revenues. Even if we doesstully complete clinical trials, those results aot necessarily predictive of results of
additional trials that may be needed before an Nits#y be submitted to the FDA or the FDA may apprineeNDA.

Delays, suspensions and terminations in our clini¢gals could result in increased costs to us, dglour ability to generate product revent
and therefore may have a material adverse effectoom business, results of operations and future gih prospects.

The commencement of clinical trials can be deldged variety of reasons, including delays in: desteating sufficient safety and
efficacy to obtain regulatory approval to commeaaginical trial; reaching agreement on accept#dles with prospective contract research
organizations and clinical trial sites; manufaatgrsufficient quantities of a product candidateagiing clearance from the FDA to commence
clinical trials pursuant to an IND; obtaining irtational review board approval to conduct a clihicial at a prospective clinical trial site; and
patient enrollment, which is a function of manytéas, including the size of the patient populatithre nature of the protocol, the proximity of
patients to clinical trial sites, the availabilf effective treatments for the relevant diseaskthe eligibility criteria for the clinical trial.

Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delagedpended or terminated due to a number of fadtansiding: ongoing discussions w
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desfgour clinical trials or requests by them fopplemental information with respect to our
clinical trial results; failure to conduct clinictilals in accordance with regulatory requiremelutgier than anticipated screening or retention
rates of patients in clinical trials; serious acdeeevents or side effects experienced by partitspand insufficient supply or deficient quality
product candidates or other materials necessampéoconduct of our clinical trials.

Many of these factors may also ultimately leadeaidl of regulatory approval of a current or poi@mroduct candidate. If we
experience delays, suspensions or terminationglimiaal trial, our costs will increase, the conmgial prospects for the related product
candidate will be harmed, and our ability to geteoduct revenues will be delayed.

Safety issues with our product candidates, or wittoduct candidates or approved products of thirdries that are similar to our produc
candidates, could give rise to delays in the redatg approval process, restrictions on labeling product withdrawal after approval.

Problems with product candidates or approved prisduarketed by third parties that utilize the sdnegapeutic target or that belong to
the same therapeutic class as our product candidated adversely affect the development, regwadpproval and commercialization of our
product candidates. In 2012, the FDA released drattance recommending that prospective suicidabgessments be performed in clinical
trials of any drug being developed for a psychiatrdication. Our development programs are focusegsychiatric indications. Our PDE1
program is a novel target and may have unexpeetietyseffects that do not appear until late iniclithdevelopment or after commercial
approval. To date, we have not experienced anyntier@-related serious adverse effects, or SAEdjnical trials for any of our product
candidates; however, some approved products markgtéhird parties for psychiatric indications thiitize different therapeutic targets or are
in a different therapeutic class have experiend®sS As we continue the development and clinigalgrof our product candidates, there can
be no assurance that our product candidates wikxerience any SAEs.

Discovery of previously unknown class effect proldemay prevent or delay clinical development andrmoercial approval of product
candidates or result in restrictions on permisgiisies after their approval, including withdrawatted medicine from the market. Many drugs
acting on the CNS include boxed warnings and prtémasirelated to suicidal behavior or ideationyihg) impairment, somnolence/sedation
and dizziness, discontinuation, weight gain, naulim dependent (type 1) diabetes, cardiovascsite effects, sleep
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disturbances, and motor disturbances. If we orretlaer identify undesirable side effects caugethb mechanisms of action or classes of ou
product candidates or specific product candidates:

* we may be required to conduct additional chihicials or implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitiga Strategies program prior to
approval,

* regulatory authorities may not approve our piccandidates or, as a condition of approval, ireggpecific warnings and
contraindications

» regulatory authorities may withdraw their approefithe product and require us to take our drughafmarket
e we may have limitations on how we promote our d

» sales of products may decrease significal

* we may be subiject to litigation or product lialyildlaims; anc

* our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewinmaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyct or could substantially
increase our commercialization costs and expemsgsh, in turn, could delay or prevent us from gaiag significant revenues from its sale.

Finally, if the FDA determines that a drug may pr@&sa risk of substance abuse, it can recommetigetBbrug Enforcement
Administration that the drug be scheduled undeiGbaetrolled Substances Act. Any failure or delagammencing or completing clinical trie
or obtaining regulatory approvals for our produedidates would delay commercialization of our piciccandidates, and severely harm our
business and financial condition.

If we seek to enter into strategic alliances forrodrug candidates, but fail to enter into and maaih successful strategic alliances, we
have to reduce or delay our drug candidate develeptor increase our expenditures.

An important element of a biotechnology companyategy for developing, manufacturing and commédiaiiey its drug candidates may
be to enter into strategic alliances with pharm&calcompanies or other industry participantsdeamce its programs and enable it to mair
its financial and operational capacity. We may fsigaificant competition in seeking appropriatéaates. If we seek such alliances, we may
not be able to negotiate alliances on acceptabiestdf at all. In addition, these alliances mayubsuccessful. On October 31, 2014, we en
into the Termination Agreement with Takeda, whietntinated the Takeda License Agreement, pursuamhich all rights granted under the
Takeda License Agreement were returned to us. Beek such alliances and then fail to create andtaia suitable alliances, we may have to
limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or mdrewr drug development or research programs. lelget to fund drug development or researct
programs on our own, we will have to increase ogeaditures and will need to obtain additional fungd which may be unavailable or
available only on unfavorable terms.

To the extent we are able to enter into collabovatiarrangements or strategic alliances, we willdeosed to risks related to those
collaborations and alliances.

Biotechnology companies at our stage of developrmemtetimes become dependent upon collaborativaganaents or strategic allian:
to complete the development and commercializatfairug candidates, particularly after the Phast@gesof clinical testing. If we elect to er
into collaborative arrangements or strategic aflée these arrangements may place the developihent drug candidates outside our control,
may require us to relinquish important rights oryro¢herwise be on terms unfavorable to us.
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Dependence on collaborative arrangements or sicadliiances would subject us to a number of rigksluding the risk that:
* we may not be able to control the amount and tinoifigesources that our collaborators may devotaealrug candidate
e our collaborators may experience financial diffi@s;
e we may be required to relinquish important rigbtsch as marketing and distribution rigt

* business combinations or significant changeséollaborator’'s business strategy may also adbeedfect a collaborator’s
willingness or ability to complete its obligationeder any arrangemei

» acollaborator could independently move forwaith a competing drug candidate developed eithéependently or in
collaboration with others, including our competioand

» collaborative arrangements are often terminatezllowed to expire, which would delay the deypeh@nt and may increase the cost
of developing our drug candidat:

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical stuiés that we may announce or publish from time tm& may change as more patient d:
become available.

From time to time, we may announce or publish priglary or interim data from our clinical studieselminary and interim results of a
clinical trial are not necessarily predictive afdl results. Preliminary and interim data are stutitje the risk that one or more of the clinical
outcomes may materially change as patient enrolim@ntinues and more patient data become availalle. result, preliminary and interim
data should be viewed with caution until the fidata are available. Material adverse changes ifinthkedata compared to the interim data
could significantly harm our business prospects.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinicalifils and perform data collection and analysis, whimay result in costs and delays that
prevent us from successfully commercializing ourogiuct candidates

Although we design and manage our current predirgtudies and clinical trials, we do not now hthe ability to conduct clinical trials
for our product candidates on our own. In additimour collaborators, we rely on contract researgjanizations, medical institutions, clinical
investigators, and contract laboratories to perfdata collection and analysis and other aspeasiolinical trials. In addition, we also rely
third parties to assist with our preclinical stiglimcluding studies regarding biological activisafety, absorption, metabolism, and excretic
product candidates.

Our preclinical activities or clinical trials mag lelayed, suspended, or terminated if: the quatigccuracy of the data obtained by the
third parties on whom we rely is compromised duth&r failure to adhere to our clinical protocolsregulatory requirements or if for other
reasons, these third parties do not successfulty cait their contractual duties or fail to meegukatory obligations or expected deadlines, or
these third parties need to be replaced.

If the third parties on whom we rely fail to penforour development costs may increase, our alditybtain regulatory approval, and
consequently, to commercialize our product candslatay be delayed or prevented altogether. Werttlyngse several contract research
organizations to perform services for our prechhigtudies and clinical trials. While we believattthere are numerous alternative sources to
provide these services, in the event that we saek glternative sources, we may not be able ta érttereplacement arrangements without
delays or incurring additional expenses.
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Even if we successfully complete the clinical tisabf one or more of our product candidates, the guat candidates may fail for othe
reasons.

Even if we successfully complete the clinical sifdr one or more of our product candidates, tloelpet candidates may fail for other
reasons, including the possibility that the prodiasididates will:

» falil to receive the regulatory approvals requirednarket them as drug
» be subject to proprietary rights held by otherainéag the negotiation of a license agreement panarketing
» be difficult or expensive to manufacture on a comuiad scale
* have adverse side effects that make their uselesgble; o
» fail to compete with product candidates or otheatments commercialized by our competit
If we are unable to receive the required regulatgprovals, secure our intellectual property rightsimize the incidence of any adverse

side effects or fail to compete with our compestgroducts, our business, financial condition, aeglilts of operations could be materially an
adversely affected.

Following regulatory approval of any of our drug calidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatafyligations and restrictions, which
may result in significant expense and limit our dity to commercialize our potential products.

With regard to our drug candidates, if any, appdolg the FDA or by another regulatory authority, ave held to extensive regulatory
requirements over product manufacturing, labelpagkaging, adverse event reporting, storage, dadiweyt promotion and record keeping.
Regulatory approvals may also be subject to sicauifi limitations on the indicated uses or marketithe drug candidates. Potentially costly
follow-up or postmarketing clinical studies may be required as alitmm of approval to further substantiate safatgfficacy, or to investiga
specific issues of interest to the regulatory axitjhoPreviously unknown problems with the drug diate, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, may resuiestrictions on the marketing of the drug, and dontlude withdrawal of the drug from the
market.

In addition, the law or regulatory policies govergipharmaceuticals may change. New statutory reongints may be enacted or
additional regulations may be enacted that coutdqmt or delay regulatory approval of our drug édates. We cannot predict the likelihood,
nature or extent of adverse government regulatiahrhay arise from future legislation or administr&action, either in the United States or
elsewhere. If we are not able to maintain regujat@mpliance, we might not be permitted to marketdrugs and our business could suffer.

Our product candidates may not gain acceptance ag@ysicians, patients, or the medical communityeteby limiting our potential to
generate revenues, which will undermine our futuggowth prospects

Even if our product candidates are approved forroenaial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authes| the degree of market
acceptance of any approved product candidate bgighps, health care professionals and third-paaiyors, and our profitability and growth
will depend on a number of factors, including:

« our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safatd efficacy

e pricing and cost effectiveness, which may be suligecegulatory control

» our ability to obtain sufficient thi-party insurance coverage or reimbursem
» effectiveness of our or our collaboraf sales and marketing stratey

» relative convenience and ease of administra

« prevalence and severity of any adverse side effantt

« availability of alternative treatment
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If any product candidate that we develop does nmtige a treatment regimen that is at least asflmsleas the current standard of can
otherwise does not provide some additional patienefit over the current standard of care, thatlgpcowill not achieve market acceptance an
we will not generate sufficient revenues to achienditability.

The failure to attract and retain skilled personnahd key relationships could impair our drug develment and commercialization efforts.

We are highly dependent on our senior managemehkeyclinical development, scientific and techhjwarsonnel. Competition for
these types of personnel is intense. The losseo$éhvices of any member of our senior managerokmital development, scientific or
technical staff may significantly delay or prevémt achievement of drug development and other basinbjectives and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating resott$inancial condition. We also rely on consultamsl advisors to assist us in formulating our
strategy. All of our consultants and advisors diteee selfemployed or employed by other organizations, aeg thay have conflicts of intere
or other commitments, such as consulting or adyisontracts with other organizations, that mayaftaeir ability to contribute to us. We
intend to expand and develop new drug candidateswdl need additional funding to grow our busise#@/e will need to hire additional
employees in order to continue our research amitalitrials and to market our drugs when approvidts strategy will require us to recruit
additional executive management and clinical dgulent, regulatory, scientific, technical and saled marketing personnel. There is
currently intense competition for skilled execusvand employees with relevant clinical developmsgigntific, technical and sales and
marketing expertise, and this competition is likelycontinue. The inability to attract and retaiffigient clinical development, scientific,
technical and managerial personnel, due to inteos®getition and our limited resources, would lioritdelay our product development efforts,
which would adversely affect the development of g candidates and commercialization of our pakdrugs and growth of our business.

We may not be able to continue or fully exploit opartnerships with outside scientific and clinicaldvisors, which could impair the progre
of our clinical trials and our research and develognt efforts.

We work with scientific and clinical advisors atg@emic and other institutions who are experts éfigtld of CNS disorders. They advise
us with respect to our clinical trials. These adidsare not our employees and may have other canants that would limit their future
availability to us. If a conflict of interest arsbetween their work for us and their work for d&m@otentity, we may lose their services, which
may impair our reputation in the industry and detas development or commercialization of our pradiandidates.

Relying on thirc-party manufacturers may result in delays in ouriical trials, regulatory approvals and product irgductions.

We have no manufacturing facilities and do not hextensive experience in the manufacturing of diarga designing drug-
manufacturing processes. We have contracted wiitth-gfarty manufacturers to produce, in collabomatigth us, our product candidates,
including ITI-007, for clinical trials. If any ofur product candidates are approved by the FDAlogrategulatory agencies for commercial sale
we may need to amend our contracts with our cumamufacturers or contract with other third part@smanufacture them in larger quantities.
While we believe that there are alternative souaseslable to manufacture our product candidatethe event that we seek such alternative
sources, we may not be able to enter into replaneareangements without delays or additional exgares. We cannot estimate these delays
or costs with certainty but, if they were to ocdtiey could cause a delay in our development antheercialization efforts. We have not
entered into a long-term agreement with our curtleind-party manufacturers or with any alternatpgiers. Although we intend to do so prior
to any commercial launch of a product that is appdoby the FDA in order to ensure that we maingaiaquate supplies of commercial drug
product, we may be unable to enter into such ageatsror do so on commercially reasonable terms;iwtnuld delay a product launch or
subject our commercialization efforts to significanpply risk.
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Manufacturers of our product candidates are obligazperate in accordance with FDA-mandated cuigent! manufacturing practices,
or cGMPs. In addition, the facilities used by oantract manufacturers or other third party manuwfiees to manufacture our product candid
must be approved by the FDA pursuant to inspectioaiswill be conducted after we request regulatggroval from the FDA. A failure of
any of our current or future contract manufactutersstablish and follow cGMPs and to document thgherence to such practices may le:
significant delays in clinical trials or in obtag regulatory approval of product candidates ontiemate launch of products based on our
product candidates into the market. Failure bycaurrent or future third-party manufacturers oraussamply with applicable regulations could
result in sanctions being imposed on us, includiimgs, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of tgevernment to grant pre-market approval of
drugs, delays, suspension or withdrawal of appey)\saizures or recalls of products, operatingiotgns, and criminal prosecutions.

We will need to continue to manage our organizatiand we may encounter difficulties with our stafijnand any future transitions, which
could adversely affect our results of operations.

We will need to manage our operations and facsliéfectively in order to advance our drug develeptiprograms (including ITI-007
and ITI-214), facilitate any future collaborations, andqu# other development activities. It is possibé tur infrastructure may be inadeqt
to support our future efforts and growth. In partée, we may have to develop internal sales, manfgeaind distribution capabilities if we
decide to market any drug that we may successfigyelop. We may not successfully manage our operatind, accordingly, may not achit
our research, development, and commercializati@isgo

Our ability to generate product revenues will berdnished if our products do not receive coveragerfr payors or sell for inadequate prices,
or if patients are unable to obtain adequate levefseimbursement.

Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatraf their conditions generally rely on third-ygpayors to reimburse all or part of
the costs associated with their prescription dragequate coverage and reimbursement from govertahleealth care programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors iscatito new product acceptance. Coverage decisitmsdepend upon clinical and
economic standards that disfavor new drug produbtn more established or lower cost therapeuticradtives are already available or
subsequently become available. Even if we obtaueage for any approved products, the resultingplarsement payment rates might not be
adequate or may require co-payments that patientsihacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to arsg products we may market unless
coverage is provided and reimbursement is adedoatever a significant portion of the cost of theseducts.

In addition, the market for any products for whiga may receive regulatory approval will depend sigantly on access to third-party
payors’ drug formularies, or lists of medications fhich third-party payors provide coverage arichbeirsement. The industry competition to
be included in such formularies often leads to deanml pricing pressures on pharmaceutical compaaiss, third-party payors may refuse to
include a particular branded drug in their formidaror otherwise restrict patient access to a lmdmlug when a less costly generic equivalen
or other alternative is available.

Third-party payors, whether foreign or domesticvggomental or commercial, are developing incredgiagphisticated methods of
controlling health care costs. In addition, in Uwited States, no uniform policy of coverage anchbeirsement for drug products exists among
third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimdament for drug products can differ significantigri payor to payor. As a result, the
coverage determination process is often a toresuming and costly process that will requireaugrbvide scientific and clinical support for 1
use of our product candidates to each payor seghgratith no assurance that coverage will be oletgirif we are unable to obtain coverage of,
and adequate payment levels for, our products frord-party payors, physicians may limit how muctuader what circumstances they will
prescribe or administer them and patients may wke¢t purchase them. This in turn could affectahility to successfully commercialize any
approved products and thereby adversely impacpafitability, results of operations, financial abtion, and future success.
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In the future, if we have products that are appraliéhealth care legislation may make it more diffitdo receive revenues from tho

products.

In both the United States and certain foreign ficigons, there have been a number of legislatheragulatory proposals in recent years
to change the health care system in ways that émgdct our ability to sell our products profitablgy March 2010, the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health @aceEducation Affordability Reconciliation Act, oollectively, PPACA, became law in
the United States. PPACA substantially changedvidae health care is financed by both governmentdimivate insurers and significantly
affects the health care industry. Among the provisiof PPACA of importance to our potential produamdidates are the following:

imposition of an annual, nondeductible fee on amytyethat manufactures or imports certain brangiegscription drugs and biolog
agents, apportioned among these entities accotditigeir market share in certain government hezdtle programs

an increase in the statutory minimum rebatesmaufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug RePabgram, retroactive to
January 1, 2010, to 23% and 13% of the average faetower price for most branded and generic druegpectively

expansion of health care fraud and abuse lmekding the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickk&®tatute, new government
investigative powers, and enhanced penalties focompliance

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discourgrar, in which manufacturers must agree to offéb f®int-of-sale discounts off
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs taldégoeneficiaries during their coverage gap perasda condition for the
manufacture’s outpatient drugs to be covered under MedicareDP:

extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebatbiliy to covered drugs dispensed to individualsovane enrolled in Medicaid
managed care organizatiol

expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicajorograms by, among other things, allowing statesffer Medicaid coverage to
additional individuals beginning in 2014 and by iaddnew mandatory eligibility categories for centndividuals with income at «
below 133% of the Federal Poverty Level, therebgptially increasing manufactur’ Medicaid rebate liability

expansion of the entities eligible for discountsiemnthe Public Health Service pharmaceutical pgigrogram

new requirements to report certain financishagements with physicians and teaching hospitatfjding reporting any “payments
or transfers of value” made or distributed to prigses, teaching hospitals and other health caseigers and reporting any
ownership and investment interests held by physscand their immediate family members and applegbbup purchasing
organizations during the preceding calendar y

a new requirement to annually report drug samplasrhanufacturers and distributors provide to ptigies; anc

a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Researchultestd oversee, identify priorities in, and condummparative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such resea

Many of the details regarding the implementatio®BACA are yet to be determined and, at this titmemains unclear what the full
effect that PPACA will have on our business. Asttime, it remains unclear whether there will bg fumther changes made to PPACA,
whether in part or in its entirety. Some statesshiadicated that they intend not to implement dersactions of PPACA, and some members o
the U.S. Congress are still working to repeal PPAG/& cannot predict whether these challenges wiitioue or other proposals will be made
or adopted, or what impact these efforts may hawveso
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In addition, in many foreign countries, particwatthe countries of the European Union, the pri@hgrescription drugs is subject to
government control. In some non-U.S. jurisdictidhg, proposed pricing for a drug must be approefdri it may be lawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widelynfreountry to country. For example, the Europearobmpirovides options for its member
states to restrict the range of medicinal prodfatsvhich their national health insurance systemmvigle reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A manskete may approve a specific price for the medigbroduct or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the patfitity of the company placing the medicinal prodor the market. We may face competition
from lower-priced products in foreign countriestthave placed price controls on pharmaceuticalyctsd In addition, there may be
importation of foreign products that compete witly @roducts we may market, which could negativeipact our profitability.

We expect that PPACA, as well as other health foem measures that may be adopted in the fuhoag, result in more rigorous
coverage criteria and in additional downward pressun the price that we may receive for any appmtgueduct. Any reduction in
reimbursement from Medicare or other governmenganms may result in a similar reduction in paymérdm private payors. The
implementation of cost containment measures o dtbalth care reforms may prevent us from being tdbbenerate revenue, attain
profitability, or commercialize any products for iwh we receive regulatory approval.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to sell and market any products
may develop, we may not be able to generate proceatnue.

We do not currently have an organization for tHessamarketing or distribution of pharmaceuticaiqucts. In order to market any
products that may be approved by the FDA, we muitd lour sales, marketing, managerial, and relatgghbilities or make arrangements with
third parties to perform these critical commersiailvices. If we are unable to establish adequéts,saarketing, and distribution capabilities,
whether independently or with third parties, we maybe able to generate product revenue and midyecome profitable.

There are possible limitations on our use of netergting losses.

As of December 31, 2014, we had net operatingdasyforwards of approximately $78.2 million to te@ any future federal and state
taxable income through 2034. Since we had net tipgribss carryforwards as of December 31, 2014248, no excess tax benefits for the
tax deductions related to share-based awards weogmized in the statements of operations. Thepetating loss carryforwards of
approximately $78.2 million as of December 31, 2@4Mbegin to expire in the year 2030 if unusetieTuse of our net operating loss
carryforwards may be restricted due to changesiirownership, including as a result of our recarilig offering in March 2015.

Security breaches, loss of data and other disrupi@ould compromise sensitive information relateddur business, prevent us fro
accessing critical information or expose us to lility, which could adversely affect our business@nur reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, we, ounicdil research organizations and other third padiewhich we rely collect and store
sensitive data, including legally protected patiegdlth information, personally identifiable infoatton about our employees, intellectual
property, and proprietary business information. M&age and maintain our applications and dataintjion-site systems. These applications
and data encompass a wide variety of businessatritiformation including research and developnieiairmation and business and financial
information.

The secure processing, storage, maintenance argirtission of this critical information is vital tmr operations and business strategy,
and we devote significant resources to protectiray snformation. Although we take measures to mtatensitive information from
unauthorized access or disclosure, our information
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technology and infrastructure may be vulnerablattacks by hackers, viruses, breaches, interruptioe to employee error, malfeasance or
other disruptions, lapses in compliance with privand security mandates, or damage from naturabtéss, terrorism, war and
telecommunication and electrical failures. Any segbnt could compromise our networks and the inédion stored there could be accesse
unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, losttoter. We have measures in place that are destgnidetect and respond to such security
incidents and breaches of privacy and security ratesd Any such access, disclosure or other losgaimation could result in legal claims or
proceedings, liability under laws that protect piiwacy of personal information, such as the Heldfurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, government enforcement actions andleggry penalties. Unauthorized access, loss @edigation could also disrupt our
operations, including our ability to conduct reséaand development activities, process and pregargany financial information, manage
various general and administrative aspects of asiness and damage our reputation, any of whicldamlversely affect our business. For
example, the loss of clinical trial data from cogtpt or ongoing or planned clinical trials couldul in delays in our regulatory approval
efforts and significantly increase our costs toxer or reproduce the data. In addition, therebmno assurance that we will promptly detect
any such disruption or security breach, if atBdl.the extent that any disruption or security bheaere to result in a loss of or damage to our
data or applications, or inappropriate disclosdreomfidential or proprietary information, we codufttur liability and the further development
of our product candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may be undermined if we dot mdequately protect our proprietary rights.

Our commercial success depends on obtaining anatanaging proprietary rights to our product candéaand technologies and their
uses, as well as successfully defending thesesraginst third-party challenges. We will only tseao protect our product candidates,
proprietary technologies, and their uses from umanigzed use by third parties to the extent thaithahd enforceable patents, or effectively
protected trade secrets, cover them. We have pagéns under issued patents in many cases covetingl-007 and ITI-002 development
programs. Nonetheless, the issued patents andt aglications covering our primary technology peogs remain subject to uncertainty and
continuous monitoring and action by us due to alemof factors, including:

e we may not have been the first to make the invest@pvered by our pending patent applicationssured patents

* we may not have been the first to file patent aapions for our product candidates or the techriefoge rely upon

» others may independently develop similar or altéveaechnologies or duplicate any of our technieg

« our disclosures in patent applications may notuficgent to meet the statutory requirements fotepéability;

« any or all of our pending patent applications maynesult in issued paten

e we may not seek or obtain patent protection ic@lintries that will eventually provide a signifi¢dousiness opportunit

* any patents issued to us or our collaboratag not provide a basis for commercially viable pratd, may not provide us with any
competitive advantages or may be challenged by {rarties;

» our proprietary technologies may not be patent:
» others may design around our patent claims to m®dompetitive products which fall outside of tikefge of our patent:
» others may identify prior art which could invalidadur patents; ar

e changes to patent laws that limit the exclusivights of patent holder:
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Even if we have or obtain patents covering our pobdandidates or technologies, we may still bedabairom making, using and selling
our product candidates or technologies becaudeegbatent rights of others. Others have or may Filate and in the future are likely to file,
patent applications covering compounds, assaygsggene products and therapeutic products thairaikar or identical to ours. There are
many issued U.S. and foreign patents relating tegenucleic acids, polypeptides, chemical compsumdherapeutic products, and some of
these may encompass reagents utilized in the fabatitbn of candidate drug compounds or compouhdswe desire to commercialize.
Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pemuditent applications owned by others exist inattea of central nervous system disor¢
and the other fields in which we are developingdpiats. These could materially affect our abilityd&velop our product candidates or sell our
products. Because patent applications can take yeamg to issue, there may be currently pendingicgtipns, unknown to us, that may later
result in issued patents that our product candédatéechnologies may infringe. These patent apfitins may have priority over patent
applications filed by us.

We regularly conduct searches to identify patenysatent applications that may prevent us fromiobig patent protection for our
proprietary compounds or that could limit the righte have claimed in our patents and patent apioliitsa Disputes may arise regarding the
ownership or inventorship of our inventions. Itifficult to determine how such disputes would bealved. Others may challenge the validity
of our patents. If our patents are found to belidyave will lose the ability to exclude others finamaking, using or selling the inventions
claimed therein.

Some of our academic institutional licensors, regeaollaborators and scientific advisors havetsgh publish data and information to
which we have rights. If we cannot maintain thefmentiality of our technology and other confidettinformation in connection with our
collaborations, then our ability to receive paterdtection or protect our proprietary informatioiil\lwe impaired. Additionally, any employee
whose employment with us terminates, whether vealiigtby the employee or by us in connection webtructurings or otherwise, may seek
future employment with our competitors. Althougltleaf our employees is required to sign a confidditit agreement with us at the time of
hire, we cannot guarantee that the confidentialneadf our proprietary information will be mainteihin the course of such future employm
In addition, technology that we may license-in rbagome important to some aspects of our businesgyailerally will not control the patent
prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of in-Beeintechnology.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of our &amkcrets and other proprietary
information and may not adequately protect our itiextual property, which could limit our ability taompete.

Because we operate in the highly technical fieldroig discovery and development of small moleculmsl, we rely in part on trade
secret protection in order to protect our proprietachnology and processes. However, trade searetdifficult to protect. We enter into
confidentiality and intellectual property assignmagreements with our corporate partners, employ®esultants, outside scientific
collaborators, sponsored researchers, and othesarglvThese agreements generally require thaittier party keep confidential and not
disclose to third parties any confidential inforrnatdeveloped by the party or made known to théydar us during the course of the party’s
relationship with us. These agreements also gdpgnalvide that inventions conceived by the parntyhie course of rendering services to us
be our exclusive property. However, these agreesmeal not be honored and may not effectively assiglectual property rights to us.
Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtainettds using our trade secrets is difficult, expeasind time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the EthiStates may be less willing to protect tradeetecihe failure to obtain or maintain trade
secret protection could adversely affect our coitipetposition.

A dispute concerning the infringement or misappraation of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryights of others could be tim
consuming and costly, and an unfavorable outcomeiltbharm our business.

There is significant litigation in our industry @gling patent and other intellectual property righ/hile we are not currently subject to
any pending intellectual property litigation, arreé aot aware of any such
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threatened litigation, we may be exposed to fulitigation by third parties based on claims that product candidates, technologies or
activities infringe the intellectual property rightf others. If our drug development activities fanend to infringe any such patents, we may
have to pay significant damages or seek licenssadb patents. We may need to resort to litigatioenforce a patent issued to us, protect out
trade secrets or determine the scope and valiflityiral-party proprietary rights. From time to timege may hire scientific personnel formerly
employed by other companies involved in one or naweas similar to the activities conducted by uthelE we or these individuals may be
subject to allegations of trade secret misapprtipriar other similar claims as a result of theippaffiliations. If we become involved in
litigation, it could consume a substantial portafrour managerial and financial resources, regasdid whether we win or lose. We also may
not be able to afford the costs of litigation.

The patent applications of pharmaceutical and biokmology companies involve highly complex legal afadgtual questions, which, if
determined adversely to us, could negatively impaat patent position.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies can be highly uncertain and invebwaplex legal and factual
questions. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Officg’s|SPTO’s, standards are uncertain and could @anthe future. Consequently, the
issuance and scope of patents cannot be predidtedsvtainty. Patents, if issued, may be challeingevalidated or circumvented. U.S. pate
and patent applications may also be subject toference proceedings, and U.S. patents may becubjeeexamination proceedings in the
USPTO (and foreign patents may be subject to ofipngir comparable proceedings in the corresponftirgjgn patent office), which
proceedings could result in either loss of the pade denial of the patent application or losseatuction in the scope of one or more of the
claims of the patent or patent application. Sirhlampposition or invalidity proceedings could risno loss of rights or reduction in the scopt
one or more claims of a patent in foreign jurisdits. In addition, such interference, reexaminaéinod opposition proceedings may be costly.
Accordingly, rights under any issued patents maypnavide us with sufficient protection against quetitive products or processes.

In addition, changes in or different interpretatiaf patent laws in the United States and foremméries may permit others to use our
discoveries or to develop and commercialize ounrietogy and products without providing any compénsao us or may limit the number of
patents or claims we can obtain. In particularréheve been proposals to shorten the exclusieitip@s available under U.S. patent law the
adopted, could substantially harm our business.pfbduct candidates that we are developing aregted by intellectual property rights,
including patents and patent applications. If ahgur product candidates becomes a marketable ptode will rely on our exclusivity under
patents to sell the compound and recoup our in\eggirin the research and development of the conthdfithe exclusivity period for patents
is shortened, then our ability to generate revemuttout competition will be reduced and our busimeould be materially adversely impacted.
The laws of some countries do not protect intallacproperty rights to the same extent as U.S. lawd those countries may lack adequate
rules and procedures for defending our intellegmaperty rights. For example, some countries uidicig many in Europe, do not grant patent
claims directed to methods of treating humans entthese countries, patent protection may not laélale at all to protect our product
candidates. In addition, U.S. patent laws may changich could prevent or limit us from filing pateapplications or patent claims to protect
our products and/or technologies or limit the egolity periods that are available to patent holdEm example, the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was recentfyned into law and includes a number of significeiminges to U.S. patent law. These
include changes to transition from a “first-to-imgesystem to a “first-to-file” system and to thewissued patents are challenged. These
changes may favor larger and more established coegpthat have more resources to devote to papgtication filing and prosecution. The
USPTO has been in the process of implementing atignk and procedures to administer the Leahy-SAtdthand many of the substantive
changes to patent law associated with the LeahykSiat may affect our ability to obtain, enforcedmfend our patents. Accordingly, it is not
clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act wiltimately have on the cost of prosecuting ouepaapplications, our ability to obtain
patents based on our discoveries and our abilignforce or defend our issued patents.
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If we fail to obtain and maintain patent protectamd trade secret protection of our product candglaroprietary technologies and their
uses, we could lose our competitive advantage ampetition we face would increase, reducing oueptiél revenues and adversely affecting
our ability to attain or maintain profitability.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We will be subject to stringent regulation in conctéon with the marketing of any products derivedfn our product candidates, which
could delay the development and commercializatidroor products.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to stringegtlation by the FDA and other regulatory agenaiethe United States and by
comparable authorities in other countries. Neithhemor our collaborators can market a pharmacdutioauct in the United States until it has
completed rigorous preclinical testing and clinigalls and an extensive regulatory clearance mooaplemented by the FDA. Satisfaction of
regulatory requirements typically takes many yedepends upon the type, complexity and novelthefidroduct, and requires substantial
resources. Even if regulatory approval is obtaiitatiay impose significant restrictions on the oated uses, conditions for use, labeling,
advertising, promotion, and/or marketing of sucbdurcts, and requirements for post-approval studiesjding additional research and
development and clinical trials. These limitationay limit the size of the market for the productesult in the incurrence of additional costs.
Any delay or failure in obtaining required appravabuld have a material adverse effect on ourtglidigenerate revenues and continue our
business.

Outside the United States, the ability to markptaduct is contingent upon receiving approval fritve appropriate regulatory authoriti
The requirements governing the conduct of clinidals, marketing authorization, pricing, and reiméement vary widely from country to
country. Only after the appropriate regulatory autly is satisfied that adequate evidence of safgtylity, and efficacy has been presented
it grant a marketing authorization. Approval by #2A does not automatically lead to the approvatdyulatory authorities outside the United
States and, similarly, approval by regulatory atitles outside the United States will not autorradticlead to FDA approval.

Many of our competitors have greater resources amapital than us, putting us at a competitive disaahtage. If our competitors develop ai
market products that are more effective than oumpiuct candidates, they may reduce or eliminate commercial opportunity.

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnolioglystries is intense and increasing. We face ebitign from pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, as well as numerous adaderd research institutions and governmental dgenboth in the United States and
abroad. Some of these competitors have produ@segoursuing the development of drugs that tafgesame diseases and conditions that are
the focus of our drug development programs.

For example, our potential products for the treaiinoé schizophrenia would compete with, among otiranded products, Abilif§,
marketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and Otsiaarmaceutical, Fanapt marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals, SeroquePXR
marketed by AstraZeneca, Invegamarketed by Janssen, and Lat@danarketed by Sunovion. In addition, our producils s@mpete with,
among other generic antipsychotic drugs, halopéridperidone, quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapin

Many of our competitors and their collaboratorsénaignificantly greater experience than we do eftilowing:
» identifying and validating target
* screening compounds against targ
» preclinical studies and clinical trials of potehp@armaceutical products; a

» obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvi
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In addition, many of our competitors and their abtirators have substantially greater capital aselareh and development resources,
manufacturing, sales and marketing capabilitied, @oduction facilities. Smaller companies also meyve to be significant competitors,
particularly through proprietary research discoeernd collaboration arrangements with large pheemtacal and established biotechnology
companies. Many of our competitors have produashiave been approved or are in advanced develd@mdmay develop superior
technologies or methods to identify and validatggdiargets and to discover novel small moleculgsir@ur competitors, either alone or with
their collaborators, may succeed in developing slithgt are more effective, safer, more affordadnlenore easily administered than ours and
may achieve patent protection or commercialize sis@pner than us. Our competitors may also dea@temative therapies that could further
limit the market for any drugs that we may develOpr failure to compete effectively could have aemnal adverse effect on our business.

Any claims relating to improper handling, storager disposal of biological, hazardous, and radioaatimaterials used in our business cot
be costly and delay our research and developmefure.

Our research and development activities involvectirgrolled use of potentially harmful hazardouderials, including volatile solvents,
biological materials such as blood from patient trave the potential to transmit disease, chestbal cause cancer, and various radioactive
compounds. Our operations also produce hazardoste \weoducts. We face the risk of contaminatiompry from the use, storage, handling
or disposal of these materials. We are subjeaderfl, state and local laws and regulations gavgithe use, storage, handling, and dispos
these materials and specified waste products. dbieof compliance with these laws and regulatiangdatbe significant, and current or future
environmental regulations may impair our reseadlelvelopment, or production efforts. If one of ompoyees were accidentally injured from
the use, storage, handling, or disposal of thedermabs, the medical costs related to his or heattent would be covered by our workers’
compensation insurance policy. However, we do aatycspecific biological or hazardous waste insaeatoverage and our general liability
insurance policy specifically excludes coveragedmmages and fines arising from biological or hd@as waste exposure or contamination.
Accordingly, in the event of contamination or injuwe could be subject to criminal sanctions oesitor be held liable for damages, our
operating licenses could be revoked, and we coailicbuired to suspend or modify our operationsamdesearch and development efforts.

Consumers may sue us for product liability, whicbudd result in substantial liabilities that exceealir available resources and damage our
reputation.

Researching, developing, and commercializing dmeglygcts entail significant product liability risksiability claims may arise from our
and our collaborators’ use of products in clinicals and the commercial sale of those produat®isGmers may make these claims directly
and our collaborators or others selling these prtsdonay seek contribution from us if they receilams from consumers. We have obtained
limited product liability insurance coverage foralinical trials. Our product liability insurano@verage for clinical trials is currently limited
to an aggregate of $30 million. As such, our ineaeacoverage may not reimburse us or may not Higigat to reimburse us for any expenses
or losses we may suffer. Although we currently haraduct liability insurance that covers our clalitrials, we will need to increase and
expand this coverage as we commence larger s@kednd if our product candidates are approveddonmercial sale. This insurance may be
prohibitively expensive or may not fully cover quotential liabilities. Inability to obtain sufficig insurance coverage at an acceptable cost ol
otherwise to protect against potential productiliigtclaims could prevent or inhibit the commer@ation of products that we or our
collaborators develop. Product liability claims lwbhave a material adverse effect on our businedgesults of operations. Our liability could
exceed our total assets if we do not prevail iaveslit from any injury caused by our drug products.
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Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock
Our stock price may fluctuate significantly and yaunay have difficulty selling your shares based amrent trading volumes of our stock. |
addition, numerous other factors could result in lsstantial volatility in the trading price of our stck.

Since January 31, 2014, our common stock has lieed bn the NASDAQ Global Select Market, and fidstember 20, 2013 to
January 30, 2014, was quoted for trading on the ®BEkets—OTCQB tier, or OTCQB, in very limited vohe. In the 12 months preceding
March 1, 2015, the price per share of our commookshas ranged from a high of $30.72 to a low &.61. Prior to December 20, 2013, our
common stock was not publicly-traded. We cannotlistehe extent to which investor interest in oampany will result in an active trading
market on the NASDAQ Global Select Market or anlyeotexchange in the future. We have several stddkhg including affiliated
stockholders, who hold substantial blocks of oaclst Sales of large numbers of shares by any ofewge stockholders could adversely affect
our trading price, particularly given our smalltbigc trading volumes. If stockholders holding sfsaof our common stock sell, indicate an
intention to sell, or if it is perceived that thejll sell, substantial amounts of their common &totthe public market, the trading price of our
common stock could decline.

In addition, the trading price of our common stog&y be highly volatile and could be subject to widetuations in response to various

factors, some of which are beyond our control. €Hastors include:

» actual or anticipated quarterly variation in owsukts of operations or the results of our competijt

» announcements of medical innovations or new pradogtour competitors:

» issuance of new or changed securities an¢ reports or recommendations for our stc

» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary right

e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati

e market conditions in the biopharmaceutical indus

» timing and announcement of regulatory approv

» any future sales of our common stock or other sgéesiin connection with raising additional capitalotherwise

e any major change to the composition of our boardirgfctors or management; a

e general economic conditions and slow or negatiesvtyt of our markets

The stock market in general, and market price¢hfersecurities of biotechnology companies like dagarticular, have from time to tir
experienced volatility that often has been unrelatethe operating performance of the underlyingganies. These broad market and industry
fluctuations may adversely affect the market pdteur common stock, regardless of our operatirmppmance. In several recent situations
where the market price of a stock has been voldtdklers of that stock have instituted securitiess action litigation against the company
issued the stock. If any of our stockholders werbring a lawsuit against us, the defense and digpo of the lawsuit could be costly and
divert the time and attention of our managementtardh our operating results.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution toiekng stockholders, restrict our operations or naige us to relinquish rights.

We will need to satisfy our future cash needs tghopublic or private sales of our equity securjtizdes of debt securities, the incurrenc
of debt from commercial lenders, strategic collations, licensing a portion or all of our produahdidates and technology and, to a lesser
extent, grant funding. We filed a universal shelf
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registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEQ¢ckwivas declared effective on September 15, 20d4ytdch we registered for sale up to
$150 million of securities of any combination ofiwmon stock, preferred stock, debt securities, wdsraights, purchase contracts and/or unit
from time to time and at prices and on terms thaimmay determine. On March 11, 2015, we completegohlic offering of $129.9 million of
shares of our common stock registered on the usavshelf registration statement and received ratgeds of approximately $121.4 million.
To the extent that we raise additional capital tigfothe sale of equity or convertible debt se@sjtthe ownership interest of our existing
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms mayude liquidation or other preferences that advgraéfiect the rights of our stockholders. Debt
financing, if available, may involve agreements thalude covenants limiting or restricting our lghito take specific actions, such as incuri
debt, making capital expenditures or declaringd#iwids. If we raise additional funds through colfaltion and licensing arrangements with
third parties, we may have to relinquish valuaiéts to our technologies or grant licenses on saitmt are not favorable to us.

The price of our common stock could be subject adatility related or unrelated to our operations.

The market price of our common stock could fluctdusibstantially due to a variety of factors, inahgdmarket perception of our ability
to meet our growth projections and expectationartguly operating results of other companies insidu@e industry, trading volume in our
common stock, changes in general conditions irettemomy and the financial markets or other devetpmaffecting our business and the
business of others in our industry. In additiom, $fock market itself is subject to extreme priee @olume fluctuations. This volatility has had
a significant effect on the market price of sedesiissued by many companies for reasons relai@d@elated to their operating performance
and could have the same effect on our common stock.

Management and certain members of our board of diters beneficially own a substantial amount of oautstanding equity securities ar
will be able to exert substantial control over us.

Our executive officers and directors beneficiallynoa substantial percentage of our outstandingiggaturities. Accordingly, if they act
as a group, the executive officers and directoth®fCompany will be able to make all businessdiens, including with respect to such
matters as amendments to our charter, other funglah@rporate transactions, such as mergers, salestand the sale of the company, and
otherwise will be able to direct our business affairs.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon mgemient as a result of complying with the laws aredjulations affecting public
companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we have incurred and will insignificant legal, accounting and other expenseduding costs associated with
public company reporting requirements. We also hawerred and will incur costs associated with entrcorporate governance requirements,
including requirements under Section 404 and gihevisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well &ssrimplemented by the SEC or the
NASDAQ Global Select Market or any other stock eatoe or inte-dealer quotations system on which our common steak be listed in the
future. The expenses incurred by public comparieseporting and corporate governance purposesihaweased dramatically in recent years

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and taty financial statements could k
impaired, which could harm our operating resultsupability to operate our business and investor&g&ws of us.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of tlagb&nes-Oxley Act. Section 404 of the SarbanesyOx&e requires public companies
to conduct an annual review and evaluation of timiéérnal controls and, for public companies thratr@ot emerging growth companies,
attestations of the effectiveness of internal aiatby independent auditors. Ensuring that we fzalegjuate internal financial and accounting
controls and procedures in place so that we catiygeaccurate financial statements on a timelyshasi costly and time-
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consuming effort that will need to be evaluatedjfrently. Our failure to maintain the effectivene$sur internal controls in accordance with
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act coule flramaterial adverse effect on our business. Wil dose investor confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial repatig;h could have an adverse effect on the pricuofcommon stock. In addition, if our
efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regola, and standards differ from the activitiesmuted by regulatory or governing bodies due
to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory atitles may initiate legal proceedings againstn @ur business may be harmed.

We are an emerging growth company and the reducestidsure requirements applicable to emerging groveompanies could make our
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company under the JOBSFAC as long as we continue to be an emergingithroompany, we intend to
take advantage of certain exemptions from variepsiting requirements that are applicable to gpiidlic companies, which may include, but
are not limited to, reduced disclosure obligatioegarding executive compensation in our periodiores and proxy statements, exemptions
from the requirements of holding a nonbinding admisstockholder vote on executive compensationaarydgolden parachute payments not
previously approved, and exemption from the reaquéet of auditor attestation in the assessment oind@rnal control over financial reportir
If we do take advantage of these exemptions, tleenration that we provide stockholders may be défife than what is available with respect
to other public companies. We cannot predict iestors will find our common stock less attractieesduse we will rely on these exemption:
some investors find our common stock less attraciva result, there may be a less active tradargenfor our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies edaiycadopting new or revised accounting standamtissauch time as those
standards apply to private companies. However, ave firrevocably elected not to avail ourselveshaf extended transition period for
complying with new or revised accounting standanad, therefore, we will be subject to the same aerevised accounting standards as othe
public companies that are not emerging growth congsa

We will remain an emerging growth company until galiest of (1) the end of the fiscal year in whibe market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $7@lllan as of the end of the second fiscal quarty the end of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or marerdy such fiscal year, (3) the date on which veaiésmore than $1 billion in non-convertible
debt in a three-year period or (4) the end of ibeaf year following the fifth anniversary of thatd of the first sale of our common stock
pursuant to an effective registration statemeatlfilnder the Securities Act of 1933, as amendeitheoBecurities Act. Our first registration
statement filed under the Securities Act was dedl@ffective on December 18, 2013. Decreased disdg in our SEC filings due to our ste
as an “emerging growth company” may make it hafdeinvestors to analyze our results of operatiand financial prospects.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisbr cease publishing, research or reports about asy business or our market, or if the
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume couléeatine.

The trading market for our common stock is and bélinfluenced by whether industry or securitiealgsts publish or continue to
publish research and reports about us, our businassnarket or our competitors and, to the exéeratlysts do publish such reports, what they
publish in those reports. We may not continue tehar to obtain analyst coverage in the future. Anglysts that do cover us may make
adverse recommendations regarding our stock, aglyarkange their recommendations from time to tiamel/or provide more favorable
relative recommendations about our competitoranif analyst who covers us or may cover us in theduvere to cease coverage of our
company or fail to regularly publish reports on oisif analysts fail to cover us or publish repab®ut us at all, we could lose, or never gain,
visibility in the financial markets, which in tugould cause our stock price or trading volume tide.
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Provisions of the Delaware law, our restated ceadifte of incorporation and our restated bylaws mdglay or prevent a takeover which m
not be in the best interests of our stockholders.

The provisions of Delaware law and our restatetifizate of incorporation and restated bylaws cadistourage or make it more diffici
to accomplish a proxy contest or other change muanagement or the acquisition of control by albpbf a substantial amount of our voting
stock. It is possible that these provisions coustkenit more difficult to accomplish, or could deteansactions that stockholders may otherwis
consider to be in their best interests or in ot erests. These provisions are intended toresghtine likelihood of continuity and stability in
the composition of our board of directors and i plolicies formulated by the board of directors tmdiscourage certain types of transactions
that may involve an actual or threatened changmintontrol. These provisions are designed to redur vulnerability to an unsolicited
acquisition proposal and to discourage certaindsithat may be used in proxy fights. Such provisialso may have the effect of preventing
changes in our management.

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in tloeeiseeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsféinding growth. We do not anticipate paying anyidends in the foreseeable future.
As a result, you should not rely on an investmerttir securities if you require dividend incomepia appreciation, if any, of our shares may
be your sole source of gain for the foreseeablaéutMoreover, you may not be able to re-sell yghares at or above the price you paid for
them.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This report includes forward-looking statementdhnitthe meaning of Section 27A of the Securities #wd Section 21E of the Exchange
Act that relate to future events or our future ficial performance and involve known and unknowksiisincertainties and other factors that
may cause our actual results, levels of activigrfgrmance or achievements to differ materiallyrfrany future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements expressed or impligtidse forward-looking statements. Words such atspdit limited to, “believe,” “expect,”
" " “may,” “plan,”potential,” “predict,” “project,” “targets,” “likdy,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,”

“anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,
“continue,” and similar expressions or phraseshemegative of those expressions or phrasesntneded to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forwdambking statements contain these identifying worlthough we believe that we have a reasonablesltiat
each forward-looking statement contained in thpore we caution you that these statements aredlmseur projections of the future that are
subject to known and unknown risks and uncertardied other factors that may cause our actualtsesenvel of activity, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by these fonleaking statements, to differ. The description of Business set forth in Iltem 1, the Risk
Factors set forth in this Item 1A and our Managetsddiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditimd Results of Operations set forth in
Item 7 as well as other sections in this reposguass some of the factors that could contributbdee differences. These forward-looking
statements include, among other things, statenadist:

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding expensesgefrevenues and capital requirements and the foe@dditional financing
* the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resaftsur development activities, preclinical studssl clinical trials

» the timing of and our ability to obtain and miain regulatory approval of our existing produahdidates, any product candidates
that we may develop, and any related restrictitimstations, and/or warnings in the label of anyegpved product candidate

e our plans to research, develop and commercializewuent and future product candidat

« our collaborator election to pursue research, development and coaiatigation activities
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» our ability to obtain future reimbursement and/dlestone payments from our collaboratc

» our ability to attract collaborators with developmheegulatory and commercialization expert

» our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual pesty protection for our product candidat

e our ability to successfully commercialize our prodcandidates

» the size and growth of the markets for our prodactdidates and our ability to serve those marl

» the rate and degree of market acceptance of angefproducts

» the success of competing drugs that are or beconikable;

» regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

« the performance of our th-party suppliers and manufacturers and our abilitgtitain alternative sources of raw materi

» our ability to obtain additional financin

» our use of the proceeds from our public offeringMiarch 2015 and February 2014 and our privatesphent in August 201!
e any restrictions on our ability to use our net apiag loss carryforward:

e our exposure to investment risk, interest rate aistt capital market ris|

e our expectations regarding the time during whichwilebe an emerging growth company under the J@B&

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding expensesgefrevenues, capital requirements and the rereatiflitional financing; an

» our ability to attract and retain key scientificrnanagement personn

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentiansxpectations disclosed in our forward-lookingestaents, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementduél results or events could differ materiallyrfréhe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m#¥e have included important cautionary statemientisis report, particularly in the Risk
Factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual RepamtForm 10-K, that we believe could cause actuallte or events to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements that we make. Ouwéod-looking statements do not reflect the potnithpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investmeve may make.

You should read this report and the documentswviieateference in this report and have filed as atshtb this report completely and with
the understanding that our actual future resultg beamaterially different from what we expect. Thevard-looking statements contained in
this report are made as of the date of this repaod,we do not assume, and specifically disclaimg,abligation to update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafigore events or otherwise.

Iltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located at 430 East 29tht Sitew York, New York 10016, where we occupy appmately 14,678 square feet of
useable office and laboratory space. The termefahse expires January 31, 2026. We also leaise sfface in Towson, Maryland on a mc
to month basis.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material lggakceedings.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

From December 20, 2013 through January 30, 20T4caumon stock was quoted on the OTC MarkeBSFEQB tier, or OTCQB, undt
the symbol “ITCI.” On January 31, 2014, our comnstock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Se¥atket under the symbol
“ITCI” and ceased being quoted on the OTCQB. The higtoandid quotations per share of our common stociepsrted by the OTCQB a
the high and low sales prices per share of our comstock as reported by NASDAQ for the applicalddqus when the common stock was
guoted on the OTCBB or listed on the NASDAQ GloBalect Market, as applicable, since the commorkstommenced public trading are
forth below:

Year Ended December 31, 201 High Low
First Quartel $21.2¢ $10.0(
Second Quarte $19.6( $14.5:
Third Quartel $19.7: $12.6
Fourth Quarte $19.0C $13.3%

Year Ended December 31, 201 High Low
Fourth Quarte $20.0( $10.0(

Stockholders

As of March 11, 2015, we had 34,928,424 outstandiages of common stock and no outstanding shameferred stock. As of
March 11, 2015, there were approximately 167 haeldérecord of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on any of outatagock and we currently intend to retain ouwufe earnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. We domtend to pay cash dividends to holders of our comstock in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Securities

Not applicable.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our registered equityistes during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On February 5, 2014, we completed our initial puibfifering of 7,063,300 shares of our common statck price of $17.50 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $123li@miThe offer and sale of all of the sharestia bffering were registered under the
Securities Act pursuant to a registration stateroarftorm S-1, which was declared effective on Jgn8@, 2014 (File No. 333-193313), and a
registration statement on Form S-1 filed pursuaiule 462(b) promulgated under the Securities(Ri¢ No. 333-193676). Leerink Partners
LLC and Cowen and Company, LLC acted as joint baoliing managers for the offering and as repretigasaof the underwriters.
Guggenheim Securities, LLC and JMP Securities Ltt@ééas co-managers for the offering. The offedogmenced on January 24, 2014 anc
did not terminate until the sale of all of the s#soffered.
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We received aggregate net proceeds from the off@fimpproximately $115.4 million, after deductiemgproximately $7.4 million of
underwriting discounts and commissions, and apprately $0.8 million of offering expenses payableusy None of the underwriting
discounts and commissions or other offering expemsge incurred or paid to our directors or officer their associates or to persons owning
10 percent or more of our common stock or to anyusfaffiliates.

We have invested the net proceeds from the offénregvariety of capital preservation investmemtsluding short-term, investment
grade, interest bearing instruments such as conimh@aper and corporate debt securities, U.S. goment securities, certificates of deposit
and institutional money market funds. As of Decengie 2014, $23.2 million of the net proceeds &f tfifering had been used primarily for
working capital purposes, including recurring exgeEnand preclinical and clinical trial costs radatethe development of ITI-007. There has
been no material change in our planned use ofeéhpnoceeds from the offering as described in mal prospectus dated January 30, 2014
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorspant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Aclamuary 31, 2014. We have broad
discretion in the use of the net proceeds fromimitial public offering and could spend the proce@uways that do not improve our results of
operations or enhance the value of our stock.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below hawnlgerived from our consolidated financial statetsiemhich financial statements have
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independentstegéd public accounting firm. The consolidated@ificial statements for 2014 and 2013
and the report thereon are included elsewherasndhnual Report on Form 10-K. The information belshould be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements (and no&®tm) and “Management’s Discussion and Analysksimdncial Condition and Results of

Operations,” included in Item 7.

Statements of Operations
Revenues
License and collaboration reven
Grant revenu
Total Revenue
Costs and expense
Research and developm
General and administrati
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Interest expens
Interest incomt
Income taxe:
Net loss

Net earnings (loss) per common sh:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common she
Basic
Diluted

Balance Sheet data
Cash and cash equivalel
Total asset

Total liabilities
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity

2014 2013 2012 2011

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
$  547,54¢ $ 2,737,00: $ 3,117,99 $ 22,327,46
29,75¢ — — 1,034,49!
577,30: 2,737,00: 3,117,99. 23,361,95
21,226,34 23,027,57 15,486,47 7,654,541
10,337,67 5,976,271 4,034,92! 4,612 45
31,564,02 29,003,85 19,521,40 12,266,99
(30,698,22) (26,266,85) (16,403,41) 11,094,96
(7,079 (612,967 (193,499 (15)
303,93¢ 29,61, 39,00: 62,31¢
(1,600) (18,000 (32,929 (64,839
$(30,691,46)  $(26,868,19)  $(16,590,82)  $11,092,42
$ (1079 % (156 $ (296 % 1.9¢
$ (1.0 $ (1.5 $ (2.9 % 1.47
28,650,06 17,260,76 5,607,53! 5,601,49!
28,650,06 17,260,76 5,607,53! 7,558,15I

December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
$ 61,325,04 $ 35,150,922 $ 15,645,52 $ 13,693,21
131,111,76 38,449,31 19,823,68 23,594,72
10,557,06. 6,834,03 2,839,59! 5,702,42
(88,255,95) (57,564,49) (30,696,29) (14,105,47)
120,554,70 31,615,27 16,984,08 17,892,30
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the financial conditemd results of our operations and our wholly-owsedsidiary should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and theen to those statements appearing elsewheresritimual Report on Form 10-K. Some of
the information contained in this discussion andlgsis or set forth elsewhere in this report, irthg information with respect to our plans
and strategy for our business, includes forwardklng statements that involve risks and uncertaimtou should read the Risk Factors set
forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Forrr-K for a discussion of important factors that cooliise actual results to differ materially
from the results described in or implied by theafard-looking statements contained in the following dgsion and analysis.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused oniitevkry and clinical development of innovative airmolecule drugs that address
underserved medical needs in neuropsychiatric andofogical disorders by targeting intracellulayrgiling mechanisms within the central
nervous system, or CNS. Our lead drug candidated@7, is in Phase 3 clinical development as a-firsclass treatment for schizophrenia.
Results from our Phase 2 trial are included in ‘iBess—Our Clinical Programs—ITI-007 Program —IT[70@r the treatment of exacerbated
and residual schizophrenia—Phase 2 Clinical THEF)07-005)" under Item 1 of this Annual Report Barm 10-K. We are proceeding with
Phase 3 development of ITI-007 for the treatmersiobizophrenia. We plan to conduct two randomidedble-blind, placebaeontrolled Phas
3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients with acljyeexacerbated schizophrenia, with over 400 paienteach trial. We initiated the first Phase 3
clinical trial in schizophrenia in the fourth quanrbf 2014 and, subject to finalizing the trial forols and arrangements with clinical trial sites,
we intend to initiate a second Phase 3 clinical tni the first half of 2015. In the first Phasé&ial, we are randomizing patients to two doses of
ITI-007 (60mg or 40mg) or placebo over a 4-weektireent duration, and the primary outcome measurkéange from baseline to Day 28 on
the PANSS total score. We currently expect thast#wond Phase 3 trial will be conducted for a 6kwesatment duration. Subject to timely
enrollment, we anticipate that the results of & Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 in patiemsth schizophrenia could be available as early a:
the fourth quarter of 2015. Subject to further d&sions with the FDA, we also plan to initiate sapaadditional trials in bipolar disorder in
2015. We have not yet discussed our plans to dp\&le007 for the treatment of bipolar disorder vihe FDA. We expect that the planned
trials in bipolar disorder will overlap in time withe clinical conduct of the planned trials inigophrenia. In addition to our Phase 3 clinical
trials, we will need to complete other clinical amoh-clinical trials and manufacturing and @nmercialization activities necessary to sup
the submission of a planned New Drug ApplicatianiN®A, for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, which we cuntéy expect could occur at the end of
2016 or the beginning of 2017.

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2014, we annced the topline data from ITI-007-200, a Phageclinical trial designed to evaluate
the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics af ldoses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjectsl @ampatients with dementia, including
Alzheimer’s disease. The completion of this studyrks an important milestone in our strategy to tgvéw doses of ITI-007 for the
treatment of behavioral disturbances associatdu agmentia and related disorders. The ITI-007-2@0results to date indicate that ITI-007 is
safe and well-tolerated across a range of low ddseslinear- and dose-related pharmacokineticsraptbves cognition in the elderly. The
most frequent adverse event was mild sedatioreatitther doses. We believe these results furthgtipo ITI-007 as a development candidate
for the treatment of behavioral disturbances ifepd$ with dementia and other neuropsychiatric regutological conditions. We plan to initi
additional clinical programs evaluating ITI-007gatients with behavioral disturbances associatéld @gmentia and related disorders,
including Alzheimer’s disease, in 2015.

We are currently conducting an open-label posiganission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 exang brain receptor occupancy
and assessing occupancy of striatal D2 receptothid study, patients with
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stable schizophrenia will be treated with ITI-0@F 14 days. We expect topline data from this stad3015. We believe this study will further
characterize ITI-007 and provide additional insigiho the molecule’s unique mechanism and clingrafile.

We are also pursuing clinical development of ITIFG6r the treatment of additional CNS diseasesdisarders. At the lowest doses, ITI-
007 has been demonstrated to act primarily asenpbtHT2A serotonin receptor antagonist. As theede increased, additional benefits are
derived from the engagement of additional drugetgncluding modest dopamine receptor modulaimh modest inhibition of serotonin
transporters. We believe that combined interactairibese receptors may provide additional benefits’e and beyond selective 5-HT2A
antagonism for treating agitation, aggression d@elsdisturbances in diseases that include demexitheimer’s disease, Huntingtandiseas
and autism spectrum disorders, while avoiding mzfrtie side effects associated with more robustadope receptor antagonism. As the dose
of ITI-007 is further
increased, leading to moderate dopamine receptdulation, inhibition of serotonin transporters, andirect glutamate modulation, these
actions complement the complete blockade of 5-H¥&/tonin receptors. At a dose of 60 mg, ITI-003 been shown effective in treating the
symptoms associated with schizophrenia, and we\eethis higher dose range will be useful for tieatiment of bipolar disorder, major
depressive disorder and other neuropsychiatriadese

Given the potential utility for ITI-007 and follown compounds to treat these additional indicatiamsinay investigate, either on our
own or with a partner, agitation, aggression apdsidisturbances in additional diseases that iscutism spectrum disorders; major
depressive disorder; intermittent explosive disgrden-motor symptoms and motor complications aissed with Parkinson’s disease; and
post-traumatic stress disorder. We hold exclusixe]dwide commercialization rights to ITI-007 andaanily of compounds from Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company pursuant to an exclusive fieen

We have a second major program called ITI-002 hlaatyielded a portfolio of compounds that seletfiughibits the enzyme PDEL.
PDEL1 helps regulate brain activity related to ctignj memory processes and movement/coordinatior-ébruary 25, 2011, we (through our
wholly owned operating subsidiary, ITI) enterecitiie Takeda License Agreement with Takeda, unthéchwwe agreed to collaborate to
research, develop and commercialize our proprietamypound ITI-214 and other selected compoundsstiattively inhibit PDE1 for use in
the prevention and treatment of human disease©duwber 31, 2014, we entered into the TerminatigneAment with Takeda terminating the
Takeda License Agreement, pursuant to which dtitsigiranted under the Takeda License Agreementngarmed to us. Takeda will compls
certain ongoing activities relating to non-clinisaiidies and will transfer product inventory andemals to us but will not have any other
ongoing involvement or funding obligations in cootien with the development program. ITI-214 is finst compound in its class to
successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trils.intend to continue the development of P14 for the treatment of CNS and other disorc
Over approximately the next 12 months, we willmefour strategy for the PDEL inhibitor program.rBgaining unrestricted access to ITI-214
backups and the proprietary chemistry, we can midegrate the efforts of our internal PDE1 prograrmtlude the later stage portfolio. We do
not anticipate a significant increase in our opegaexpenses related to our PDE development pragoaser the next twelve months. Other
compounds in the PDEL1 portfolio are also being aded for the treatment of various indications, udahg non-CNS therapeutic areas.

Our pipeline also includes pre-clinical programat tare focused on advancing drugs for the treatofertgnitive dysfunction, in both
schizophrenia and Alzheimer’s disease, and foradisenodification and the treatment of neurodegémerdisorders, including Alzheimer’s
disease.

Since inception, we have devoted substantiallgfatiur efforts and resources to our research amdldement activities. We have
incurred significant net losses since inceptionoABecember 31, 2014, our accumulated deficit $&& 3 million. We expect to continue
incurring substantial losses for the next seveealry as we continue to develop our clinical anecfinical drug candidates and programs. Our
operating expenses are comprised of research aetbgenent expenses and general and administratpenses.
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Our corporate headquarters and laboratory aredddaatNew York, New York.

Public Offering in March 2015

On March 11, 2015, we completed a public offerin§,d11,481 shares of our common stock at a pifi?24.00 per share for aggregate
gross proceeds of approximately $129.9 million, aetiproceeds of approximately $121.4 million.

Results of Operations
Revenue:

The following discussion summarizes the key factansmanagement believes are necessary for anstadding of our financial
statements.

We have not generated any revenue from product saldate and we do not expect to generate revdraragproduct sales for at least
next several years. Our revenues for the year eDdedmber 31, 2014 have been from the recentlyineted license and collaboration
agreement with Takeda and to a much lesser extemtd government grant. For the year ended DeceB81het013, revenues were entirely
from the agreement with Takeda. We will not receang further revenue under the Takeda License Ageeg which was terminated on
October 31, 2014. We have received and may contmueceive grants from U.S. government agencidsf@mdations.

We do not expect any revenues that we may geniertite next several years to be significant endogiand our operations.

Expenses

The process of researching and developing drudgsuioran use is lengthy, unpredictable and subjectaioy risks. We are unable with
any certainty to estimate either the costs orithelines in which those costs will be incurred. Wave one project, ITI-007 for the treatment of
schizophrenia, which consumes a large portion otauent, as well as projected, resources. Intaaidiin the third quarter of 2014 we
completed a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of ITI-007-2@Mich was designed to evaluate the safety, toiksaand pharmacokinetics of low doses of
ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patgewith dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. Mtend to pursue other disease indications
that ITI-007 may address, but there are large @ssteciated with pursuing FDA approval for thoskdations, which would include the cost of
additional clinical trials.

Our ITI-002 program has a compound, ITI-214, in$¢ha development. We intend to pursue the developafahis and the other
compounds in our PDE1 portfolio for the treatmeintentral nervous system, cardiovascular and attserders. Over approximately the next
twelve months, we will refine our strategy for tRBE1 inhibitor program that was returned to us ffbmkeda. We do not anticipate a
significant increase in our operating expensegsedlto our PDE development programs over the meafive months. Our other projects are
in the pre-clinical stages, and will require exteagunding not only to complete pre-clinical testj but to enter into and complete clinical
trials. Expenditures that we incur on these prgj@dtl be subject to availability of funding in aitidn to the funding required for the
advancement of ITI-007. Any failure or delay in tadvancement of ITI-007 could require us to reeate resources from our other projects to
the advancement of ITI-007, which could have aifitant material adverse impact on the advancerottitese other projects and on our
results of operations. Our operating expensesampised of (i) research and development expenskéiix general and administrative
expenses. Our research and development costsrapgised of:

« internal recurring costs, such as labor and fringieefits, materials and supplies, facilities andhteaance costs; ar
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» fees paid to external parties who provide uh wontract services, such as pre-clinical testimgnufacturing and related testing,
clinical trial activities and license milestone pagnts.

General and administrative expenses are incurréuée major categories:
» salaries and related benefit co:
» patent, legal and professional costs;

» office and facilities overhea

We expect that research and development expenBesonease substantially as we proceed with owasel3 clinical trials for ITI-007 in
patients with exacerbated schizophrenia. We alpeaxthat our general and administrative costsimillease substantially from prior periods
primarily due to the increased costs associateld métng a public reporting entity, which would imdé adding additional personnel. We
granted options to purchase 1,108,000 shares afanmon stock in 2014 and have granted optionsitohase an additional 636,902 share
our common stock in January 2015. We will recogmizgpense associated with these options over thetlmee years in both research and
development expenses and general and administetpenses. We expect this noash expense to be material and affect quartendder an:
year to date comparisons in the upcoming year. ¥gect to continue to grant stock options and oshecl-based awards in the future, which
will increase our stock-based compensation expenigure periods.

The following table sets forth our revenues, opega¢xpenses, interest income (expense) and intaxes expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

For the Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenues $ 577 $ 2,73i $ 3,11¢
Expenses

Research and Developme 21,22¢ 23,02¢ 15,48¢

General and Administrativ 10,33¢ 5,97¢ 4,03t

31,56¢ 29,00/ 19,52

Interest Income (Expens 29¢ (589) (15%)

Income Taxe: (2) (18) (33

Net Loss $(30,69)) $(26,86¢) $(16,59)

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 andebdzer 31, 2013
Revenues

Revenue decreased for the year ended Decembe®B4 a2 compared to the year ended December 31 [B0d8proximately $2.2
million, or 79%, due primarily to the recognitiam 2013 of previously deferred revenue relatingy®Takeda License Agreement and lower
reimbursable costs payable to us by Takeda in 20tiér the Takeda License Agreement, offset to ehrfegser extent by revenue from a
government grant in 2014.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses decreased j@athended December 31, 2014 as compared to #ieegded December 31, 2013
by approximately $1.8 million, or 8%. This decreasdue primarily to costs associated with outsiitdcal testing for our ITI-007 Phase 2
clinical trial that was completed in late 2013 ampared to costs incurred in conducting our ITI-8biase 3 clinical trial, which began in the
fourth quarter of
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2014. Partially offsetting this decrease were ezpserof approximately $6.6 million incurred in 2G#sticompared to $1.9 million in 2013
related to the manufacturing and other clinical aad-clinical testing of our ITI-007 product candid and expenses of approximately $1.9
million related to our ITI-007-200 Phase 1/2 clalitrial in healthy geriatric and dementia pati@ntirred only in 2014. In addition, stock
option expense increased by $1.7 million for tharyended December 31, 2014 due primarily to st@tions granted in 2014.

The research and development expenses incurredfounts payable to external parties comprisedrafisignt portion of our research
and development expenses during the years endezhibec 31, 2014 and 2013. We incurred expensespobamately $14.8 million and
$18.8 million for the years ended December 31, 201a1 2013, respectively, for amounts payable tereal parties who manufactured, tested
and performed clinical trial activities for all ofir projects. We spent approximately $14.4 milkord $18.3 million, on external costs for the
development of ITI-007 for the years ended Decer8tie2014 and 2013, respectively. During the saemgs, our internal research and
development expenses for all projects were apprataiy $5.0 million and $3.0 million, respectivelhe clinical development work related to
ITI-007 requires the largest portion of our resasrand, consequently, comprises the majority obpanding. For the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we incurred total esgeeaf $18.8 million and $20.8 million, respectyvdor all ITI-007 related projects and
$2.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively, fol af our other projects. Total research and develemt expenses were approximately $21.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2014 aspayed to $23.0 million for 2013. As developmentTdf 007 progresses, we anticipate ¢
for ITI-007 to increase considerably in 2015 anthie next several years as we conduct Phase 3thedatinical trials. We are also required to
complete non-clinical testing to obtain FDA approaad manufacture material needed for clinical e, which includes non-clinical testing
of the drug product and the creation of an inventgrdrug product in anticipation of possible FDppaoval. As of December 31, 2014, we
employed 16 full time personnel in our research @eklopment group as compared to 13 at Decemb&03B. We expect to hire additional
staff as we increase our development efforts irugieming years.

We currently have several projects, in additiofifie007, that are in the research and developmiages, including in the areas of
cognitive dysfunction and the treatment of neuretegative diseases, including Alzheimer’s diseas®mng others. We have used internal
resources and incurred expenses not only in relaidghe development of ITI-007, but also in corimecwith these additional projects as well.
We have not, however, reported these costs onjagbtwy project basis, as these costs are broadéad among these projects. The external
costs for these projects have been minimal andeflexted in the amounts discussed in this se¢tieResearch and Development Expenses.”

During 2014 and in previous years, we also incucests that were both reimbursable and non-reinatlesunder the Takeda License
Agreement. For the year ended December 31, 201#amered approximately $14,000 on direct costs wexe billable to Takeda as compa
to $97,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013veA=efine our strategy for the PDEL inhibitor mang that was returned to us from
Takeda, we do not expect a significant increasmiimoperating expenses related to our PDE developpregrams over the next twelve
months.

The research and development process necessagydtod a pharmaceutical product for commercialimais subject to extensive
regulation by numerous governmental authoritieth@United States and other countries. This proggssally takes years to complete and
requires the expenditure of substantial resoufes.steps required before a drug may be markettgkib/nited States generally include the
following:

« completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratbéegts, animal studies, and formulation studiescitordance with the FDA’s Good
Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulatio

e submission to the FDA of an Investigational Newug application, or IND, for human clinical testi, which must become effective
before human clinical trials may beg

» performance of adequate and well-controlled &elinical trials to establish the safety andaaily of the drug for each proposed
indication;
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» submission to the FDA of a New Drug ApplicationNIDA, after completion of all clinical trials

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-appraovapection of the manufacturing facility or fadéi$ at which the active
pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and finishedgdpuoduct are produced and tested to assess comgh@th current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMF

» satisfactory completion of FDA inspections bifical trial sites to assure that data supporthmgsafety and effectiveness of produc
candidates has been generated in compliance witld Gtinical Practices; ar

» FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the UniBtdtes

The successful development of our product candsdate the approval process requires substantial gffort and financial resources,
and is uncertain and subject to a number of ridks cannot be certain that any of our product caatd&lwill prove to be safe and effective,
meet all of the applicable regulatory requiremergsded to receive and maintain marketing approvaijll be granted marketing approval on
a timely basis, if at all. Data from pre-clinicalidies and clinical trials are susceptible to vagyinterpretations that could delay, limit or
prevent regulatory approval or could result in lakarnings related to or recalls of approved praslud/e, the FDA, or other regulatory
authorities may suspend clinical trials at any timee or they believe that the subjects partidipain such trials are being exposed to
unacceptable risks or if such regulatory agendresdeficiencies in the conduct of the trials dnaatproblems with our product candidates.
Other risks associated with our product candidatesiescribed in the section entitled “Risk Faétorstem IA of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increasetiéoygar ended December 31, 2014 as compared yednended December 31, 2013
by approximately $4.4 million or 73%. This increagas primarily due to increased stock option expesfshl.7 million in 2014 related to
options granted in 2014, and increased labor datbdebenefit costs of approximately $0.6 millianth the remainder comprised of higher
professional fees, directors’ and officers’ inswmosts, and board of directors compensation ¥e@sh are due to the activities associated
with being a public company. We expect these dositscrease significantly as we expand our openationcluding hiring of additional
personnel, continue to be subject to the reporagirements of being a public company and issdéiadal equity incentive awards.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 andebdzer 31, 2012
Revenue

Revenue decreased for the year ended Decembe®B3 a2 compared to the year ended December 31,0d@proximately $0.4
million, due primarily to lower reimbursable coftsm Takeda in 2013 as compared to 2012.

Research and Development Exper

Total research and development expenses were apaiaky $23.0 million for the fiscal year ended Betber 31, 2013, as compared to
$15.5 million for the fiscal year ended DecemberZ112. This increase of $7.5 million in total ras# and development expenses is due
primarily to an increase of $6.3 million in direxsts for clinical trials, which is primarily thesult of an increase in the number of clinicall tria
subjects for our Phase 2 trial of ITI-007 in patsewith acutely exacerbated schizophrenia and $hifon for a milestone payment we made
related to our license agreement with BMS. Clintcal costs for the fiscal year ended December2®13 were $16.9 million as compared to
$10.6 million for the fiscal year ended DecemberZ112 due to more patients screened and tes@@llid versus 2012 and the costs associat:
with the non-patent related data, statistical aheértesting needed to complete the study.
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The research and development expenses incurredrfounts payable to external parties comprisedrafigignt portion of our research
and development expenses during the years endezhibec 31, 2013 and 2012, due primarily to the padjmm for and commencement of our
Phase 2 clinical trial for ITI-007 in patients wilcutely exacerbated schizophrenia. We incurreéresgs of approximately $18.8 million and
$12.6 million for the years ended December 31, 20182012, respectively, for amounts payable tereal parties who manufactured, tested
and performed clinical trial activities for all ofir projects. During the same periods, our interesgarch and development expenses for all
projects were approximately $3.0 million and $2.idiam, respectively. The clinical development waedated to ITI-007 required the largest
portion of our resources and, consequently, coragribe majority of our spending. We spent approteégeb21.0 million and $11.3 million on
direct costs for the development of ITI-007 durthg periods ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 atdsglg. During the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we also incurred tostsvere both reimbursable and non-reimbursabiieutne Takeda License Agreement.
We incurred approximately $97,000 and $700,000icectcosts that were billable to Takeda for thargeended December 31, 2013 and 201-
respectively. As of December 31, 2013, we emplay@dull time personnel in our research and develemingroup as compared to 15 at
December 31, 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increasedfrpamately $2.0 million, or 50%, to $6.0 millionifthe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to $4.0 million forfibeal year ended December 31, 2012. The incresabesiresult of higher personnel costs,
legal, accounting, patent and public company réppatelated costs, including costs related to theerse merger and private placement in
August 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Through December 31, 2014, we have provided fuadsdr operations by obtaining approximately $266iion of cash primarily
through public and private offerings of our comnstock and other securities, grants from governragatcies and foundations and payments
received under the recently terminated Takeda Isieékgreement. We do not believe that grant revevilibe a significant source of funding
in the near future, and Takeda has no ongoing fgndbligations following the termination of the Bala License Agreement on October 31,
2014.

As of December 31, 2014, we had a total of $129lBom in cash and cash equivalents and availablesile investment securities, and
approximately $10.6 million of short-term liabié8 consisting entirely of short-term liabilitiesirin operations. Excluding the increase in net
cash of approximately $115.4 million from the paldifering which closed on February 5, 2014, wensp@proximately $22.9 million in cash
and reduced working capital by approximately $26ilion for the year ended December 31, 2014. Tisis of working capital is due primarily
to funding recurring operating expenses and thparegion and initiation of additional clinical tideand non-clinical testing, including
manufacturing related activities.

On March 11, 2015 we completed our public offeri,411,481 shares of our common stock for aggeegiass proceeds of
approximately $129.9 million, and net proceedspyraximately $121.4 million.

We expect to use cash of up to $43 million durlmgfirst half of 2015, which we expect to be duienarily to expenses associated with
our clinical and non-clinical development of ITI-Dth patients with schizophrenia and recurring elges and costs to produce, develop and
validate materials to be used in clinical and nbmigal studies related to ITI-007 as well as imouy expenses associated with our other
development programs and general operations. Gamnditures will increase significantly after thst half of 2015 as we incur costs to fund
our development of ITI-007 in patients with schibognia, behavioral disturbances in dementia, bipdikorder and depression, our ITI-007
long acting injectable development program thropgghclinical and early clinical development, resbaaind preclinical development of our
other product candidates and the continuation afufeturing activities in connection with the dedgihent of ITI-007. We believe that our
existing cash and cash equivalents, along witm#igoroceeds from our public offering that was clatgal in March 2015, together with
interest on cash balances, will be sufficient todfour operating expenses and capital expendiegr@irements through the end of 2016.
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We will require significant additional financing the future to continue to fund our operationspadnticular, we anticipate that we will
need to secure funding to complete the additiolirgical and non-clinical trials, manufacturing apiee-commercialization activities needed for
potential regulatory approval and commercializatibhT1-007 in patients with schizophrenia, coniimgi clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients
with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease, fortfier development of ITI-007 in patients with Hgorodisorder, depression and other
indications, and for development of our other pidiandidates.

We have incurred losses in every year since ingeptith the exception of 2011, when we receivedadfront fee and a milestone
payment related to the Takeda License Agreememtsd losses have resulted in significant cash usepéarations. During the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, our net cash usecematipg activities was approximately $22.8 millimmd $22.6 million, respectively. While
we have several research and development progradesway, the ITI-007 program has advanced the égttand will continue to consume
increasing amounts of cash for conducting clinidals and the testing and manufacturing of prodnaterial. As we continue to conduct these
activities necessary to pursue FDA approval of0UF and our other product candidates, we expedri@int of cash needed to fund
operations to increase significantly in 2015 andrdhe next several years.

With the termination of the Takeda License Agreeniei®ctober 2014, we will not be eligible to reaimilestone payments and
expense reimbursements, including patent filingssdsom Takeda and will be responsible for thetixo$ developing ITI-214. Over
approximately the next twelve months we will refmg strategy for our PDEL inhibitor program. Werdxt anticipate a significant increase in
our operating expenses related to our PDE developpregrams during the next twelve months.

We seek to balance the level of cash, cash equitsadand investments on hand with our projected s1aed to allow us to withstand
periods of uncertainty relative to the availabilifyfunding on favorable terms. Until we can getesignificant revenues from operations, we
will need to satisfy our future cash needs thropgblic or private sales of our equity securitiedes of debt securities, the incurrence of debt
from commercial lenders, strategic collaboratidicgnsing a portion or all of our product candidaéad technology and, to a lesser extent,
grant funding. On August 29, 2014, we filed a unsa shelf registration statement on Form S-3, tviwas declared effective by the SEC on
September 15, 2014, to register $150 million of @mmon stock, preferred stock, various seriesbt decurities, warrants, rights and
purchase contracts to purchase any of such sesyr#ither individually or in units, for issuancerh time to time at prices and on terms to be
determined at the time of any such offering. Wel sgdproximately $129.9 million of our common stdiekt is registered on the universal shelf
registration statement in our public offering whighs completed on March 11, 2015. This registrastatement will remain in effect for up to
three years from the date it was declared effecthie cannot be sure that future funding will beilaide to us when we need it on terms that
are acceptable to us, or at all. We sell securdtigsincur debt when the terms of such transactiomsleemed favorable to us and as necessa
to fund our current and projected cash needs. Wwuat of funding we raise through sales of our camrstock or other securities depends on
many factors, including, but not limited to, thatsts and progress of our product development pnogjrarojected cash needs, availability of
funding from other sources, our stock price andstiatus of the capital markets. Due to the volatdture of the financial markets, equity and
debt financing may be difficult to obtain. In addit, any unfavorable development or delay in thagpess of our ITBO7 program could have
material adverse impact on our ability to raiseithaloll capital.

To the extent that we raise additional capital tigfothe sale of equity or convertible debt se@sijtthe ownership interest of our existing
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms mayude liquidation or other preferences that advgraéfect the rights of our stockholders. Debt
financing, if available, may involve agreementd thalude covenants limiting or restricting our lglito take specific actions, such as incuri
debt, making capital expenditures or declaringdiivids.

If adequate funds are not available to us on alyitnasis, we may be required to: (1) delay, limetjuce or terminate pre-clinical studies,
clinical trials or other clinical development adtiies for one or more of our product candidatesluding our lead product candidate ITI-007,
ITI-214, and our other pre-clinical stage product
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candidates; (2) delay, limit, reduce or terminaie discovery research or pre-clinical developmetitaies; or (3) enter into licenses or other
arrangements with third parties on terms that meayrfavorable to us or sell, license or relinquights to develop or commercialize our
product candidates, technologies or intellectuapprty at an earlier stage of development and ssfeevorable terms than we would otherwise
agree.

Our cash is maintained in checking accounts, momasket accounts, money market funds, certificateleposit, commercial paper,
corporate notes and corporate bonds at major fiabinstitutions. Due to the current low intereatas available for these instruments, we are
earning limited interest income. Our investmentfodio has not been adversely impacted by the groislin the credit markets that have
existed over the last several years, but therdeamp assurance that our investment portfolio mgtl be adversely affected in the future.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Total contractual obligations as of December 31.428re summarized in the following table (in thods:

Payments Due By Perioc

Less thar More than
1-3 35
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Operating Lease Obligations $13,12¢ $ 11 $3,43¢ $3,85¢ $ 5,82t

The table of Contractual Obligations and Commitraeittes not reflect that, under the License Agreémiéh BMS, we may be
obligated to make future milestone payments to Bbt&ling $12 million; to make other future milestopayments to BMS for each licensed
product of up to an aggregate of approximately ¥ 4nillion; to make tiered single digit percentaggalty payments on sales of licensed
products; and to pay BMS a percentage of non-rpyslyyments made in consideration of any sublicense.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based on oundiahstatements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the United States, or GAAR fpiteparation of these financial
statements requires management to make estimatessanmptions that affect reported amounts of aisset liabilities as of the date of the
balance sheet and reported amounts of revenuesxgedses for the periods presented. Judgmentsaisodte made about the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. We base our estimates @tdnical experience and on various other assumgptizat we believe to be reasonable unde
circumstances. These estimates and assumptionglierbrasis for making judgments about the carryaiges of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Managemakes estimates and exercises judgment in reveognition and stock-based
compensation. Actual results may differ from thesemates and under different assumptions or condit

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies affect management’s more significant judgteeind estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements:

Revenue Recoghnitio

Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditétise agreements have been met, including thaupsive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesvi@ve been rendered, the price is fixed or d@tabte and collectability is reasonably
assured. We are reimbursed for certain costs iedwn
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specified research projects under the terms anditmms of grants, collaboration agreements, andrde: \We record the amount of
reimbursement as revenues on a gross basis indaca with ASC Topic 605-4Revenue Recognition/Principal Agent Considerationg

are the primary obligor with respect to purchagjngds and services from third-party supplierscdolgated to compensate the service
provider for the work performed, and have discrefioselecting the supplier. Provisions for estieddbsses on research grant projects and al
other contracts are made in the period such lagedetermined.

We have entered into arrangements involving thvelsi of more than one element. Each required dedible is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogntror us, this determination is generally basedbether the deliverable has “stand-alone
value” to the customer. We adopted this accourdtagdard on a prospective basis for all MultipldiZgable Revenue Arrangements, or
MDRAs, entered into on or after January 1, 2014, fan any MDRAS that were entered into prior touny 1, 2011, but materially modified
on or after that date.

The adoption of this accounting standard did neelematerial impact on our results of operatiamgtie years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, or on our financial positiag®f those dates.

We adopted ASC Topic 605-28lilestone Method Under this guidance, we recognize revenue coatingpon the achievement of a
substantive milestone in its entirety in the petiogl milestone is achieved. Substantive milest@yengnts are recognized upon achievement
the milestone only if all of the following conditie are met:

» the milestone payments are -refundable
» achievement of the milestone involves a degreéskfand was not reasonably assured at the incepfitre arrangemen
» substantive effort on our part is involved in asing the milestone

* the amount of the milestone payment is readeriabyelation to the effort expended or the risk@ciated with achievement of the
milestone; an

» areasonable amount of time passes betwearptfrent license payment and the first milestongnpant, as well as between each
subsequent milestone payme

Determination as to whether a payment meets thremfentioned conditions involves management’s judgmé&any of these conditions
are not met, the resulting payment would not besiclared a substantive milestone, and thereforaethdting payment would be considered
part of the consideration for the single unit of@anting and be recognized as revenue as suchrpeniice obligations are performed under
either the proportional performance or straighélinethods, as applicable. In addition, the deteatiun that one such payment was not a
substantive milestone could prevent us from conolythat subsequent milestone payments were suhstanilestones and, as a result, any
additional milestone payments could also be comsaipart of the consideration for the single uhiaacounting and would be recognized as
revenue as such performance obligations are pegbumder either the proportional performance @igiit-line methods, as applicable.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based payments are accounted for in accoedaitic the provisions of ASC Topic 718pmpensation—Stock Compensatidine
fair value of share-based payments is estimateth@date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Medption-pricing model, or the Black-
Scholes model. The resulting fair value is recogairatably over the requisite service period, wiscfjenerally the vesting period of the
option.

For all awards granted with time-based vesting tts, expense is amortized using the straighg-éttribution method. For awards that
contain a performance-based vesting condition, esgpé amortized using the accelerated attributiethod. As stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the statements of
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operations for the years ended December 31, 2@1B &nd 2012 is based on share-based awards @ljnexipected to vest, it has been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 71§uiess forfeitures to be estimated at the timerahyand revised, if necessary, in subseq
periods if actual forfeitures differ from thoseipsites. Pre-vesting forfeitures for the fiscal peanded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
were estimated based on our historical experiendéhave not been material.

We utilize the Black-Scholes model for estimatiag fralue of our stock options granted. Option atibn models, including the Black-
Scholes model, require the input of subjective mgtions, and changes in the assumptions used camiafly affect the grant date fair value
an award. These assumptions include thefriskrate of interest, expected dividend yield,exted volatility and the expected life of the aw

Expected volatility rates are based on historicddtility of the common stock of comparable publitladed entities and other factors due
to the lack of historic information of our commaocek. The expected life of stock options is thaqueof time for which the stock options are
expected to be outstanding. Given the lack of histxercise data, the expected life is determimgdg the “simplified method” which is
defined as the midpoint between the vesting datettasm end of the contractual term.

The risk-free interest rates are based on the The&sury yield for a period consistent with theeotpd term of the option in effect at the
time of the grant. We have not paid dividends tostackholders since our inception and do not pdgpay cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Therefore, we have assumed an expectedetigirate of zero.

Given the absence of an active market for our comstock during 2012 and 2013, the exercise pri€éiseostock options on the dates of
grant were determined and approved by the boaditeftors using several factors, including progiss milestones achieved in our business
development and performance, the price per shaverodonvertible preferred stock offerings and gehimdustry and economic trends. In
establishing the estimated fair value of our commstmiek, we considered the guidance set forth in daaga Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Practice GuideValuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensation

Under ASC Topic 718, the cumulative amount of congation cost recognized for instruments classdigequity that ordinarily would
result in a future tax deduction under existingltax shall be considered to be a deductible diffeesin applying ASC Topic 74ncome
Taxes. The deductible temporary difference is basechercompensation cost recognized for financial riépgpurposes. However, these
provisions currently do not impact us, as all teéedred tax assets have a full valuation allowance.

Since we had net operating loss carryforwards &egember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no excess teefitefor the tax deductions
related to share-based awards were recognizee istéttements of operations.

Equity instruments issued to non-employees areuated for under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 ASC Topic 505-50,
Equity/Equit-Based Payments to Non-Employe@scordingly, the estimated fair value of the eguimstrument is recorded on the earlier of
the performance commitment date or the date thecesrrequired are completed and are marked toehdtking the service period.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
We review new accounting standards to determinexpected financial impact, if any, that the adap®f each such standard will have.
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdq&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update N@4209 (ASU 2014-09),
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014+li%liminate transaction-specific and industryesgic revenue recognition guidance

under current GAAP and replace it with a principkesed approach for determining revenue recognii®&u 2014-09 will require that
companies recognize
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revenue based on the value of transferred goodsruices as they occur in the contract. ASU 201488 will require additional disclosure
about the nature, amount, timing and uncertaintyeeénue and cash flows arising from customer astgr including significant judgments &
changes in judgments and assets recognized frots icasirred to obtain or fulfill a contract. ASU8-09 is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Eamplieation is not permitted. Entities can transitiorthe standard either retrospectively or as
a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date op&dn. Presently, we are assessing what effecdogtion of ASU 2014-09 will have on our
consolidated financial statements and accompamates.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensitivityds of December 31, 2014, we had cash, cash egmitgahnd marketable securities of $129.6 millionststing
of cash deposited in a highly rated financial tusion in the United States and in a short-term. Ji®asury money market fund, as well as
high-grade corporate bonds and commercial paper. Theapyiobjective of our investment activities is tegerve our capital for the purposi
funding operations and we do not enter into investts for trading or speculative purposes. We belteat we do not have material exposu
high-risk investments such as mortgage-backed giesyauction rate securities or other speciatgtment vehicles within our money-market
fund investments. We believe that we do not hayenaaterial exposure to changes in fair value asalt of changes in interest rates. Decline:
in interest rates, however, would reduce futurestment income.

Capital Market Risk.We currently have no product revenues and deperidrals raised through other sources. One possihirce of
funding is through further equity offerings. Ouiilai to raise funds in this manner depends upgpiteamarket forces affecting our stock pri

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statéi@ehedule Numbe
Independent Auditors’ Report F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,801 201: F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2014 and 2! F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 ai® F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEeaded December 31, 2014 and 2! F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ltem 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenesaf disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) as of the end of the period covered byFoisn 10-K, have concluded that, based
on such evaluation, our disclosure controls andgutares were effective to ensure that informatemjuired to be disclosed by us in the reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act iorded, processed, summarized and reported, wiikitime periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms, and is accumulated and commumidateur management, including our principal exieeuand principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriatallow timely decisions regarding required ltisare.

70



Table of Contents

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial reporting. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in RaifE3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Axch process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the Company’s principal executine arincipal financial officers and effected by @empany’s board of directors,
management and other personnel to provide reasoaablrance regarding the reliability of finanoggdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. The Gomjs internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras th

» pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Compar

« provide reasonable assurance that transadi@nsecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nad receipts and expenditures of the Company eirggbmade only in accordan
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; an

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitinse or disposition of the
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehggsCompany’s internal control over financiaporting as of December 31,
2014. In making this assessment, management usemlitéria set forth by the Committee of Sponsofrganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integratedrework (1992).

Based on our assessment, management believeadtwdtDecember 31, 2014, the company’s internairabaver financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting, identified in connection witie evaluation of such internal control
that occurred during the fourth quarter of our festal year that have materially affected, or re@sonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

tem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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tem 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The response to this item is incorporated by ref@drom the discussion responsive thereto undecdptions “Management and
Corporate Governance,” “Section 16(a) Beneficialmevship Reporting Compliance,” and “Code of Condurat Ethics” in the Company’s
Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Bthadders.

ltem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated by refsgdrom the discussion responsive thereto undecaption “Executive Officer and
Director Compensation” in the Company’s Proxy Staat for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The response to this item is incorporated by refe@drom the discussion responsive thereto unaecdptions “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “BgGompensation Plan Information” in the Compartexy Statement for the 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ltem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The response to this item is incorporated by refegdrom the discussion responsive thereto undecadptions Certain Relationships al
Related Person Transactions” and “Management anpo@ate Governance” in the Compasyroxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meetin
Stockholders.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The response to this item is incorporated by refsgdrom the discussion responsive thereto undecaption “Proposal 2: Ratification of
Selection of Independent Registered Public Accognfiirm” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for tl0d2 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Item 15.
Item 15(a).

Item 15(a)(1)
and (2)

Item 15(a)(3)

PART IV

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of tms@al report on Form -K:

See “Index to Consolidated Financial StatementsFanancial Statement Scheduleg”ltem 8 to this Annual Report
Form 10-K. Other financial statement schedules mtédeen included because they are not applicatitee

information is included in the financial statemenitshotes theretc

Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

21

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

The following is a list of exhibits filed as pafftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated

by Reference

herein from

Form or SEC File/
Exhibit Description Schedule Filing Date Reg. Number

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Augus2@383, by and 8-K 8/29/201: 000-54896
among the Registrant, ITI, Inc. and Ir-Cellular Therapies, In (Exhibit 2.1)
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Augus2@93, by and 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
between the Registrant and Intra-Cellular Thergpies, relating to (Exhibit 2.2)
the name change of the Registr:
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, filed with the S-1/A 11/26/13 333-19123¢
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on Nier 7, 2013 (Exhibit 3.1)
Certificate of Merger relating to the Merger of | Tic. with and into 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., filed with the Setary of State of the (Exhibit 3.3)
State of Delaware on August 29, 20
Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to kerger of Intra- 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
Cellular Therapies, Inc. with and into the Registrdiled with the (Exhibit 3.4)
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on Augf, 2013,
relating to the name change of the Registl
Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896

(Exhibit 3.5)
Form of common stock certificate. 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896

(Exhibit 4.1)
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated April 18328sued to 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896

Alzheimer Drug Discovery Foundation, Ir
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Exhibit
Number

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Incorporated

by Reference

herein from

Filed Form or SEC File/
Exhibit Description Herewith Schedule Filing Date Reg. Numbel

Amendment dated August 29, 2013 to Warrant to Rageh 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
Common Stock dated April 19, 2013 issued to Alzlezilrug (Exhibit 4.2.2)
Discovery Foundation, In
License Agreement dated as of May 31, 2005 by atdden 8-K/A 10/31/201: 000-5489¢
Bristol-Meyers Squibb Company and Intra-Cellulaefdpies, (Exhibit 10.1.1
Inc.**
Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as oEhder 3 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
2010 by and between Bristol-Meyers Squibb Compantylatra- (Exhibit 10.1.2
Cellular Therapies, Inc
License and Collaboration Agreement dated as ofuzed 25, 8-K/A 10/31/201: 000-5489¢
2011 by and between Takeda Pharmaceutical Compiamited (Exhibit 10.2)
and Intre-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*
Termination Agreement dated as of October 31, 2314dnd
between Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited raind-| X
Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employment Agreement effective as of February 288by and 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
between Sharon Mates, Ph.D. and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.3)
Offer Letter dated July 28, 2014 by Intra-Celluldrerapies, Inc. 10-Q 11/3/2014 0013627
to Michael Halstead. (Exhibit 10.1)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 28&by and 8-K 9/5/201: 000-5489¢
between Lawrence J. Hineline and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.4)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 288by and 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
between Allen Fienberg, Ph.D. and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.5)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 208by and 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
between Lawrence Wennogle, Ph.D. and Intra-CellTiharapies, (Exhibit 10.6)
Inc.*
Offer Letter dated February 2, 2007 by Intra-Celfulherapies, 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢

Inc. to Kimberly Vanover.
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Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Exhibit Form or SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description Schedule Filing Date Reg. Numbe!
10.9 Offer Letter dated February 21, 2014 by Intra-GaHT herapies, Inc. 10-K 3/25/201« 0013627«
to Juan Sanchez, M.D (Exhibit 10.8)
10.10 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthMCompetition 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
Agreement effective as of September 1, 2003 bybtatadeen Sharon (Exhibit 10.8)
Mates, Ph.D. and Int-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.11 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthNCompetition
Agreement effective as of July 29, 2014 by and betwMichael
Halstead and Int-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.12 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthNCompetition 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
Agreement effective as of December 1, 2003 by ataiden (Exhibit 10.9)
Lawrence J. Hineline and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.13 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthMCompetition 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
Agreement effective as of June 3, 2002 by and betwidlen (Exhibit 10.10
Fienberg, Ph.D. and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.14 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthMCompetition 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
Agreement effective as of January 1, 2003 by amdden Lawrence (Exhibit 10.11
Wennogle, Ph.D. and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.15 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshMCompetition 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
Agreement effective as of March 5, 2007 by and betwKimberly E. (Exhibit 10.12
Vanover, Ph.D. and Int-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.16 Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshMCompetition 10-K 3/25/201- 0013627«
Agreement effective as of March 7, 2014 by and ketwJuan (Exhibit 10.14
Sanchez, M.D. and Ini-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany an 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
its directors and executive officer: (Exhibit 10.13
10.18 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.* 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
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Exhibit
Number

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

141

21.1

23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1

101

INS

.SCH
.CAL
.DEF
.LAB
.PRE

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Filed Form or SEC File/
Exhibit Description Herewith Schedule Filing Date Reg. Number
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Bduicentive 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.15
2013 Equity Incentive Plan.* 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
(Exhibit 10.16
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Bguitentive 10-K 3/25/201. 001-36274
Plan.* (Exhibit 10.19
Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.* 10-Q 8/12/201« 001-36274
(Exhibit 10.1)
Redemption Agreement dated as of August 29, 201ankybetween 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
the Registrant and NLBDIT 2010 Services, LI (Exhibit 10.17
Indemnity Agreement dated as of August 29, 2018y among the 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Registrant, Intr-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and Samir N. Ma (Exhibit 10.18
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of AugusPR%3 by and 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
among Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., the stockeodchamed therein (Exhibit 10.19
and the Registran
Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics and WhistlgbidPolicy. 8-K 1/7/2014 000-54896
(Exhibit 14.1)
Subsidiaries. S-1 9/18/13 333419123t
(Exhibit 21.1)
Consent of Ernst & Young LLF X
Certification of the Chief Executive Office X
Certification of the Chief Financial Office X
Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa@xley Act of X
2002.
XBRL Instance Documen X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitior X
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documk X
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:i X

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

**  Confidential treatment has been granted for jomg of this Exhibit. Redacted portions filed segtaly with the Securities and Exchange
Commission

T Confidential treatment is being requested fotipos of this Exhibit. Redacted portions filed segtaly with the Securities and Exchange
Commission
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SIGN ATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

Date: March 12, 2015 By: /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.|
Sharon Mates, Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicateldw and on the dates indicated.

Signature: Title Date
By: /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer March 12, 2015
Sharon Mates, Ph.I (principal executive officer)
By: /sl Lawrence J. Hineline Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial fic March 12, 2015
Lawrence J. Hineline (principal financial officer and principal accoundji
officer)
By: /sl Christopher Alafi, Ph.D. Director March 12, 2015
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D
By: /sl Richard Lerner, M.D. Director March 12, 2015
Richard Lerner, M.D
By: /sl Joel S. Marcus Director March 12, 2015
Joel S. Marcu
By: /s/ Rory B. Riggs Director March 12, 2015
Rory B. Riggs
By: /s/ Robert L. Van Nostrand Director March 12, 2015

Robert L. Van Nostran
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. andislidries as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statementsarhtipns, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ eqaity, cash flows for each of the three year:
in the period ended December 31, 2014. These fiabstatements are the responsibility of the Corgpmmanagement. Our responsibility it
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aih afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting thewents and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesars significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Intra-
Cellular Therapies, Inc. at December 31, 2014 &182and the consolidated results of their opematand their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20 bhnformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogiprinciples.

/sl Ernst & Young
McLean, VA
March 12, 2015
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Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Investment securities, availa-for-sale
Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued and other current liabiliti
Accrued employee benefi

Total current liabilities

Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $.0001 par value: 100,000,000 steargmrized; 29,499,059 and 22,159,446 sh

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 arf®| 28dpectively

Additional paic¢in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated comprehensive Ic
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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December 31

2014 2013

$ 61,32504  $ 35,150,92
68,320,67 2,000,001
51,60 336,31t
1,288,95. 762,24
130,986,27 38,249,48
54,55! 68,27:
70,94 131,55!
$131,111,76  $ 38,449,31
$ 2,052,760 $ 3,39506
7,529,24 2,611,09.
975,05t 827,87
10,557,06 6,834,03
2,95( 2,21€
208,912,34 89,177,55
(88,255,95) (57,564,49)
(104,63 —
120,554,70 31,615,27
$131,11176  $ 38,449,31
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenues
License and collaboration reven
Grant Revenu

Total revenue:

Costs and expense
Research and developm
General and administratiy
Total costs and expens

Loss from operation
Interest incom
Interest expens
Income taxe:

Net loss

Net loss per common sha
Basic & Diluted

Weighted average number of common she
Basic & Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ 54754 $ 2,737,000 $ 3,117,99
29,75¢ — —
577,30 2,737,00: 3,117,99
21,226,34 23,027,57 15,486,47
10,337,67 5,976,27, 4,034,92!
31,564,02 29,003,85 19,521,40
(30,986,72) (26,266,85) (16,403,41)
303,93 29,61 39,00:
(7,079) (612,96 (193,499
(1,600) (18,000 (32,927

$(30,691,46)

$(26,868,19)

$(16,590,82)

$ (1.07)

28,650,06

$ (1.56)

17,260,76

$ (2.96)

5,607,53!
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $(30,691,46) $(26,868,19) $(16,590,82)
Other comprehensive los

Unrealized loss on investment securi (104,63 — —
Comprehensive los $(30,796,09) $(26,868,19) $(16,590,82)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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Balance at December 31, 2011
Exercise of stock optior
Shar+-based compensatic
Conversion of convertible not
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20
Conversion of convertible not
Private placement of common stc
Exercise of stock optior
Stock subscriptiol
Shar+based compensatic
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20
Common shares issued February £

2014
Exercise of stock options
Stock issued for service
Stock subscription
Share-based compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive los:

Balance at December 31, 20

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa&stents.

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Common Stock Other

Additional Comprehensive Total
Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
12,149,06 1,21t 31,996,56 (14,105,47) — 17,892,30
33,27( 3 31,07¢ — — 31,08:
— — 295,10¢ — — 295,10¢
2,417,28. 242 15,356,18 — — 15,356,42
- - - (16,590,82) - (16,590,82)
14,599,61 1,46C $ 47,678,922  $(30,696,29) $ — $ 16,984,08
110,44t 11 701,71. — — 701,72
6,916,69 692 39,962,80 — — 39,963,50
514,46t 51 332,88 — — 332,93t
18,22¢ 2 109,83. — — 109,83¢
— — 391,39: — — 391,39:
— — — (26,868,19) — (26,868,19)
22,159,44  $2,21¢ $ 89,177,55 $(57,564,49) $ —  $31,615.27
7,063,301 70€ 115,442,04 — 115,442,74
247,16} 25 162,95! — 162,98
10,92 1 176,08 176,08!
18,22¢ 2 109,83: 109,83:
— — 3,843,87 — 3,843,87:
- - - (30,691,46) (30,691,46)
(104,63 (104,63
29,499,05 $2,95( $208,912,34  $(88,255,95) $ (104,63) $120,554,70
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activitie

Depreciation expens
Share-based compensation expel
Issuance of stock for servic
Amortization of premiums on investment activit
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities and employee bene
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities

Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Purchase of property and equipm

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissotgsame:
Proceeds from stock option exerci:

Proceeds from stock subscripti

Gross proceeds of public and private offeri

Payment of costs of public and private offeril

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe
Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for taxe

Unrealized loss on investment securi

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.

Years Ended December 31

2014

2013

2012

$ (30,691,46)

$(26,868,19)

$(16,590,82)

25,48 23,24¢ 47,74’
3,843,87, 391,39: 295,10
176,08! — —
297,22 — —
284,71t (35,88¢) 48,63
(466,09 (574,34) (34,189
(1,342,30) 3,353,45' (554,25()
5,065,32! 2,785,73 (448,49:)
— (1,666,67) (1,666,65))
(22,807,15)  (22,591,26)  (18,902,93)
(103,601,83) — (12,000,00)
36,879,30 1,500,001 17,700,12
(11,767 (33,25%) (38,95
(66,734,29) 1,466,74 5,661,16!
— 100,00¢ 15,163,00
162,98( 332,93t 31,08
109,83: 109,83« —
116,191,28 43,841,85 —
(748,53) (3,754,70) —
115,715,56 40,629,91 15,194,08
26,174,12 19,505,39 1,952,31:
35,150,92 15,645,52 13,693,21
$ 6132504  $35150,92  $ 1564552
$ 707 $  1132(  $ —
$ 4499¢ $ 31437 $ 1385
$  (10463) % — $ —
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014

1. Organization

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”),dahgh its wholly-owned operating subsidiary, ITlcl“ITI"), is a biopharmaceutical
company focused on the discovery and clinical dgvalent of innovative, small molecule drugs thatrads underserved medical needs in
neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders byating intracellular signaling mechanisms within teatral nervous system (“CNS”). The
Company’s lead product candidate, ITI-007, is ia$th3 clinical development as a first-in-classtineat for schizophrenia.

ITI was incorporated in the State of Delaware oryM3a, 2001 under the name “Intra-Cellular Theraplies.” and commenced operations in
June 2002. ITI was founded to discover and deveétags for the treatment of neurological and psytciciaisorders.

On August 29, 2013, ITI completed a reverse meftiper“Merger”) with a public shell company namededta Resources Corp. (“Oneida”).
Oneida was formed in August 2012 as a vehiclewestigate and, if such investigation warrantedyaeca target company or business seekin
the perceived advantages of being a publicly hetgaration. In the Merger, each outstanding shamapital stock of ITI was exchanged for
0.5 shares of common stock of Oneida, and eachamgli®g option to purchase one share of ITI comstonk and each outstanding warrant tc
purchase one share of ITI common stock was assbyn@heida and became exercisable for 0.5 shar@seida common stock. As a result of
the Merger and related transactions, ITI survived avholly-owned subsidiary of Oneida, Oneida cledrits fiscal year end from March 31 to
December 31, and Oneida changed its name to Irelal& Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”). In additighe Company began operating ITI
and its business, and therefore ceased being lecehgbany. Following the Merger and the redemptiball then outstanding shares of Oneida
at the closing of the Merger, the former sharehsl@é ITI owned 100% of the shares of the Compapytstanding capital stock.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar (“FASB”), Accounting Standards CodificatioASC") Topic 805,Business
Combinations ITl is considered the acquirer for accountingpmses, and has accounted for the transaction agitaldransaction, because
ITI's former stockholders received 100% of the mgtrights in the combined entity and ITI's senicamagement represented all of the senior
management of the combined entity. Consequentyatisets and liabilities and the historical openatihat are reflected in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements are those ol have been recorded at the historical cost bafiie Company. All share and per share
amounts in the consolidated financial statemendsralated notes have been retrospectively adjustesflect the one-for-0.5 shares of capital
stock exchange as well as the conversion of thesN@tefined below) and the Series A, B, and C madéée convertible preferred stock of ITI.

Immediately prior to the Merger, on August 29, 2013 sold to accredited investors approximatel@ $6million of its shares of common
stock, or 18,889,307 shares at a price of $3.184lpare (the “Private Placement”), which inclu@&8.3 million in principal and $0.8 million
in accrued interest from the conversion of ITI'enhoutstanding convertible promissory notes (thet&d").

On February 5, 2014, the Company completed a poHicing of common stock in which the Company s6)d63,300 shares of common
stock, which included the exercise of the undeessitoption to purchase an additional 921,300 shaean offering price of $17.50 per share.
After deducting underwriting discounts, commissiansl offering expenses, the net proceeds to thep@oywere approximately $115.4
million.

On October 31, 2014, the Company entered intomaittion agreement with Takeda Pharmaceutical Copnpamited (“Takeda”)terminating
the worldwide license and collaboration agreemeanien which the Company
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1. Organization (continued)

and Takeda were jointly developing the Company&pgetary compound ITI-214 and other selected camgs that selectively inhibit
phosphodiesterase type 1 (“PDE1") for use in tlev@ntion and treatment of human diseases. Throeglember 31, 2014, the Company had
received $28.9 million in total payments underageeement and was eligible to receive milestonengays and royalties based on net sales.
The Company is in the process of refining its sggtfor the PDE1 inhibitor program.

In order to further its research projects and suppocollaborations, the Company will require aidaal financing until such time, if ever, that
revenue streams are sufficient to generate consigtssitive cash flow from operations. Possiblerses of funds include public or private sales
of the Company’s equity securities, sales of debtsties, the incurrence of debt from commera@alers, strategic collaborations, licensing a
portion or all of the Compang’product candidates and technology and, to arlessent, grant funding. On August 29, 2014, thenBany filec

a universal shelf registration statement on Forf) ®hich was declared effective by the Securitied Bxchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
September 15, 2014, to register $150 million of@oenpany’s common stock, preferred stock, vari@uies of debt securities, warrants, rights
and purchase contracts to purchase any of suchitseg,weither individually or in units, for issueafrom time to time at prices and on terms to
be determined at the time of any such offeringsThgistration statement will remain in effect figrto three years from the initial effective
date.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates ar
assumptions that affect the amounts reported ifitkhacial statements and accompanying notes. Atthactual results could differ from thc
estimates, management does not believe that stfehedices would be material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmesith a maturity of three months or less from tlagedof purchase to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of checking atsomoney market accounts, money market fundscartdicates of deposit with a matur
date of three months or less. Certificates of digpommmercial paper, corporate notes and corpdraels with a maturity date of more than
three months are classified separately on the balaheet. Their carrying values approximate thenfiairket value.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities may consist of investments.®. Treasuries, various U.S. governmental agdeby securities, corporate bonds,
certificates of deposit, and other fixed incomeusigies with an average maturity of twelve monthdess. Management classifies the
Company'’s investments as available-for-sale. Sechrities are carried at estimated fair value, witly unrealized holding gains or losses
reported, net of any tax effects reported, as actated other comprehensive income, which is a se@@omponent of stockholders’ equity.
Realized gains and losses, and declines in vatigeplito be other-than-temporary, if any, are inetuth consolidated results of operations. A
decline in the market value of any available-fdescurity below cost that is deemed to be othantemporary results in a reduction in fair
value, which is charged to earnings in that peréodi a new cost basis for the security is estaddisBividend and interest income is recogn
as interest income when earned. The cost of semusidld is calculated using the specific iderdifien method.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)
Investment Securities

Investment securities consisted of the followingtfiousands):

December 31, 201

Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains (Losses; Value

(unaudited)
U.S. Government Agency Securiti $ 4,31¢ $ — $ 3 $ 4,31
FDIC Certificates of Depos 16,37 — (14 16,36(
Certificates of Depos 2,00( — — 2,00(
Commercial Pape 9,74: 1 — 9,74¢
Corporate Notes/Bonc 35,99: — (89 35,90:
$ 68,42t $ 1 $ (100 $68,32(
December 31, 201

Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains (Losses) Value
Certificates of Deposit $ 2,00( — — $ 2,00(
$ 2,00( $ — $ — $ 2,00(

The Company has classified all of its investmentisées available-for-sale, including those witlaturities beyond one year, as current asset
on the consolidated balance sheets based on thly liquid nature of the investment securities &edause these investment securities are
considered available for use in current operatigssof December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 ¢mepany held $31.8 million and $0,
respectively, of available-for-sale investment sities with contractual maturity dates more thae grar and less than two years.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies the fair value method under ASgic 820,Fair Value Measurements and Disclosur@sSC Topic 820 defines fair
value, establishes a fair value hierarchy for asaed liabilities measured at fair value and rexpuexpanded disclosures about fair value
measurements. The ASC Topic 820 hierarchy rankguhéty and reliability of inputs, or assumptionsed in the determination of fair value
and requires assets and liabilities carried atvaine to be classified and disclosed in one ofthlewing categories based on the lowest level
input used that is significant to a particular featue measurement:

e Level 1—Fair value is determined by using unat§d quoted prices that are available in activiketa for identical assets and
liabilities.

* Level 2—Fair value is determined by using irgpother than Level 1 quoted prices that are diyemtindirectly observable. Inputs
can include quoted prices for similar assets aatfallities in active markets or quoted prices faritical assets and liabilities in

inactive markets. Related inputs can also inclldsé used in valuation or other pricing modelshsaginterest rates and yield
curves that can be corroborated by observable mdgka.

e Level 3—Fair value is determined by inputs thia unobservable and not corroborated by market tse of these inputs involves
significant and subjective judgments to be mada bgporting entity—e.g., determining an appropratgistment to a discount
factor for illiquidity associated with a given seity.

The Company evaluates financial assets and li@siltubject to fair value measurements on a regubasis to determine the appropriate leve
at which to classify them each reporting periodsTetermination requires the Company to make stibgejudgments as to the significance of
inputs used in determining fair value and wheréhsaputs lie within the ASC Topic 820 hierarchy.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

The Company has no assets or liabilities that wezasured using quoted prices for significant unoadde inputs (Level 3 assets and
liabilities) as of December 31, 2014 and Decemlie2B13. The carrying value of cash held in moneyket funds of approximately $8.5
million as of December 31, 2014 and $0.0 millioroa®ecember 31, 2013, is included in cash and egslivalents and approximates market
value based on quoted market price or Level 1 sput

The fair value measurements of the Company’s cgslvalents and available-for-sale investment séiegrare identified in the following
tables (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements ai
Reporting Date Using
Quoted Price:

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31 Assets Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market funds $ 8,49 $ 8,49t $ — $ —
U.S. Government Agency Securiti 4,31z — 4,31z —
FDIC certificates of depos 16,36( — 16,36( —
Certificates of depos 41,00( — 41,00( —
Commercial pape 9,74 — 9,74¢ —
Corporate Bonds/Note 35,90: — 35,90: —
$ 115,81! $ 8,49¢ $107,32( $ —

Fair Value Measurements al
Reporting Date Using
Quoted Price:

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31 Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Certificates of depos 6,00( — 6,00( —
$ 6,00( $ — $ 6,00( $ —

Financial Instruments

The Company considers the recorded costs of imfiial assets and liabilities, which consist ohoaguivalents, investment securities
available-for-sale, accounts receivable, accouayalple and accrued liabilities, to approximatertfar value because of their relatively short
maturities at December 31, 2014 and December 313.28anagement believes that the risks associaitbdt® financial instruments are
minimal as the counterparties are various corpamatifinancial institutions and government agenofdsigh credit standing.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Cash equivalents are held with major financialiinbns in the United States. Certificates of d@pbeld with banks may exceed the amou
insurance provided on such deposits. Generallggetieposits may be redeemed upon demand and attesieéar minimal risk.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)
Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable that management has the iantehtbility to collect are reported in the balasleeets at outstanding amounts, less an
allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company writisincollectible receivables when the likelihomfdcollection is remote.

The Company evaluates the collectability of acceuateivable on a regular basis. The allowana@yf is based upon various factors
including the financial condition and payment higtof customers, an overall review of collectiomperience on other accounts and economi
factors or events expected to affect future calbest experience. No allowance was recorded as oémber 31, 2014 and 2013, as the
Company has a history of collecting on all its agts including government agencies and collabanatfanding its research.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost and diepedoon a straight-line basis over estimated udighs ranging from three to five years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using th@htrline method over the shorter of the estimatsefful life of the assets or the term of the
related lease. Expenditures for maintenance aradrsegre charged to operations as incurred.

When indicators of possible impairment are ideatifithe Company evaluates the recoverability ot#reying value of its long-lived assets
based on the criteria established in ASC 380perty, Plant and EquipmeniThe Company considers historical performanceaanttipated
future results in its evaluation of potential immpa&nt. The Company evaluates the carrying valubaxfe assets in relation to the operating
performance of the business and undiscounted &ashk éxpected to result from the use of those asbapairment losses are recognized whe
carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flmwghich case management must determine the &hilevof the underlying asset. No such
impairment losses have been recognized to date.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditibtise agreements have been met, including peksuasidence of an arrangement,
delivery has occurred or services have been reddpriee is fixed or determinable and collectabii# reasonably assured. The Company is
reimbursed for certain costs incurred on specifesarch projects under the terms and conditiogsaoits, collaboration agreements, and
awards. The Company records the amount of reimimeseas revenues on a gross basis in accordantt@&®{€ Topic 605-45Revenue
Recognition/Principal Agent Consideratio. The Company is the primary obligor with respegptirchasing goods and services from third-
party suppliers, is obligated to compensate the@seprovider for the work performed, and has difon in selecting the supplier. Provisions
for estimated losses on research grant projectaapather contracts are made in the period sussekare determined.

The Company has entered into arrangements invothiaglelivery of more than one element. Each reguileliverable is evaluated to
determine whether it qualifies as a separate drgtoounting. For the Company, this determinatsogenerally based on whether the
deliverable has “stand-alone value” to the custorfibe Company adopted this accounting standardmospective basis for all Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements (“MDRAS”) enteired on or after January 1, 2011, and for any MDR#et were entered into prior to
January 1, 2011, but materially modified on or ratftet date.

The Company adopted ASC Topic 605-RBlestone Method Under this guidance, the Company recognizes teveontingent upon the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its etytin the period the milestone is achieved. Suttista milestone payments are recognized
upon achievement of the milestone only if all af tbllowing conditions are met:

e The milestone payments are refundable
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)
» Achievement of the milestone involves a degreastfand was not reasonably assured at the incepfithre arrangemen
e Substantive effort on the Comp¢'s part is involved in achieving the milesto

e The amount of the milestone payment is readerialyelation to the effort expended or the riska@ciated with achievement of the
milestone; an

» Areasonable amount of time passes betweengHeont license payment and the first milestongnpant, as well as between each
subsequent milestone payme

Determination as to whether a payment meets themfentioned conditions involves managengptgment. If any of these conditions are
met, the resulting payment would not be consideredbstantive milestone, and therefore, the resuftayment would be considered part o
consideration for the single unit of accounting &edecognized as revenue in accordance with trentee models described above. In addi
the determination that one such payment was nobstantive milestone could prevent the Company ftoncluding that subsequent milest
payments were substantive milestones and, as &, resy additional milestone payments could alsedrsidered part of the consideration for
the single unit of accounting and would be recogghias revenue as such performance obligationsegi@med under either the proportional
performance or straight-line methods, as applicable

Deferred Revenue

Cash received as prepayment on future servicesfésrdd and recognized as revenue as the senregedormed. The Company must remit
interest on any deferred revenue related to a govental agency. As of December 31, 2014 and 204 Bjtarest was due as the Company did
not have any deferred revenue from a governmemcyge

Research and Development

Except for payments made in advance of servicesCtimpany expenses its research and developméesatasosicurred. For payments made in
advance, the Company recognizes research and gevefd expense as the services are rendered. Researcdevelopment costs primarily
consist of salaries and related expenses for peet@amd resources and the costs of clinical trfather research and development expenses
include preclinical analytical testing, outsidevsegs, providers, materials and consulting fees.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liahitigthod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the finandialesnent carrying amounts of existing assets ainlilies and its respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurid) @hacted tax rates expected to apply to taxiabtame in the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilitfes change in tax rates is recognized in incontbdénperiod that includes the enactment date.
Valuation allowances are established when necessaeguce net deferred tax assets to the amopeteed to be realized. Income tax expe
is the tax payable for the period and the changmgthe period in deferred tax assets and liaddit

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiomrsyant to ASC Topic 740 (previously included in BABiterpretation No. 48Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Tax—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. LdBnancial statement recognition of a tax positiaken or
expected to be taken in a tax return is determirzesstd on a more-likely-than-not threshold of thaition being sustained. If the tax position
meets
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

this threshold, the benefit to be recognized issuesl as the tax benefit having the highest likaldhof being realized upon ultimate settlen
with the taxing authority. The Company recognizgsriest accrued related to unrecognized tax beragiid penalties in the provision for
income taxes.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

All components of comprehensive income (loss) udiig net income (loss), are reported in the fimgrstatements in the period in which they
are incurred. Comprehensive income (loss) is ddfasthe change in equity of a business entergusag a period from transactions and ot
events and circumstances from non-owner sourcesdordance with accounting guidance, the Compagsepts the impact of any unrealized
gains or (losses) on its investment securitiessamarate statement of comprehensive income (flmssach period.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based payments are accounted for in accaadticthe provisions of ASC Topic 718pmpensation—Stock Compensatidime fair
value of share-based payments is estimated, odwatieeof grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton appacing model (the “Black-Scholes
model”). The resulting fair value is recognizedatddy over the requisite service period, which isegally the vesting period of the option.

For all awards granted with time-based vesting &, expense is amortized using the straiglg-&ttribution method. For awards that
contain a performance-based vesting condition, esg@é amortized using the accelerated attributiethod. As share-based compensation
expense recognized in the statements of operdtioise years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an?l iaddased on share-based awards
ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduceéstmated forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requireseibures to be estimated at the time of grant
and revised, if necessary, in subsequent pericaistifal forfeitures differ from those estimatese-RPesting forfeitures are based on the
Company’s historical experience for the years eridlecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and have naotrhaterial.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model feoimesting fair value of its stock options grantetion valuation models, including the
Black-Scholes model, require the input of subjectigsumptions, and changes in the assumptionsasadaterially affect the grant date fair
value of an award. These assumptions include skefiee rate of interest, expected dividend yiekhected volatility and the expected life of
the award.

Expected volatility rates are based on historicddtility of the common stock of comparable publitiaded entities and other factors due tc
lack of historic information of the Comparsy¢ommon stock. The expected life of stock optisribe period of time for which the stock optic
are expected to be outstanding. Given the lacksbbtic exercise data, the expected life is deteeahiusing the “simplified method,” which is
defined as the midpoint between the vesting datettas end of the contractual term.

The risk-free interest rates are based on the T¥esury yield for a period consistent with theextpd term of the option in effect at the time
of the grant. The Company has not paid dividendtststockholders since its inception and doespiat to pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company hasrestan expected dividend rate of zero.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&) tfnat there was no active market for the Commaogmmon stock, the exercise price
the stock options on the dates of grant were déteshand approved by the board of directors usivgal factors, including progress and
milestones achieved in the Company’s business dprrednt and performance, the price per share obitgertible preferred stock offerings
and general industry and economic trends. In gstabg the estimated fair value of the common sttitk Company
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

considered the guidance set forth in American tutgtiof Certified Public Accountants Practice GubMaluation of Privately-Held-Company
Equity Securities Issued as Compensa. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the erepcice was determined by using the closing
market price of the Company’s common stock on tite df grant.

Under ASC Topic 718, the cumulative amount of conga¢ion cost recognized for instruments classidigequity that ordinarily would result
in a future tax deduction under existing tax lawlshe considered to be a deductible temporangedifice in applying ASC Topic 74Bcome
Taxes. The deductible temporary difference is basechencompensation cost recognized for financial répgpurposes; however, these
provisions currently do not impact the Companyalathe deferred tax assets have a full valuatimwance.

Since the Company had net operating loss carryf@svas of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, nesstag benefits for the tax deductions
related to share-based awards were recognize istétements of operations.

Equity instruments issued to consultants are adeduior under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 ariCATopic 505-50Equity/Equity-Based
Payments to N-Employees Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the egimstrument is recorded on the earlier of thédqremnance
commitment date or the date the services required@npleted and are marked to market during thecseperiod.

Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is determined\iglidg the net loss allocable to common stockhadsrthe weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, witbonsideration of common stock equivalents. Ddutet loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss allocable to common stockbaddoy the weighted-average number of common stqakvalents outstanding for the
period. The treasury stock method is used to déterthe dilutive effect of the Company’s stock optgrants.

The following common stock equivalents were exctligtethe calculation of diluted loss per share bigegheir effect would be anti-dilutive as
applied to the loss from operations as of Decer8heP014, 2013 and 2012:

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

Stock Equivalents 958,71: 898,98: 905,28

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdq&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update N@4209 (ASU 2014-09),
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014+li3=liminate transaction-specific and industryesfjic revenue recognition guidance
under current GAAP and replace it with a principkesed approach for determining revenue recognii®&u 2014-09 will require that
companies recognize revenue based on the valuarsfférred goods or services as they occur indh&act. ASU 2014-09 also will require
additional disclosure about the nature, amouningnand uncertainty of revenue and cash flowsmgifiom customer contracts, including
significant judgments and changes in judgmentsaamséts recognized from costs incurred to obtafolfilt a contract. ASU 2014-09 is
effective for annual reporting periods beginninggaDecember 15, 2016. Early application is notpted. Entities can transition to the
standard either retrospectively or as a cumulatifect adjustment as of the date of adoption. Pithsehe Company is assessing what effect
the adoption of ASU 2014-09 will have on our coidatied financial statements and accompanying notes.
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3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31

2014 2013

Computer equipment $ 39,16( $ 82,25
Furniture and fixture 35,95¢ 46,52
Scientific equipmen 2,207,84t 2,851,94
Leasehold improvemen — 319,55:
2,282,96! 3,300,27!

Less accumulated depreciati (2,228,41) 3,232,00)
$ 54,55! $ 68,27

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@034, 2013 and 2012 was $25,481, $23,249 and@4A4Tespectively. During 2014, in
conjunction with its move in February 2015 to isswmnheadquarters, the Company retired $319,553llgfdapreciated leasehold improvements
and disposal of $709,518 of fully depreciated prgpand equipment. During 2013, the Company ret#&tl,663 of fully depreciated property
and equipment.

4. Share-Based Compensation

The Company sponsors the Intra-Cellular Therapies, 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plard’)ytrovide for the granting of stodiase:
awards, such as stock options, restricted comnuak stnd restricted stock units to employees, dirscind consultants as determined by the
Board of Directors. In August 2013, the Companyassd in the Merger the ITI 2003 Equity IncentivarP] as amended (the “2003 Plan”),
which expired by its terms in July 2013. As of Dmxer 31, 2014, the outstanding awards under th8 P#h were options to purchase
1,125,460 shares of common stock. Effective in Maver 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Plan. Bhap@ny reserved 2,850,000 shares
of common stock for issuance under the 2013 Ptadahuary 2014, the number of shares of commok séserved for issuance under the
2013 Plan automatically increased by 800,000 putstieathe evergreen provisions of the 2013 Plan.

Stock options granted under the 2013 Plan maytherdncentive stock options (“ISOs”) as definedthg Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), or non-qualified stock opgiofihe Board of Directors determines who will reeedptions, the vesting periods (which
are generally one to three years) and the exepcises of such options. Options have a maximum @0 years. The exercise price of ISOs
granted under the 2013 Plan must be at least ¢qjtia¢ fair market value of the common stock ondat of grant.

Total stock-based compensation expense relatdtldbthe Company’s share-based awards to employiestors and consultants recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h2, was comprised of the following:

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $1,842,82 $132,54: $111,20¢
General and administrati 2,001,05! 258,85( 183,90(
Total shar-based compensation expel $3,843,87 $391,39: $295, 10t
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4. Share-Based Compensation (continued)

The following table describes the weighted-avemggimptions used for calculating the value of eystigranted during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 80.(% 80.(% 79.1%
Weightec-average ris-free interest rat 2.C% 2.2% 1.2%
Expected term (in year 6.3 6.2 6.3

Information regarding the stock options activitglirding with respect to grants to employees, dinecand consultants as of December 31,
2014, and changes during the period then endeduanenarized as follows:

Weightec- Weightec-
Average
Average Aggregate Contractual
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Shares Price Value Life

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 (audited) 1,400,12! $ 1.9¢ $ — 5.3 year
Options grante: 1,108,001 $ 16.5( $ — 9.5 year
Options exercise (247,16H) $ 0.6¢ $ — 0.5 yea
Options canceled or expirt (27,500 $ 12.3¢ $ — 6.9 yea
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,233,46! $ 9.2 $18,867,08 7.3 year

Vested or expected to vest at December 31, : 2,233,461 $ 9.2 $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,324,55; $ 5.1C $16,625,12 5.9 year

The weighted-average grant date fair value for d&granted during the year ended December 31, 2¢d41$16.50 per share. Total intrinsic
value of the options exercised was approximate|g®3775 in the year ended December 31, 2014.dtakfair value of shares vested in the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, ppasx@mately $3,703,000, $278,000 and $332,00peaetively.

During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company granteidmgpto certain scientific advisory board membdrthe Company to purchase 95,000,
19,000 and 19,500 shares of common stock at amgeexercise price per share of $16.86, $3.26$ar&# respectively. The options vest
ratably over a period of 12 to 24 months. Stock pensation related to these grants will fluctuatéhvany changes in the underlying value of
the Company’s common stock, as the performancegésinot fixed.

The unrecognized shab&sed compensation expense related to stock optrands at December 31, 2014, is $9,240,467 andwitecognize
over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.

5. Income Taxes

Total income tax expense for the years ended Deeefibis allocated as follows:

December 31

2014 2013
Current $ 1,60( $ 18,00(
Deferred (14,655,32) (13,229,35)
Valuation allowanct 14,655,32 13,229,35
Provision for income taxe $ 1,60( $ 18,00(
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5. Income Taxes (continued)

A reconciliation of the difference between the sty federal income tax rate and the effectiveine tax rate for the years ended
December 31 is as follows:

December 31

2014 2013
Income tax benefit at statutory federal rate 35.0(% 35.0%
Permanent difference 0.1z (2.20
Returr-to-provisio—R&D Credit (0.0%) 2.61
R&D Credit—current yea 2.32 3.72
Reserve for uncertain tax positic (0.07) (6.5%)
Change in effective state tax ra (0.19 6.5¢
State income tax expen 10.5( 10.1%
Change in valuation allowan (47.79 (50.3%)
Provision for income taxe (0.01% (0.00%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeceofporary differences that exist between the @agrgmounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts usethfome tax purposes, using enacted tax rateffent for the year in which the differences
are expected to reverse. As of December 31, 2824Company had $78.2 million of federal net opagaldss carryforwards, which expire at
various dates through 2034. The gross amount dfttite net operating loss carryforwards is equal fess than the federal net operating loss
carryforwards and expires over various periods dhaseindividual state tax law. In general, busiesssith U.S. net operating losses (“NOLSs")
are considered loss corporations for U.S. feda@me tax purposes. Pursuant to Section 382 dEtlue, loss corporations that undergo an
ownership change, as defined under the Code, mauliject to an annual limitation on the amount 6fL¥ (and certain other tax attributes)
available to offset taxable income earned afteh @awenership change. The Company has performedagysas and has determined that it has
not triggered any ownership changes pursuant toules prescribed under U.S. tax law and accorgjrige Company believes that the use of
the Company'’s net operating loss carryforwards moll be restricted due to changes in Company owipees of December 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had $1.5 miilioexcess tax benefits related to stock-based cosgten deductions, the benefit of
which will be recorded to additional paid-in-capid@ce the benefit is realized through a reductibimcome taxes payable.

The following summarizes the significant componeitthe Company’s deferred tax assets and liadslitis of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively:

December 31

2014 2013

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 34,870,16 $ 22,346,86

Accrued employee benefi 443,37 377,04¢

Capitalized research and development ¢ — 31,89!

Research and development cre 2,570,541 1,874,93!

Nonqualified stock option 1,563,78! 53,68¢
Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciatior (5,209 102,91¢

Net deferred tax ass 39,442,66 24,787,34

Valuation allowanct (39,442,66) (24,787,34)
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ —
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5. Income Taxes (continued)

Based upon the Company’s historical operating perémce and the reported cumulative net lossesté thee Company presently does not
have sufficient objective evidence to support #eovery of its net deferred tax assets. Accordintly Company has established a valuation
allowance against its net deferred tax assetdrfantial reporting purposes because it is not rfikety than not that these deferred tax assets
will be realized.

The following summarizes the significant componeitgross unrecognized tax benefits as of Decer®be2014 and 2013, respectively:

December 31

2014 2013
Balance at Januaryl, $1,715,90. $ —
Current Year Uncertain Tax Positiol
Gross Increase 1,731 6,64¢
Prior Year Uncertain Tax Positior
Gross Increase — 1,709,25!
Balance at December 3 $1,717,63! $1,715,90.

6. Collaborations and License Agreements
The Bristol-Myers Squibb License Agreement

On May 31, 2005, the Company entered into a woddéwexclusive License Agreement with Bristol-My8auibb Company (“BMS”),
pursuant to which the Company holds a license timicepatents and know-how of BMS relating to 007 and other specified compounds.
agreement was amended on November 3, 2010. Theséidaights are exclusive, except BMS retains sighspecified compounds in the fie
of obesity, diabetes, metabolic syndrome and caedicular disease. However, BMS has no right todeseglop or commercialize ITI-007 and
other specified compounds in any field of use. Teenpany has the right to grant sublicenses ofigigs conveyed by BMS. The Company is
obliged under the license to use commercially nealste efforts to develop and commercialize thenkes technology. The Company is also
prohibited from engaging in the clinical developrmencommercialization of specified competitive quounds.

Under the agreement, the Company made an upfrgntgra of $1.0 million to BMS, a milestone paymeh$.25 million in December 2013,
and a milestone payment of $1.5 million in Decenf@&t4 following the initiation of the Company’sdirPhase 3 clinical trial for ITI-007 for
patients with exacerbated schizophrenia. Possibéstone payments remaining total $12.0 milliondenthe agreement, the Company may b
obliged to make other milestone payments to BMS&mh licensed product of up to an aggregate abappately $14.75 million. The
Company is also obliged to make tiered single gigitentage royalty payments on sales of licensadlpgts. The Company is obliged to pay
to BMS a percentage of non-royalty payments mad®emsideration of any sublicense.

The agreement extends, and royalties are payatke country-by-country and product-by-product hatisough the later of ten years after first
commercial sale of a licensed product in such aguekpiration of the last licensed patent cove@ngensed product, its method of
manufacture or use, or the expiration of other gowveent grants providing market exclusivity, subjectertain rights of the parties to termir
the agreement on the occurrence of certain evemtsermination of the agreement, the Company maghtiged to convey to BMS rights in
developments relating to a licensed compound ensied product, including regulatory filings, resbatesults and other intellectual property
rights.

The Takeda Pharmaceutical License and Collaboratigreement and Termination Agreement

On February 25, 2011, the Company entered intoeasie and collaboration agreement with Takeda Riwautical Company Limited under
which the Company agreed to collaborate to resedelelop and
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6. Collaborations and License Agreements (continuéd

commercialize its proprietary compound ITI-214 atlder selected compounds that selectively inhiDIEP for use in the prevention and
treatment of human diseases. As part of the agreetine Company assigned to Takeda certain patevried by the Company that claim ITI-
214 and granted Takeda an exclusive license toaeead commercialize compounds identified in tbeduct of the research program that
satisfy specified criteria. However, the Compartgireed rights to all compounds that do not meesftexified criteria and the Company
continues to develop PDEL1 inhibitors outside thapsoof the agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company abed@ research program with an initial term oé¢hyears to identify and characterize
compounds that meet certain specified criteriaigefit for further development by Takeda. This egsh program ended in February 2014.
Company was responsible for its expenses incurréitlel conduct of certain research activities spatih the research plan. Takeda agreed to
reimburse the Company for expenses the Companyrettin conducting additional research activities.

Upon execution of the agreement, Takeda made a&homtable payment to the Company. The Company ligible to receive payments of
approximately $500 million in the aggregate uponieeement of certain development milestones ant@m additional $250 million in the
aggregate upon achievement of certain sales-basestones, along with tiered royalty payments ragdrom the high single digits to the low
teens in percent based on net sales by Takeda.

On October 31, 2014, the Company entered into aseagent with Takeda terminating the Takeda Licé&greement, pursuant to which all
rights granted under the Takeda License Agreemend veturned to the Company. Takeda will completéamn ongoing activities relating to
non-clinical studies and will transfer product int@y and materials to the Company but will notéawny other ongoing involvement or
funding obligations in connection with the develamhprogram. ITI-214 is the first compound in ilass to successfully advance into Phase :
clinical trials. The Company intends to continue ttevelopment of ITI-214 for the treatment of CNi8 ather disorders. The Company is in
the process of refining its strategy for the PDtiibitor program. By regaining unrestricted acdesd 1-214, backups and the proprietary
chemistry, the Company can now integrate the effofits internal PDE program to include the |sttmge portfolio. The Company does not
anticipate a significant increase in its operagmgenses related to its PDE development programistbe next twelve months. Other
compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being adedrfor the treatment of various indications, idahg non-CNS therapeutic areas.

Other License Agreement

In May 2002, ITI entered into a license agreemtrd {License”)and research agreement with a university. Undeptbeisions of the Licens
ITl is entitled to use this organization’s patentechnology and other intellectual property relgtio diagnosis and treatment of central nervou
system disorders.

The License expires upon expiration of the patighits or 15 years subsequent to the first saleadyrcts developed through this License. ITI
is required to make future milestone paymentsrfitiaition of clinical trials and approval of a Névug Application (“NDA”"). Should ITI
commercialize the technology related to this Liegn$1 would be required to make royalty paymeatsd would also be required to pay fees
under any sublicense agreements with third parties.

In addition, ITI is required to use at least $1.liam annually of its resources for the developmand commercialization of the technology
until ITI submits an NDA. ITI met its spending regements in 2014. There were no other payments raadequired under the License for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2
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7. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company currently has operating lease agresmetit commitments for $13,125,243 for laboratony affice facilities through 2020.

At December 31, 2014, future minimum lease paymenter leases having an initial or remaining noncetlable lease term in excess of one
year are set forth in the table belc

year
2015 $ 10,63(
2016 1,048,66.
2017 1,175,45.
2018 1,210,71
2019 1,247,03!
2020 8,432,74.

$13.125,24

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2012 was $853,504, $827,479 and $809%,882ectively.

8. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 40di@) covering all full-time employees. Participamtay elect to contribute their annual
pre-tax earnings up to the federally allowed maxmiimits. The Company makes a matching contributbb0% on the first 6% of
contributions made by participants. Participant @ethpany contributions vest immediately. During ylears ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, the Company recorded matching contribwgipense of $84,757, $77,138 and $79,656, resphcti

9. Subsequent Events

In the first quarter of 2015, the Company moved@&adquarters to 430 East 29th Street, New Yorly Merk 10016. The Company has
entered into a long-term lease for approximatelyp18 square feet of useable laboratory and offiees. The lease has a term of 11 years. Tt
Company expects that its facility related costd indrease moderately beginning in 2015 due toribis facility.

On March 11, 2015, the Company completed its pudffiering of 5,411,481 shares of its common stdck price of $24.00 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $129l@miand net proceeds of approximately $121.4iomil

10. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

The tables herein set forth the Company’s unauditedlensed consolidated 2014 and 2013 quartetnséats of operations.

The following table sets for the Company’s unauttendensed consolidated statements of operatisrthd 2014 quarters ended:

2014 Quarter Endec December 31 September 31 June 30, March 31,

Revenue $ 65,86 $ 124,41 $ 219,23t $ 167,78
Net loss (15,199,13) (6,415,50) (4,533,53) (4,543,28)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.52) $ (0.22) $ (0.1%) $ (0.17)
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10. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information (continued)

The following table sets for the Company’s unautltendensed consolidated statements of operatirrthd 2013 quarters ended:

2013 Quarter Endec December 31 September 31 June 30, March 31,

Revenue $ 827,53 $ 667,95 $ 643,26 $ 598,25:
Net loss (8,040,81) (4,911,62) (8,277,39) (5,638,37)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.36) $ (0.29) $ (0.56) $ (0.39)
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Exhibit 10.2.2
TERMINATION AGREEMENT

T HIS T ERMINATION A GREEMENT (the “ Termination Agreement) is entered into as of October 31, 2014 by ansvbenT AKEDA P
HARMACEUTICAL C OMPANY L IMITED , a company organized under the laws of Japdmakéeda”), having a place of business at 1-1,
Doshomachi 4-chome, Chuo-ku, Osaka 540-8645 Japaih NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC., a Delaware Corporation (Tl "), having
a place of business at Audubon Biomedical SciendeTachnology Park, 3960 Broadway, New York, NY 3DW©.S.A. Takeda and ITI may
be referred to herein individually as &arty” or collectively as the Parties.”

RECITALS

W HEREAS, Takeda and ITI are parties to that certain Lieesnsd Collaboration Agreement, dated February @5] Zthe “License
Agreement”); and

W HEREAS , the Parties desire to terminate the License Ages in its entirety by mutual written agreemenaatordance with the terms
and conditions set forth in this Termination Agrest) and

W HEREAS , the Parties desire to terminate certain agreeswefdting to the License Agreement;

AGREEMENT

N ow, T HEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing premises amdrtfutual covenants contained herein and other godd/aluable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree asvill

1. DEFINITIONS
1.1 Except as set forth herein, any and all capitalieechs used and not otherwise defined in this Teation Agreement shall have the
meanings ascribed to such terms in the Licenseehgeat.

1.2" Transition Completion Date” shall mean [***].

1.3“ Termination Date " shall be the date set forth at the start of &gseement.

2.  TERMINATION OF LICENSE AGREEMENT

2.1 Termination. As of the Termination Date, the License Agreeméatigerminate in its entirety and any and all @gnents by and
between ITI, and any of its Affiliates, and Takedad any of its Affiliates, relating to the Licendgreement, including the Quality Agreement
between Takeda, Takeda Global Research & Develop@emter, Inc., BASF Pharma Evionnaz SABERSF ") and ITI, the letter agreement
between Takeda, ITI and BASF,

Portions of this Exhibit, indicated by the mark*f},” were omitted and have been filed separatelyhvthe Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s applicatemuesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rdle-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.



dated October 12, 2012, and the Memorandum of Witaleding between ITI and Takeda, dated May 7, Z0Pcillary Agreements’), shall
terminate as of the Termination Date; provided tieatain rights and obligations of the Parties ursdieh agreements shall survive in
accordance with the survival provisions set fortlsuch agreements, as may be modified herein.

2.2 Close-Out Activities.The Parties, through the oversight of the JSC| sbatplete the activities set forth in this Terntioa
Agreement and Exhibit 1 hereto in accordance witltiten transition plan to be approved within [1*{***]) days of the Termination Date
(unless otherwise agreed by the Parties) by the d86g with other such activities as agreed uppthbk Parties at the JSC in writing neces
to complete the activities set forth in this Teration Agreement and Exhibit 1 hereto (collectivehe “ Close-Out Activities). Except as set
forth herein, [***]. The JSC shall appoint a workiigroup to create such written transition plan aondk closely with the Parties to complete
the Close-Out Activities (the Transition Working Group”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 8en 3.2 of the License
Agreement, should the Executive Officers be unéblesolve a dispute or disagreement with respeitte scope of the Close-Out Activities or
the transition plan, then such dispute shall berrefl to a neutral arbitrator reasonably acceptalb®th Parties for resolution. For the
avoidance of doubt, subject to the diligence oliige set forth in this Termination Agreement, eRelity shall have final decision making
authority with respect to its performance of Cl@¥etActivities.

2.3 Diligence.Each Party will exercise the level of effort andaerces reasonably necessary to perform its régpadiligations in
completion of the Close-Out Activities with the §odcompleting the Close-Out Activities no lateah the Transition Completion Date. The
efforts and resources committed by Takeda to camphee Close-Out Activities assigned to it priothe Transition Completion Date shall be
no less than the level Takeda would typically cotimthe performance of research programs fortheiocompounds currently under
development. For the avoidance of doubt, in perforce of the Close-Out Activities and its other gations hereunder, Takeda shall act in
good faith and shall not take any action that coaltbonably be expected to have a material adiragset on the further Development and
Commercialization of any Product. In the event,tdaspite applying the foregoing level of diligentakeda does not complete one or more o
the CloseOut Activities assigned to it prior to the TransitiCompletion Date, then Takeda shall use [***Etamplete such activities as quic
as possible, and the obligation for Takeda to cetepduch activities shall survive the Transitionmptetion Date and shall continue until such
activities have been completed, including, forakeidance of doubt, the transfer of any Informatenerated from such Close-Out Activities
to ITI. In the event Takada is required to use [*¢ complete such activities as provided in themsentence, then ITI shall also use [***] to
facilitate the completion of such activities.

2.4 Transition Assistance As part of the Close-Out Activities, Takeda, atardance with this Section 2.4, shall assistWith ITI's
cooperation, as may be reasonably necessary fdo Iddntinue Developing, Manufacturing and/or Conuiatizing the Products throughout
the Territory. Notwithstanding the other provisia® forth in this Section 2.4, to the extent taat contract between Takeda and a Third Part
is not assignable to ITI, Takeda shall reasonabbperate and assist with and assist ITI to arrémgH | to receive the services contemplated
under such contract either from the Third Partyhwihom Takeda had contracted

Portions of this Exhibit, indicated by the mark*f},” were omitted and have been filed separatelyhvthe Securities and Exchange
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or a different Third Party; provided, however, imeircumstance shall Takeda be required to comféétieer directly or indirectly through its
vendor) any activity beyond those activities setifan this Termination Agreement and Exhibit lofishe Termination Date, unless mutually
agreed in writing by the Parties at the JSC. Feratbnidance of doubt, such assistance by Takedarstiade the following.

(a) Materials, Data and Information Transfer. Unless otherwise prohibited by applicable Law antcact, Takeda will, in
accordance with the timing agreed upon by the @ariromptly return, transfer and assign to ITitodesignee the agreed upon materials,
including biological materials and samples, Infotiora (including without limitation case report fosystudy databases and other study
records), Regulatory Materials, Regulatory Appreyétenses, third party agreements and other i{@mkiding, without limitation, any Drug
Master File(s), INDs, and NDAs, together with thaterial correspondence with Regulatory Authoritietated to the Compounds and Prod
and related data and Information relating to thedBcts and Compounds, all of which shall be dee@mfidential Information of ITI (and not
of Takeda) (provided that Takeda will be allowededtain (or if available, ask ITI to share in thuture) any such materials that a Regulatory
Authority requires Takeda to retain or submit una@plicable Laws). For any of the foregoing docutagon, data and information that is to
transferred to ITI and is not in English, Takedd,wipon the request of ITI, translate the foregpinto English and deliver true and accuratt
all material respects, translations thereof to Hil.such information shall be transferred to ITlits designee in an organized and clear manne
with all documents and files clearly labeled.

(b) Intellectual Property Transfer. Takeda hereby assigns to ITI, effective on the Tieation Date, Takeda's entire right, title and
interest in and to each Sole Assigned Patent, aadhalf of its right, title and interest in and to Balmint Assigned Patent (and Takeda app:
ITl its attorney in fact solely to make such regagients and authorizes ITI to make such re-assigtehdn each case, Takeda shall execute
and deliver to ITI a deed(s) of such assignmend, imutually agreeable form, within [***] ([***]) dgs of the Termination Date. ITI shall be
responsible for recording all such assignments,Tak@da and its successors and assigns shalagdmably cooperate with ITI's efforts to do
s0, including satisfying the assignment and recaydequirements of relevant patent offices and€imnburse ITI for all reasonable and
documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred byriToinnection with this Section 2.4(b).

(c) Clinical Study Transfer. [***] .

(d) Toxicology Studies Transfer.Upon completion of the Close Out Activities relatedhe [***] toxicology studies assigned to it
under Exhibit 1 hereto, Takeda shall, in accordamitle the timing set forth in Exhibit 1 hereto aherwise as agreed upon by the Parties,
transfer to ITI the management and continued perdmice of the [***] week toxicology studies for tReoduct ongoing as of the Termination
Date and shall promptly deliver the agreed upotolioal materials and information relevant to stakicology studies to ITI or its designee.
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(e) Manufacturing Process Transfer.Pursuant to Section 13.6(e) of the License Agreé¢niakeda shall transfer the current
manufacturing process for ITI-214 to ITI or its @g®e (as instructed by ITI in writing), commencimgon the Termination Date, and shall
complete such transfer within [***] ([***]) monthef the Termination Date; provided, however, that fililure to timely complete such transfer
due to matters outside Takeda’s reasonable castiedl not be deemed a breach of this Terminatiore&mgent by Takeda. Takeda shall be
required to provide, at its own cost and expensenare than [***] ([***]) [***] (exclusive of any travel time) in support of the transfer of the
manufacturing process to ITI or its designee, gdiegble. In the event ITI requests Takeda provigaufacture transfer support in excess of
[***] ([***]) [***], Takeda and ITI shall enter into good faith negotiations on a consulting agreepamisuant to which Takeda would provide
such continued support and ITI would reimburse Taker its FTE costs at the rate of $[***] (USD)rdeour, along with reasonable travel and
lodging expenses. Notwithstanding Section 13.6{¢)®License Agreement, the Parties agree tha¢dakeed not supply additional quanti
of Products to ITI, and that the Returned Prodastdefined below) is sufficient for I'H’requirements, such that Takeda shall not be nexttd
supply additional quantities to ITI. For clarityaReda’s obligation to support the transfer of mantifring process, as described herein, shall
survive the Transition Completion Date.

(f) Inventories Transfer. Prior to the Transition Completion Date, Takeddlstap to ITI or its designee, the inventoriestiod
Compound and the Product as set forth in Exhilfib “ Returned Product). The Parties acknowledge that to the extent @lakie required to
use Compound or Product to complete the Close-Q@tivifies assigned to it or that Takeda is requik@detain such Compound or Product
under applicable Law, the actual amounts of the @mmd and Product delivered to ITI may vary from #mounts set forth in Exhibit 2. The
Parties will agree on the terms of such shipmewiged that ITI shall have no obligation to reimée or otherwise compensate Takeda for it:
costs to manufacture such Returned Product. Thisd®e(f) supersedes Section 13.6(h) of the Licehgeement.

2.5 Intellectual Property Licenses

(a) Takeda hereby grants to ITI, effective uponTleemination Date, an exclusive, fully paid, woride, fully transferrable,
irrevocable license (with the right to grant subfises through multiple tiers) under [***].

(b) ]
(©) [*].

2.6 Survival Provisions.Notwithstanding Section 13.7 of the License Agreeinihe Parties agree that the following Sectioitkiwthe
License Agreement shall terminate upon the TerridndDate: Sections 8.2 (ITI Development and Mantuféng Activities), 8.7 (Foreign
Exchange), 8.8 (Payment Method; Late Payments)Re8ords and Audit), and 9.2 (Disclosure of Inicm).

2.7 Mutual Releases; Indemnification for Future Acivities.

(a) In consideration for the terms set forth irsthermination Agreement, ITl, on behalf of itsatiiats Affiliates, and the directors,
officers, stockholders and employees of such estéind the successors and assigns of the fore@bajITI Releasors”), hereby
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fully releases Takeda and its Affiliates and thediors, officers and employees of such entities {fTakeda Release&$ from any and all
claims, actions, causes of action, liabilities, dges, judgments and demands of any kind, whett@wikior unknown that the ITI Releasors
had, has, may have or ever claim to have agaifstdeaReleasees, under or directly or indirectlgtesl to the License Agreement, except to
the extent of existing rights and obligations af fParties under the License Agreement that supgvgrovided in Section 13.7 of the License
Agreement or as otherwise provided herein. Foitglahe foregoing provision shall not release Tak&eleasees with respect to (i) Takeda's
gross negligence or violation of laws; or (ii) aidh by any Third Party to the extent that indenwaifion is owed to an ITI Indemnitee in
accordance with Article 11 of the License Agreensend otherwise to the extent that a Claim by adrRiarty is caused by or arises from the
conduct of a Takeda Releasee.

(b) In consideration for the terms set forth irstfiermination Agreement, Takeda, on behalf offimedl its Affiliates, and the
directors, officers, stockholders and employeesuch entities and the successors and assigns fafrégoing (the ‘Takeda Releasory,
hereby fully releases ITI and its Affiliates ane tllirectors, officers and employees of such est{tiee “ITI Releasees) from any and all
claims, actions, causes of action, liabilities, dges, judgments and demands of any kind, whett@wikior unknown that the Takeda
Releasors had, has, may have or ever claim to dgai@st ITI Releasees, under or directly or indiyelated to the License Agreement,
except to the extent of existing rights and oblmad of the Parties under the License Agreementstinaive as provided in Section 13.7 of the
License Agreement or as otherwise provided heFanclarity, the foregoing provision shall not r&de ITI Releasees with respect to (i) ITI's
gross negligence or violation of laws; or (ii) aidh by any Third Party to the extent that indenwaifion is owed to a Takeda Indemnitee in
accordance with Article 11 of the License Agreensend otherwise to the extent that a Claim by adrRiarty is caused by or arises from the
conduct of an ITI Releasee.

(c) Without limiting the obligations of either Parinder Article 11 of the License Agreement or urtties Agreement, ITI further
agrees that it shall defend, indemnify and holdTthkeda Indemnitees harmless from and againstmethald Third Party Claims to the extent
that such Claim arises out of, is based on, ortefiom the manufacture, use, handling, storagle, ar other disposition of the Compound or ¢
Back-Up Compound, including any Variant thereofpadl as any Product, by ITI, its Affiliate or afird Party on behalf of ITI after the
Termination Date. The foregoing indemnity obligat&hall not apply to the extent that the Takeda&mmaitees fail to comply with the
indemnification procedures set forth in Sectior81df.the License Agreement and ITI's defense ofGh&m is prejudiced by such failure.

(d) Nothing in this Termination Agreement shalldeemed to release, acquit or discharge either Rartis Affiliates, its agents,
representative, employees, officers, directorsraglys, successors and assigns, from its obligatiader this Termination Agreement or any
claim arising from any breach of such obligations.
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3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.1 By Takeda. Takeda represents and warrants to ITI that, dlseoT ermination Date:
(a) Takeda has disclosed all Sole Inventions taBTtequired under Section 9.2 of the License Agesd.
(b) Takeda has not sublicensed, assigned, encuthbeteansferred any ITI Technology.
(c) Takeda has not licensed, assigned, encumbeteginsferred any Assigned Patents.

(d) Takeda has kept ITI informed of major regulgtdevelopments relating to Compounds and Productsquired in Section 5.2
of the License Agreement.

(e) Takeda has not terminated any Clinical TrialsHroducts without ITI’s prior written consent.

(f) Exhibit 1 constitutes the complete list of Tdlés material activities related to the CompountherProduct ongoing as of the
date hereof.

3.2 By ITI . ITI represents and warrants to Takeda that, éiseoT ermination Date, ITI has not sublicensedigagsl, encumbered or
transferred any Takeda Technology.

4. GENERAL

4.1 Confidential Information . All information furnished by one Party or anyitsf Affiliates to the other Party or any of its Aiites
pursuant to this Termination Agreement shall bef@ential Information as defined in and subjecttie provisions of Article 10 of the Licen
Agreement. Each Party may use Confidential Infoiomabnly as permitted by the License Agreemenhi Termination Agreement. All
Information received, developed and/or authored@dlyeda in respect of the Products and CompoundsChnical Trials and other studies
conducted pursuant to the License Agreement, datestiTl’s Confidential Information and is subjegotthe on-going confidentiality and non-
disclosure obligations set forth in the License dggnent.

4.2 Press ReleaseUpon the termination date, the Parties shallessjoint press release describing the terminatfdhe Parties’
collaboration under the License Agreement subsiiyin the in the form set forth in Exhibit 3 héwe

4.3 Dispute Resolution Article 14 of the License Agreement shall appiyahy disputes as to matters arising under orimglad this
Termination Agreement or either Party’s rights anadbligations hereunder.

4.4 Assignment Neither Party shall assign or delegate its riging obligations under this Termination Agreemdttiiee in whole or in
part (including any assignment by operation of lexgept with the prior written consent of the otRarty, except that a Party may assign and
delegate its rights and obligations under this Teation Agreement either in whole or in part (irdilg any assignment by operation of law)
without the prior written consent of the other R4#) in connection with the transfer or sale dbalsubstantially all of the business of such
Party to a Third Party, whether by merger, salstofk, sale of assets or otherwise
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(including through any assignment by operatioraof)t or (b) to an Affiliate, provided that the agsing Party shall remain liable and
responsible to the non-assigning Party heretohf@performance and observance of all such dutié®hligations by such Affiliate. The
Parties’rights and obligations under this Termination Agneat will bind and inure to the benefit of theispective successors, heirs, exect
and administrators and permitted assigns. Excegexpiessly permitted herein, any assignment offthisnination Agreement shall be null and
void.

4.5 NoticesAll notices which are required or permitted hereemshall be provided in accordance with Sectiol3 b$the License
Agreement.

4.6 Applicable Law. This Termination Agreement and all disputes arigingof or related to this Agreement or any brelaeteof shall b
governed by and construed under the laws of thie $faNew York, without giving effect to any choio&law principles that would require the
application of the laws of a different state. Tlatles agree to resolve any dispute with respeittisoTermination Agreement in accordance
with Article 14 of the License Agreement

4.7 Entire Agreement; AmendmentsThis Termination Agreement contains the entire ustd@ding of the Parties with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersedes and cantplswbus express or implied agreements and utatedigs, negotiations, writings and
commitments, either oral or written, in respectht® subject matter hereof, except for the provisiohSection 13.6 of the License Agreement
and the other provisions of the License Agreemeferenced herein, which shall survive in accordawitie their terms. This Termination
Agreement may be amended, or any term hereof neallifinly by a written instrument duly executed btharized representatives of both
Parties hereto.

4.8 Injunctive Relief. Takeda acknowledges that its failure to perfolms€Out Activities as required herein may cause irrapbe harn
to ITI, which harm may not be reasonably or adeglyatompensated in damages in an action at laweBgons thereof, Takeda agrees that IT
shall be entitled, in addition to any other remedianay have under this Agreement or otherwissgtk preliminary and permanent injunctive
and other equitable relief to prevent or curtaif aotual or threatened breach of those Sections.

4.9 Waiver of Rule of Construction.Each Party has had the opportunity to consult eatimsel in connection with the review, drafting
and negotiation of this Termination Agreement. Adaogly, the rule of construction that any ambiguit this Termination Agreement shall be
construed against the drafting Party shall notyappl

4.10 English LanguageThis Termination Agreement is in the English larggiaand the English language shall control their
interpretation. In addition, all notices requirathermitted to be given under this Termination Agment, and all written, electronic, oral or
other communications between the Parties regattisgrermination Agreement, shall be in the Englatguage.

4.11 Counterparts.This Termination Agreement may be executed in amglyer of counterparts, each of which, when execsteall be
deemed to be an original and all of which toge#ell constitute one and the same document. Fdestuypies of signature pages or signature
delivered by any electronic means shall be effecdis original signatures.

[Remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]
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I NW ITNESS W HEREOF , the Parties hereto have duly executed ThERMINATION A GREEMENT as of the date set forth above.

T AKEDA P HARMACEUTICAL C OMPANY L IMITED | NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC.
By: /s/ Christophe Weber By: /s/ Sharon Mates

Name Christophe Weber Name Sharon Mates, Ph.D.

Title:  President & COO Title:  Chief Executive Officer
Date: October 30, 2014 Date: October 31, 2014

SIGNATURE P AGE TOT ERMINATION A GREEMENT
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EXHIBIT 1

Close-Out Activities

Functional Estimatec Party
Area Study Close-Out Activity Completion Date Responsible
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [-k**] [***] [-k**]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
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EXHIBIT 2

Returned Inventory

Activity Iltem Lot Quantity (Kg)
[¥++] [¥+%] [¥] [¥%]
[¥+%] [¥] [¥]
[¥+%] [¥%] [¥]
[¥+%] [¥+%] [¥+%]
[¥+%] [#+%] [¥+%]
[¥+%] [¥+%] [¥+%]
[¥+%] [¥+%] [¥+%]
[¥+%] [¥+%]
[¥+¥] [¥+%] [¥%] [¥%]
[¥+¥] [¥+%] [¥%] [¥%]
[¥+%] [¥%] [¥]
[¥+%] [¥%] [¥%]
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EXHIBIT 3
Form of Press Release

Intra-Cellular Therapies and Takeda Announce Mutual Termination of Collaboration to Develop Phosphodisterase (PDE1)
Inhibitors for CNS Disorders

New York, NY [Date] and Osaka, Japan [Date] — k@ellular Therapies, Inc. (NASDAQ: ITCI) and Takeddharmaceutical Company
Limited announced today that they have enteredantagreement to mutually terminate the Februatyl 2i@ense agreement covering Intra-
Cellular Therapies’ proprietary compound ITI-214laelated PDE 1 inhibitors and to return the rightshese compounds to Intra-Cellular
Therapies.

Under the terms of the agreement, Intra-Cellulagr@pies has regained all worldwide developmentcamamercialization rights for the
compounds previously licensed to Takeda. Takedab@itesponsible for transitioning the compoundskiia Intra-Cellular Therapies and will
not participate in future development or commeizadion activities. After transition of the prograimtra-Cellular Therapies plans to continue
the clinical development of PDEL1 inhibitors for tineatment of central nervous system, cardiovaseuid other disorders.

“We are grateful for Takeda’s substantial effortadvancing this program into clinical developmesajd Dr. Sharon Mates, Chairman
and CEO of Intra-Cellular Therapies. “This providesswith the opportunity to unify our PDE1 platfoend we look forward to continuing the
development of ITI-214 and our other PDE1 inhikstbr

Intra-Cellular Therapies will discuss the PDE1 peoyg in its previously announced earnings call omi&y, November 3, 2014. To
participate in the conference call, please dial __five to ten minutes prior to the start of the c@ihe participant passcode is

About PDE1 Inhibitors

PDEL1 inhibitors are unique, orally available, inigational drug candidates being developed fotthatment of cognitive impairments
accompanying schizophrenia, Alzheimer’s diseaseatiner neuropsychiatric disorders and neurologicsg#ases and may also treat patients
with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder andafkinson’s disease. These compounds may also haymtential to improve motor
dysfunction associated with these conditions ang atgo have the potential to treat patients withtiple sclerosis and other autoimmune
diseases and pulmonary arterial hypertension. Tt@sgounds are very selective for the PDE1 subfaralhtive to other PDE subfamilies.
They have no known significant off target acti\gtit other enzymes, receptors or ion channels.

About Intra-Cellular Therapies

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”) isveéloping novel drugs for the treatment of neurcpgtric and neurodegenerative
disease and other disorders of the central nersyatem (“CNS”). The Company is developing its leaglg candidate, ITI-007, for the
treatment of schizophrenia, behavioral disturbamteementia, bipolar disorder and other

Portions of this Exhibit, indicated by the mark*f},” were omitted and have been filed separatelyhvthe Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s applicatemuesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rdle-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
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neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders. Then@any is also utilizing its phosphodiesterase ptatfand other proprietary chemistry
platforms to develop drugs for the treatment of Gh&drders.

Forward-Looking Statements

This news release contains “forward-looking statetsiewithin the meaning of the Private Securitiésgation Reform Act of 1995 that
involve risks and uncertainties that could causeacesults to be materially different from histad results or from any future results
expressed or implied by such forward-looking staets. Such forward-looking statements include statds regarding, among other things,
our proposed development plans for our portfoli®BEL inhibitors; our beliefs about the potentisésiand benefits of PDEL1 inhibitors; and
our research and development efforts and plansruhdeaption “About Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inall such forwardiooking statements a
based on management’s present expectations asdlgezt to certain factors, risks and uncertairttias may cause actual results, outcome of
events, timing and performance to differ materiflbm those expressed or implied by such statem&htsse risks and uncertainties include,
but are not limited to the following: our curremtcaplanned clinical trials for ITI-007 and our othoduct candidates may not be successful c
may take longer and be more costly than anticipggemtiuct candidates that appeared promising ilieeaesearch and clinical trials may not
demonstrate safety and/or efficacy in larger-soalater clinical trials; our reliance on collabtive partners and other third-parties for
development and commercialization of our produadidates; and the other risk factors discussednthéeheading “Risk Factors” contained
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eth@cember 31, 2013 filed with the Securities ardhange Commission, as well as any
updates to those risk factors filed from time todiin our periodic and current reports. All statateeontained in this press release are made
only as of the date of this press release, andonmtlintend to update this information unless negiLiby law.

About Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited

Located in Osaka, Japan, Takeda is a research-gldsd company with its main focus on pharmaceldicAs the largest pharmaceutical
company in Japan and one of the global leadetseoindustry, Takeda is committed to strive towdrelger health for people worldwide
through leading innovation in medicine. Additiomaflormation about Takeda is available through d@gporate website, www.Takeda.com

Takeda Forward-Looking Statement

This press release contains forward-looking statésn&orward-looking statements include statemesgarding Takeda’s plans, outlook,
strategies, results for the future, and other stat#s that are not descriptions of historical faEtsward-looking statements may be identified
by the use of forward-looking words such as “mépglieve,” “will,” “expect,” “project,” “estimate,”*should,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “assume,”
“continue,” “seek,” “pro forma,” “potential,” “taret,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “outlook” or “intenddr other similar words or expressions of the
negative thereof. Forward-looking statements aseth@n estimates and assumptions made by managtraeate believed to be reasonable,
though they are inherently uncertain and diffi¢alpredict. Investors are cautioned not to undaly on such forward-looking statements.

” o« " ow ” . ” o«

Portions of this Exhibit, indicated by the mark*f},” were omitted and have been filed separatelyhvthe Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s applicatémuesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rdle-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
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Forward-looking statements involve risks and uraieties that could cause actual results or expeei¢m differ materially from that expressed
or implied by the forward-looking statements. Savhéhese risks and uncertainties include, but atdimited to, (1) the economic
circumstances surrounding Takeda’s business, imgdugeneral economic conditions in Japan, the Bn8.worldwide; (2) competitive
pressures and developments; (3) applicable lawsendations; (4) the success or failure of prodigstelopment programs; (5) actions of
regulatory authorities and the timing thereof; {6anges in exchange rates; (7) claims or concegading the safety or efficacy of marketed
products or product candidates in development;(@hihtegration activities with acquired companies.

The forward-looking statements contained in thissprrelease speak only as of the date of this pkssse, and Takeda undertakes no
obligation to revise or update any forward-looksigtements to reflect new information, future esemtcircumstances after the date of the
forward-looking statement. If Takeda does updateoorect one or more of these statements, inveataothers should not conclude that
Takeda will make additional updates or corrections.

Juan Sanchez, M.D.

Vice President

Corporate Communications and Investor Relatioristoé-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
212-923-3344

Burns McClellan, Inc.

Lisa Burns/Angeli Kolhatkar (Investors)
Justin Jackson (Media)
jilackson@burnsmc.col

212-213-0006

Takeda Pharmaceuticals Company Limited
Corporate Communications Dept.
+81-3-3278-2037

Portions of this Exhibit, indicated by the mark*f},” were omitted and have been filed separatelyhvthe Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s applicatémuesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rdle-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
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Exhibit 10.11
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

EMPLOYEE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION,
INVENTIONS, AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

In consideration of my employment or continued esyipient byl NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC . (the “Company”), and the
compensation now and hereafter paid to me, | heagbge as follows:

1. N ONDISCLOSURE .

1.1 Recognition of Company’s Rights; Nondisclosurét all times during my employment and thereaften;ll hold
in strictest confidence and will not disclose, useture upon or publish any of the Company’s Fetary Information
(defined below), except as such disclosure, ugriblication may be required in connection with myrikvfor the Company,
or unless an officer of the Company expressly aighe such in writing. | will obtain Company’s weh approval before
publishing or submitting for publication any magriwritten, verbal, or otherwise) that relatesry work at Company
and/or incorporates any Proprietary Informationeteby assign to the Company any rights | may leawaequire in such
Proprietary Information and recognize that all Pietary Information shall be the sole property e Company and its
assigns. | have been informed and acknowledgehbainauthorized taking of the Company’s tradeeteanay subject me
to civil and/or criminal penalties.

1.2 Proprietary Information. The term “Proprietary Information " shall mean any and all confidential and/or
proprietary knowledge, data or information of then@pany. By way of illustration but not limitatiohProprietary
Information ” includes (a) tangible and intangible informatiolatiag to antibodies and other biological matetiakdl lines,
samples of assay components, media and/or cedl ind procedures and formulations for producingsaeh assay
components, media and/or cell lines, formulatigmeducts, processes, know-how, designs, formulathads,
developmental or experimental work, clinical dat@rovements, discoveries, plans for research, prexducts
(“Inventions™ ); (b) marketing and selling, business plans, btglged unpublished financial statements, licenstses and
costs, suppliers and customers; and (c) informatgarding the skills and compensation of otherleyges of the
Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is urstieod that, at all such times, | am free to usermftion which is
generally known in the trade or industry, whicim@ gained as result of a breach of this Agreernamd,my own, skill,
knowledge, know-how and experience to whatevemgxed in whichever way | wish.

1.3 Third Party Information. | understand, in addition, that the Company hasived and in the future will receive
from third parties confidential or proprietary infioation (“ Third Party Information ") subject to a duty on the Company’s
part to maintain the confidentiality of such infation and to use it only for certain limited purpssDuring the term of my
employment and thereafter, | will hold Third Paltijormation in the strictest confidence and wilk miisclose to anyone
(other than Company personnel who need to know sdichmation in connection with their work for ti@mpany) or use,
except in connection with my work for the Compankird Party Information unless expressly authoribgdn officer of the
Company in writing



1.4 No Improper Use of Information of Prior Employas and Others.During my employment by the Company |
will not improperly use or disclose any confidehirdormation or trade secrets, if any, of any fememployer or any other
person to whom | have an obligation of confideitiiabnd | will not bring onto the premises of tBempany any
unpublished documents or any property belongirengoformer employer or any other person to whoravehan obligation
of confidentiality unless consented to in writing that former employer or person. | will use in fferformance of my dutie
only information which is generally known and udsdpersons with training and experience compartbiey own, which i
common knowledge in the industry or otherwise Iggal the public domain, or which is otherwise pised or developed k
the Company.

2. A SSIGNMENT OF | NVENTIONS .

2.1 Proprietary Rights. The term “Proprietary Rights ” shall mean all trade secret, patent, copyrighlaskwork and
other intellectual property rights or “moral righteroughout the world. “Moral rights” refers to wnights to claim
authorship of an Invention or to object to or previae modification of any Invention, or to with@drdrom circulation or
control the publication or distribution of any Imt&n, and any similar right, existing under judiodr statutory law of any
country in the world, or under any treaty, regasdlef whether or not such right is denominatedenregally referred to as a
“moral right.”

2.2 Prior Inventions. Inventions, if any, patented or unpatented, whiofable prior to the commencement of my
employment with the Company are excluded from tups of this Agreement. To preclude any possibtetainty, | have
set forth orExhibit A(Previous Inventions) attached hereto a complstefiall Inventions that | have, alone or jointhth
others, conceived, developed or reduced to practicaused to be conceived, developed or reducpdatdice prior to the
commencement of my employment with the Company, Itbansider to be my property or the propertytofd parties and
that | wish to have excluded from the scope of &gseement (collectively referred to a®fior Inventions ). If disclosure
of any such Prior Invention would cause me to w@®kny prior confidentiality agreement, | understéimt | am not to list
such Prior Inventions igxhibit Abut am only to disclose a cursory name for each sueention, a listing of the party(ies)
whom it belongs and the fact that full disclosusé@such inventions has not been made for thabrea space is provided
on Exhibit Afor such purpose. If no such disclosure is attachegpresent that there are no Prior Inventiohsn Ithe course
of my employment with the Company, | incorporatérer Invention into a Company product, procesmachine, the
Company is hereby granted and shall have a norgxeluroyalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, worldevlicense (with rights
to sublicense through multiple tiers of sublicersd¢e make, have made, modify, use and sell such Prvention.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, | agree that | widlt incorporate, or permit to be incorporated, Pifwentions in any
Company Inventions without the Company'’s prior teritconsent.

2.3 Assignment of InventionsSubject to Sections 2.4, and 2.6, | hereby assigragree to assign in the future (when
any such Inventions or Proprietary Rights are fiesiuced to practice or first fixed in a tangibledium, as applicable) to tl
Company all my right, title and interest in andatty and all Inventions (and all Proprietary Righith respect thereto)
whether or not patentable or registrable under Bgpyor similar statutes, made or conceived ouced to practice or
learned by me, either alone or jointly with othehsting the period of my employment with the Compdnventions
assigned to the Company, or to a third party asctiid by the Company pursuant to this Sectione2hareinafter referred to
as" Company Inventions.”



2.4 Unassigned Inventionsl. recognize that this Agreement will not be deenmerkquire assignment of any Invention
that was developed entirely on my own time withasihg the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilitiesrade secrets and
neither related to the Company’s actual or antieigdusiness, research or development, nor resattedwork performed
by me for the Company.

2.5 Obligation to Keep Company Informed.During the period of my employment and for six {@nths after
termination of my employment with the Company, llywromptly disclose to the Company fully and initirg all Inventions
authored, conceived or reduced to practice by ittegrealone or jointly with others. In additionwill promptly disclose to
the Company all patent applications filed by mewmmy behalf within a year after termination of dayment. The
Company will keep in confidence and will not useday purpose or disclose to third parties withoytconsent any
confidential information disclosed in writing toglf€Company pursuant to this Agreement.

2.6 Government or Third Party. | also agree to assign all my right, title andiagt in and to any particular Company
Invention to a third party, including without lination the United States, as directed by the Company

2.7 Works for Hire. | acknowledge that all original works of authorshipich are made by me (solely or jointly with
others) within the scope of my employment and wiaich protectable by copyright are “works made fog,hpursuant to
United States Copyright Act (17 U.S.C., Section)101

2.8 Enforcement of Proprietary Rights.| will assist the Company in every proper way toaii, and from time to
time enforce, United States and foreign ProprieRights relating to Company Inventions in any ahd@untries. To that
end | will execute, verify and deliver such docutseand perform such other acts (including appe@sas a witness) as the
Company may reasonably request for use in applgingbtaining, perfecting, evidencing, sustainargl enforcing such
Proprietary Rights and the assignment thereofdtitan, | will execute, verify and deliver assigants of such Proprietary
Rights to the Company or its designee. My obligatm assist the Company with respect to ProprieRagits relating to
such Company Inventions in any and all countriedl sflontinue beyond the termination of my employmént the
Company shall compensate me at a reasonable tateraf termination for the time actually spent by at the Company’s
request on such assistance.

In the event the Company is unable for any reaafber, reasonable effort, to secure my signaturargndocument needed in connection with
the actions specified in the preceding paragrapkréby irrevocably designate and appoint the Compad its duly authorized officers and
agents as my agent and attorney in fact, whichiappent is coupled with an interest, to act for amchy behalf to execute, verify and file any
such documents and to do all other lawfully pemxitacts to further the purposes of the precedinggpaph with the same legal force and
effect as if executed by me. | hereby waive andictpim to the Company any and all claims, of anyureewhatsoever, which | now or may
hereafter have for infringement of any Proprietd@ights assigned hereunder to the Company.

3.

R ECORDS. | agree to keep and maintain adequate and cumeatds (in the form of notes, sketches, drawingsiamny other forr
that may be required by the Company) of all Prdarielnformation developed by me and all Inventiomsde by me during the
period of my employment at the Company, which rds@hall be available to and remain the sole ptpdéithe Company at all

D uTy oF L oYALTY D URING E MPLOYMENT . | understand that my employment with the Compaguires my full attention and
effort. | agree that during the period of my emplant by the Company | will not, without the Compangxpress written consent,
engage in any employment or business activity dtem for the Company, including but not limitedetmployment or business
activity which is competitive with, or would otheise conflict with, my employment by the Compa



5. NoSoLcITATION OF E MPLOYEES , C ONSULTANTS , C ONTRACTORS OR C USTOMERS . | agree that for the period of my
employment by the Company and for one (1) year &fedate my employment by the Company ends fpr@ason, including but
not limited to voluntary termination by me or inuakary termination by the Company, | will not, @ithdirectly or through others,
(i) solicit or attempt to solicit any employee betCompany to end his or her relationship withGoenpany; and (ii) solicit any
consultant, contractor, or customer of the Compaiith whom | had contact or whose identity | leatras a result of my
employment with the Company to diminish or matéyialter its relationship with the Compar

The parties agree that for purposes of this Agregnaecustomer is any person or entity to whichGbenpany has provided goods or
services at any time during the period commencixg® months prior to my employment with the Compand ending on the date my
employment with the Company ends.

6. N onN-CowmpPETE P ROVISION . | agree that for the period of my employment wita Company, and for the period of one (1) year
after the later of (1) the date my employment dodsiny reason, including but not limited to volarnt termination by me or
involuntary termination by the Company; or (2) thege a court of competent jurisdiction enters ateoenforcing this provision, |
will not provide services, similar to those | prded to the Company, to any person or entity in agtitipn (as defined below) with
the Company. | acknowledge that this non-competgigion is limited to the types of activities arehdces | provided in my
employment with the Compan

At the present time, the Company engages in theareb and discovery of genes and their functiod,tharefore entities and individuals
which provide similar products or services are mkdi as in competition with the Company. The padigderstand that the scope and nature of
my activities and services, and the Company'’s assinproducts or services, may change as the Cgnajearlops. The parties agree that the
scope of this provision will change to cover angroges in my activities or services, as well as@manges in the Comparsybusiness, produc
or services, during my employment.

7. N oCONFLICTING A GREEMENT OR O BLIGATION . | represent that my performance of all the termthisf Agreement and as an
employee of the Company does not and will not Wreay agreement or obligation of any kind madergdgany employment by
the Company, including agreements or obligatiomay have with prior employers or entities for whidrave provided services. |
have not entered into, and | agree | will not e, any agreement or obligation either writteroral in conflict herewith

8. R ETURNOF C oMPANY D ocuMmENTs . When | leave the employ of the Company, | will defito the Company any and all drawir
notes, memoranda, specifications, devices, formalad documents, together with all copies theraad, any other material
containing or disclosing any Company Inventionsiyd Party Information or Proprietary Informationthie Company. | further
agree that any property situated on the Compamgmiges and owned by the Company, including diskisadher storage media,
filing cabinets or other work areas, is subjeanpection by Company personnel at any time withvitihhout notice. Prior to
leaving, | will cooperate with the Company in coetplg and signing the Compeé’s termination statemer

9. L EGALAND E QuiITABLE R EMEDIES . | recognize that in the course of employment wlith €Company, | will have access to
Proprietary Information, to Third Party Informaticeand to employees, consultants, contractors,tsliemd customers of the
Company. | also recognize that the services Ilvélemployed to provide are personal and uniquedérstand that because of this
the Company may sustain irreparable injury if llaie this Agreement. In order to limit or preveuatk irreparable injury, the
Company shall have the right to enforce this Agreehand any of its provisions by injunction, spieaiferformance or other
equitable relief, without bond and without prejuaio any other rights and remedies that the Compeawhave for a breach of this
Agreement



10.

11.

12.

N oTICES . Any notices required or permitted hereunder shalyjiven to the appropriate party at the addressifige below or at
such other address as the party shall specifyiiimgr Such notice shall be deemed given upon peistelivery to the appropriate
address or if sent by certified or registered nthaige (3) days after the date of maili

NoTIFicaTioN oF N Ew E MPLOYER . In the event that | leave the employ of the Compaaythorize the Company to provide
notice of my rights and obligations under this Agreent to my subsequent employer and to any othigy en person to whom |
provide services

G ENERAL P ROVISIONS .

12.1 Governing Law; Consent to Personal Jurisdictio. This Agreement will be governed by and construed
according to the laws of the State of New Yorksash laws are applied to agreements entered intdoalne performed
entirely within New York between New York residentsereby expressly consent to the personal jictiedh of the state ar
federal courts for New York County, New York in alaysuit filed there against me by Company arignogn or related to
this Agreement.

12.2 Severability.In case any one or more of the provisions, sulmestior sentences contained in this Agreement
shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, #legr unenforceable in any respect, such invaljdiiggality or
unenforceability shall not affect the other prowis of this Agreement, and this Agreement shatidrestrued as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had eeleen contained herein. Moreover, if any one arenof the provisions
contained in this Agreement shall for any reasohddd to be excessively broad as to duration, gaggcal scope, activity
or subject, it shall be construed by limiting aedurcing it, so as to be enforceable to the extemipatible with the
applicable law as it shall then appear.

12.3 Successors and AssignBhis Agreement will be binding upon my heirs, execs, administrators and other legal
representatives and will be for the benefit of @mmpany, its successors, and its assigns.

12.4 Survival.The provisions of this Agreement shall survive tirenination of my employment and the assignmel
this Agreement by the Company to any successaténdst or other assignee.

12.5 Employment At-Will. | agree and understand that | am employed at-arill, that nothing in this Agreement shall
change this at-will status or confer any right wigspect to continuation of employment by the Caomgpaor shall it
interfere in any way with my right or the Compansight to terminate my employment at any time, vathwithout cause.

12.6 Waiver.No waiver by the Company of any breach of this Agnent shall be a waiver of any preceding or
succeeding breach. No waiver by the Company ofrigiy under this Agreement shall be construedwasaiger of any other
right. The Company shall not be required to givBaeoto enforce strict adherence to all terms of Agreement.

12.7 Entire Agreement.The obligations pursuant to Sections 1 and 2 ef Agreement shall apply to any time during
which | was previously employed, or am in the fetemployed, by the Company as a consultant if heragreement
governs nondisclosure and assignment of inventiomisig such period. This Agreement is the finamptete and exclusive
agreement of the parties with respect to the subjetter hereof and supersedes and merges allgisicussions between us.
No modification of or amendment to this Agreemeiat, any waiver of any rights under this Agreemauili,be effective
unless in writing and signed by the party to bergbd. Any subsequent change or changes in my deté&sy or
compensation will not affect the validity or scagfehis Agreement



This Agreement shall be effective as of the fimy df my employment with the Company, namely: 28y 2014.

| HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND UNDERSTAND | TS TERMS . | HAVE COMPLETELY FILLED OUT E XHIBIT A TOTHIS A
GREEMENT .

Dated: 7/29/1:«

/s/ Michael Halstead
(Signature)

Michael Halstead
(Printed Name)

A CCEPTEDANDA GREEDT O:
| NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC.

By: /s/ Allen Fienberg

Title: VP, Business Developme




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-198496) of Intr-Cellular Therapies, Inc
(2) Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-191238) of Intr-Cellular Therapies, Inc., ar

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-193®E0taining to the ITI, Inc. 2003 Equity IncentiPéan, as amended, and the Intra
Cellular Therapies, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Ptdiintre-Cellular Therapies, Inc

of our report dated March 12, 2015, with respec¢h®consolidated financial statements of If@elular Therapies, Inc. included in this Ann
Report (Form 10-K) of Intra-Cellular Therapies, .Ifar the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, VA
March 12, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Sharon Mates, Ph.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015

/s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D.

Sharon Mates, Ph.I

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Lawrence J. Hineline, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2015

/s/ Lawrence J. Hineline

Lawrence J. Hinelin

Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial ffic
(principal financial officer and principal accoumi officer’




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of Intrilt@r Therapies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (fiempany”), does hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @14 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesth the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, and the information contained in thenFd0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapions of the Company.

Dated: March 12, 2015 /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.|
Sharon Mates, Ph.I
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer

Dated: March 12, 2015 /s/ Lawrence J. Hinelin
Lawrence J. Hinelin
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial @ific
(principal financial officer and principal accoumi officer)




